
 

 

A  G  E  N  D  A 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

FRIDAY – JUNE 16, 2023 - 9:00 A.M. 

SAN RAFAEL CITY HALL 

1400 FIFTH AVENUE – CONFERENCE ROOM CD3 

SAN RAFAEL, CALIFORNIA   94901 

 
Members of the Public may also participate in Open Session through the 
following: 
Zoom link: https://cityofsanrafael-org.zoom.us/j/83792027349 
Or by Phone: 1 669 444 9171 US 
Meeting ID: 838 5172 2631 

 
Public comments for this meeting can be submitted via email to the District Clerk 
at Kathryn.Nelson@cityofsanrafael.org. The public comment period opens when 
the agenda is posted online and will close two hours prior to the start of the 
meeting.  Include your name and the item you would like to provide a written 
comment on.   

To provide comments during the meeting, please use the “raise hand” feature in the 
Zoom Meeting and the host will notify and unmute you when it is your turn to 
speak.   

Members of the public may speak on Agenda items. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 

2. OPEN PERIOD  
 

 Opportunity for the public to address the Board on items not on the agenda.  
(Presentations are generally limited to 2 minutes.) 

 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

a. Minutes of the Special Meeting – May 26, 2023. 
b. Payments – May 2023. 
c. Adopt resolution establishing the FY 2023-24 Appropriations Limit on tax 

proceeds (Proposition 4). 
d. Adopt resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to 

execute a Professional Services Agreement for design and construction 
related services for the 2023 Sewer Improvements-Various Locations 
Project. 

e. Adopt resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to 
execute a Professional Services Agreement for pipe assessment related 
services. 

 

https://cityofsanrafael-org.zoom.us/j/83792027349
mailto:Kathryn.Nelson@cityofsanrafael.org


 

 

 

4. OTHER AGENDA ITEMS 
 

a. Review draft budget for Fiscal Years 2023-24 and 2024-25. 
 

b. Adopt Resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to 
execute a Professional Services Agreement with Park Engineering for 
Engineering and Inspection related services.   

 
c. Approve the updated Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan. 

 
5. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 

6. DIRECTOR REPORTS/REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 
7. CLOSED SESSION 
 

 a. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 
California Government Code Section 54957.6 
Unrepresented Employee: Senior Civil Engineer 

 

8. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 The next scheduled meeting is July 21, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

Minutes of the Special Meeting  

May 26, 2023 

Special Meeting In Person    

The meeting was called to order at 9:08 A.M. by Chair Kate. 

Attendance Kate Colin, Chair  

Board: Maribeth Bushey, Secretary/Director 

Absent: Katie Rice, Director 

Attendance Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer 

Staff: Kris Ozaki, Operations and Maintenance Manager 

Kathryn Nelson, Administrative Analyst 

Attendance Dean DiGiovanni, CMSA Commissioner for SRSD 

Others:  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

1. ROLL CALL

A roll call was taken at 9:08 A.M., Director Bushey and Chair Kate were present,

Director Rice was not present. There being a quorum, the meeting began.

2. OPEN PERIOD

No one was present to address the Board for open period.

3. CONSENT CALENDAR
a. Approve Minutes of Meeting April 21, 2023

Correction for 6b - change format to discussion format instead of adoption format

and approve Minutes with said changes.

b. Payments – April 2023.

c. Adopt Resolution #23-1266 A Resolution Authorizing The District

Manager/District Engineer To Execute A Professional Services Agreement

For Design And Construction Related Services For The 2023 Sewer

Rehabilitation Project Not To Exceed $449,676.

d. Adopt Resolution #23-1267 A Resolution Authorizing The District

Manager/District Engineer To Execute A Professional Services Agreement

For Design And Construction Related Services For The Bret Harte

Easement Retaining Wall Improvement Project Not To Exceed $97,393.

3a



MOTION by Director Bushey to adopt the CONSENT CALENDAR, seconded by Chair 

Kate. 

 

 AYES:  Director Bushey, Chair Kate 

 NOES: None 

 ABSENT: None   Motion Carried 

 

 

4. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 

a. Report on CMSA National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES) Permit hearing on May 10, 2023, at San Francisco Bay Regional 

Water Quality Control Board Meeting. Discussion on San Rafael Sanitation 

District should not be included on the NPDES permit. The District, Ross 

Valley Sanitary District and SD2 will file an appeal. 

 

5. DIRECTOR REPORTS/REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

Requests for Meeting items; FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25 Budget, which will 

include 3-year Capital Improvement Plan, and a Staff Update 

 

6. ADJOURNMENT 

 Meeting adjourned at 9:22 AM 

 

 The next scheduled meeting is June 16, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

    

Maribeth Bushey, Recording Secretary 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST THIS 26th DAY OF MAY 2023 
 

 

 

Kate Colin, Chair 



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
PAYMENT SUMMARY
May 1, 2023 - May 31, 2023

Vendor/Payee Memo Class Account Amount
ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES Uniforms - weekly service ending 4/19/23 200 2021 ꞏ Uniforms 232.01
ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES Uniforms - weekly service ending 4/26/23 200 2021 ꞏ Uniforms 221.06
ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES Uniforms - weekly service ending 5/03/23 200 2021 ꞏ Uniforms 222.21
ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES Uniforms - weekly service ending 5/10/23 200 2021 ꞏ Uniforms 221.06

ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES Uniforms - weekly service ending 5/17/23 200 2021 ꞏ Uniforms 222.21

AT&T *1523 Telephone Service - land lines for pump stations and dialers from 4/02/23-5/01/23 100 2534 ꞏ Telephone service 557.54
AT&T MOBILITY #1362 Telephone Service - cell phone service from 3/04/23-4/03/23 100 2534 ꞏ Telephone service 607.29
AT&T MOBILITY #1362 Telephone Service - cell phone service from 4/04/23-5/03/23 100 2534 ꞏ Telephone service 607.49
BWS DISTRIBUTORS Safety - earplugs, nitrile gloves, and workman gloves 200 2365 ꞏ Safety equipment and supplies 359.13
BWS DISTRIBUTORS Safety - gloves 200 2365 ꞏ Safety equipment and supplies 169.58
CALAMP WIRELESS NETWORKS CORPORATION Vehicles - vehicle GPS 200 2083 ꞏ Parts and repairs vehicles 10.00
CALAMP WIRELESS NETWORKS CORPORATION Vehicles - vehicles GPS 200 2083 ꞏ Parts and repairs vehicles 232.35
CALCON SYSTEMS, INC. Pump Stations - 2023 annual electrical preventative maintenance for pump stations 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 27,500.00
CALIFORNIA CAD SOLUTIONS INC(CALCAD) Facilities Mapping Services - miscellaneous projects from March to April 2023 100 4188 ꞏ Facilities mapping services 1,275.00
CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY CMSA Connection Fees - 9 unique addresses 200 221000 ꞏ Connection fees payable cmsa 295,626.49
CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY FOG Program - FOG Control Program Management from 1/01/23-3/31/23 100 4300 ꞏ FOG Program 12,239.34
CITY OF SAN RAFAEL Third Street (Fourth Street to Mary) - construction mgmt. and inspection services, progress payments #13-16 300 4340 ꞏ Third St (4th to Mary) (80) 823,167.52
COLIN, KATE Director's Fees - Kate Colin on 2/03/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
COLIN, KATE Director's Fees - Kate Colin on 3/17/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
COLIN, KATE Director's Fees - Kate Colin on 4/21/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
COUNTY OF MARIN Director's Fees - Katie Rice on 2/03/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
COUNTY OF MARIN Director's Fees - Katie Rice on 3/17/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
COUNTY OF MARIN Director's Fees - Katie Rice on 4/21/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
CRANETECH INC Pump Stations - crane inspection and certification 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 1,695.00
CSW/STUBER-STROEH ENGR GROUP INC. Third Street (Fourth Street to Mary) - design support during construction through 4/02/23 300 4340 ꞏ Third St (4th to Mary) (80) 410.00
DIEGO TRUCK REPAIR, INC. Vehicles - vehicle repairs for vactor truck on 3/13/23 200 2083 ꞏ Parts and repairs vehicles 874.52
ENVIRONMENTAL PRODUCTS & ACCESS., LLC Collection System - vactor hose 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 340.50
EVOQUA WATER TECHNOLOGIES, LLC Odor Control - service and inspections of chemical tanks at pump stations from 4/01/23-4/30/23 200 2106 ꞏ Odor control chemicals 1,899.86
EXPRESS SERVICES INC. Consulting Services - temporary administrative assistant for the week ending on 4/16/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 1,495.88
EXPRESS SERVICES INC. Consulting Services - temporary administrative assistant for the week ending on 4/23/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 1,495.88
EXPRESS SERVICES INC. Consulting Services - temporary administrative assistant for the week ending on 4/30/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 1,495.88
EXPRESS SERVICES INC. Consulting Services - temporary administrative assistant for the week ending on 5/07/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 1,196.70
GRAINGER Pump Stations - lube for crane truck cable 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 308.09
JACKSON'S  HARDWARE Pump Stations - concrete mixing tub 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 30.58
JACKSON'S  HARDWARE Pump Stations - cooling jacket repair at Loch Lomond Pump Station 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 34.91
JRL Machine & Driveline, Inc Pump Stations - West Railroad Pump Station rebuild drive shaft WRR 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 311.66
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 2021 Sewer Pipe Repair and Replacement Project - preliminary design services rendered through 3/31/23 300 4349 ꞏ 2021 Sewr Pipe Repair/Repl (80) 5,817.50
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. Third Street (Fourth Street to Mary) - design and construction related services through 4/30/23 300 4340 ꞏ Third St (4th to Mary) (80) 3,387.50
MAHER ACCOUNTANCY Accounting Services - May 2023 100 2717 ꞏ Accounting services 3,600.00
MARIBETH BUSHEY Director's Fees - Maribeth Bushey on 2/03/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
MARIBETH BUSHEY Director's Fees - Maribeth Bushey on 3/17/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00

3b



MARIBETH BUSHEY Director's Fees - Maribeth Bushey on 4/21/23 100 2282 ꞏ Director's fees 100.00
MARIN COUNTY TAX COLLECTOR County Counsel - third quarter Jan/Feb/Mar FY 2022/23 100 2713 ꞏ Legal services 3,538.25
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - 44 Lagoon Road from 2/16/23-4/19/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - 1271 Andersen Drive from 2/10/23-4/12/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - 3106 Kerner Boulevard from 2/15/23-4/18/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Andersen Drive from 2/10/23-4/12/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Castro Avenue from 2/14/23-4/17/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 190.25
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Catalina Boulevard from 2/14/23-4/17/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - E Francisco Boulevard from 2/14/23-4/17/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - E Francisco Boulevard from 2/15/23-4/18/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Montecito Road from 2/15/23-4/18/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - North San Pedro Road from 2/16/23-4/19/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Peacock Drive from 2/16/23-4/19/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 95.87
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Point San Pedro Road from 2/15/23-4/18/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Riviera Drive LT28 Sewer Pump from 2/16/23-4/19/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Simms Street from 2/10/23-4/12/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 86.63
MARIN MUNICIPAL WATER DIS Water - Woodland Avenue from 2/10/23-4/12/23 200 2536 ꞏ Water utility costs 91.25
McMASTER-CARR Pump Stations - Flygt pump parts 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 125.23
MUNICIPAL RESOURCE GROUP, LLC Consulting Services - compensation study lite services from 3/12/23-4/26/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 11,981.25
MUNICIPAL RESOURCE GROUP, LLC Consulting Services - workplan implementation services through 3/31/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 1,012.50
NUTE ENGINEERING INC Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Improvements Project - engineering services from 4/01/23-4/30/23 300 4338 ꞏ Rehab Beach Swr Baysid PhABC- 19,472.50
PACE SUPPLY Isolation Valve Replacement Project - plug valves 300 4345 ꞏ Isolation Valve Replacement (10 21,569.65
PARK ENGINEERING, INC Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Improvements Project - repair and replacement project services through 4/30/23 300 4338 ꞏ Rehab Beach Swr Baysid PhABC- 20,179.43
PARK ENGINEERING, INC Consulting Services - permit inspection services through 4/30/23 100 2325 ꞏ Consulting services 1,536.15
PG&E a/c 2480926202-5 Power - electric service for pump stations from 4/10/23-5/10/23 200 2535 ꞏ Electric utility costs 19,917.94
RAUCH COMMUNICATIONS CONSULTANTS INC Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Improvements Project - public relations related services through 3/31/23 300 4338 ꞏ Rehab Beach Swr Baysid PhABC- 112.50
RAUCH COMMUNICATIONS CONSULTANTS INC Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Improvements Project - public relations related services through 4/30/23 300 4338 ꞏ Rehab Beach Swr Baysid PhABC- 2,250.00
SCHAAF & WHEELER, INC 2020 Sewer Pipe Repair and Replacement Project - design and construction related services through 3/31/23 300 4342 ꞏ 2020-21 Sewer Improvement (80) 4,620.00
SCHAAF & WHEELER, INC 2020 Sewer Pipe Repair and Replacement Project - professional engineering services through 4/30/23 300 4342 ꞏ 2020-21 Sewer Improvement (80) 2,467.50
TIFCO INDUSTRIES Pump Stations -  glass cleaner and electrical parts 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 151.46
TIFCO INDUSTRIES Pump Stations -  SAZ all brush attachment 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 56.59
US BANK CORPORATE PAYMENT Miscellaneous Expenses - staff meeting 100 2389 ꞏ Miscellaneous expenses 138.66
US BANK CORPORATE PAYMENT Office Supplies - corded mouse and cord 100 2133 ꞏ Office & shop supplies 9.72
US BANK CORPORATE PAYMENT Pump Stations - anodes for reducing corrosion on pumps exposed to sea water 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 180.10
US BANK CORPORATE PAYMENT Pump Stations - eyewash inspection tags 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 123.86
VERIZON WIRELESS(242395655) Telephone Service - private IP addresses for the San Pedro and Peacock Pump Stations from 3/18/23-4/17/23 100 2534 ꞏ Telephone service 129.25
VERIZON WIRELESS(242395655) Telephone Service - private IP addresses for the San Pedro and Peacock Pump Stations from 4/18/23-5/17/23 100 2534 ꞏ Telephone service 129.21
VERIZON WIRELESS(372347623) Telephone Service - wireless service for laptops from 3/21/23-4/20/23 100 2534 ꞏ Telephone service 426.11
W. R. FORDE ASSOCIATES (INC) Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Improvements Project - final progress payment #5 300 4338 ꞏ Rehab Beach Swr Baysid PhABC- 40,476.75
W. R. FORDE ASSOCIATES (INC) Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Improvements Project - retention release 300 4338 ꞏ Rehab Beach Swr Baysid PhABC- 60,078.30
WATER COMPONENTS & BLDG SUPPLY Collection System - concrete 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 165.24
WATER COMPONENTS & BLDG SUPPLY Collection System - truck parts 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 6.34
WECO INDUSTRIES LLC Collection System - manhole hooks 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 1,170.07
WECO INDUSTRIES LLC Collection System - rod for power rod truck 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 6,548.38



WECO INDUSTRIES LLC Collection System - rodder cleaning tools 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 3,360.57
WECO INDUSTRIES LLC Collection System - vactor nozzle cleaning tool 200 2360 ꞏ O&M - collection systems 5,834.92
WOODLAND CTR AUTO SUPPLY Pump Stations - antifreeze for generators 200 2359 ꞏ Maint- pump sta's & force mains 88.43

1,418,038.53    



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
Agenda Item No. 3.c. 

DATE: June 16, 2022 

TO: San Rafael Sanitation District Board of Directors 

FROM: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer 

SUBJECT: 2023-24 Appropriations Limit (Proposition 4) 

Recommendation: 

Adopt resolution establishing the Fiscal Year 2023-24 Appropriations Limit. 

Background/Summary: 

Article XIIIB of the California Constitution specifies that appropriations made by State 
and local governments may increase annually by a factor comprised of the change in 
population combined with either the change in California per capita personal income or 
of the change in the local assessment roll due to local non-residential construction. 

The Department of Finance is mandated to provide the population and California per 
capita personal income change data for local jurisdictions to calculate their 
appropriations limits.  District staff has been provided with the new price and 
population factors for setting the Fiscal Year 2023-24 Appropriations Limit.  Using the 
factors provided, the calculated maximum limit applicable to the Fiscal Year 2023-24 
appropriations of tax proceeds is $1,502,740. 

The District receives proceeds of taxes from property taxes and ERAF revenues that 
may be excluded from the limit as qualified capital outlay under the rules for 
appropriations subject to limitation.  For the Fiscal Year 2023-24, the District anticipates 
its proceeds of taxes to be excluded from the limit in their entirety or excluded below 
the limit and the amount subject to refund to be $0.  The calculation of actual proceeds 
of taxes received and the extent of proceeds of taxes excluded from the limit is included 
as part of the annual audit. 

Attachments: Resolution 
 2022-23 Appropriation Limit Calculation 
 Department of Finance Price and Population Information 

3c



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-1268   
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

ESTABLISHING THE 2023-24 APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT 
(PROPOSITION 4) 

 
 
 

 BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San Rafael Sanitation 

District, County of Marin, State of California, that the calculated maximum limit 

applicable to the 2023-24 appropriation of tax proceeds is $1,502,740 in accordance 

with Article XIIIB of the Constitution of the State of California. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the San Rafael Sanitation 

District Board of Directors on the 16th day of June 2023 by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT/ABSTAIN: 

  
 
  SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 
 
 
    
  Kate Colin, Chair 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
   
Maribeth Bushey, Secretary 



Per Capita Personal Income Change For FY 2023-24 4.44%

PCPI Ratio: 4.44+100 1.0444
100

Population Change For 1/1/22 to 1/1/23

  San Rafael (0.92)
  Unincorporated (1.21)

Population Change Weighted Average: (a) (b) (a) x (b)

  San Rafael (0.92) 0.90 (0.8280)
  Unincorporated (1.21) 0.10 (0.1210)

1.00 (0.9490)

Population Ratio: (0.9490)+100 0.9905
100

(a) (b) (a) x (b)

Factor for FY 2023-24 1.0444 0.9905 1.0345

FY 2022-23 Appropriation Limit 1,452,640

(a) (b) (a) x (b)
Calculated FY 2023-24 Appropriation Limit 1.0345 1,452,640 1,502,740

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
2023-24 APPROPRIATION LIMIT CALCULATION 



 
 

 
 

    
 

 
       

    
   

  
 

  
      

    
 

   
 

  
    

   
   

   
   

 
    

      
       

 
 

 
    

  
  

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

May 2023 

Dear Fiscal Officer: 

Subject: Price Factor and Population Information 

Appropriations Limit 
California Revenue and Taxation Code section 2227 requires the Department of Finance (Finance) 
to transmit an estimate of the percentage change in population to local governments. Each local 
jurisdiction must use their percentage change in population factor for January 1, 2023, in 
conjunction with a change in the cost of living, or price factor, to calculate their appropriations 
limit for fiscal year 2023-24. Attachment A provides the change in California’s per capita personal 
income and an example for utilizing the price factor and population percentage change factor 
to calculate the 2023-24 appropriations limit. Attachment B provides the city and unincorporated 
county population percentage change. Attachment C provides the population percentage 
change for counties and their summed incorporated areas. The population percentage change 
data excludes federal and state institutionalized populations and military populations. 

Population Percent Change for Special Districts 
Some special districts must establish an annual appropriations limit. California Revenue and 
Taxation Code section 2228 provides additional information regarding the appropriations limit. 
Article XIII B, section 9(C) of the California Constitution exempts certain special districts from the 
appropriations limit calculation mandate. The code section and the California Constitution can 
be accessed at the following website: http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes.xhtml. 

Special districts required by law to calculate their appropriations limit must present the calculation 
as part of their annual audit. Any questions special districts have on this requirement should be 
directed to their county, district legal counsel, or the law itself. No state agency reviews the local 
appropriations limits. 

Population Certification 
The population certification program applies only to cities and counties. California Revenue and 
Taxation Code section 11005.6 mandates Finance to automatically certify any population 
estimate that exceeds the current certified population with the State Controller’s Office. Finance 
will certify the higher estimate to the State Controller by June 1, 2023. 

Please Note:  The prior year’s city population estimates may be revised. The per capita personal 
income change is based on historical data. 

If you have any questions regarding this data, please contact the Demographic Research Unit at 
(916) 323-4086. 

JOE SPEPHENSHAW 
Director 
By: 

Erika Li 
Chief Deputy Director 

Attachment 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes.xhtml


 
 

      
    
  

  
    

 

  
  

 

    
   

    
   

   

   

  

     
    

  
    

   

May 2023 
Attachment A 

A. Price Factor: Article XIII B specifies that local jurisdictions select their cost of living 
factor to compute their appropriation limit by a vote of their governing body. The 
cost of living factor provided here is per capita personal income. If the percentage 
change in per capita personal income is selected, the percentage change to be 
used in setting the fiscal year 2023-24 appropriation limit is: 

Per Capita Personal Income 

Fiscal Year Percentage change 
(FY) over prior year 

2023-24 4.44 

B. Following is an example using sample population change and the change in 
California per capita personal income as growth factors in computing a 2023-24 
appropriation limit. 

2023-24: 

Per Capita Cost of Living Change = 4.44 percent 
Population Change = -0.35 percent 

Per Capita Cost of Living converted to a ratio: 4.44 + 100  = 1.0444
 100 

Population converted to a ratio: -0.35 + 100  = 0.9965
 100 

Calculation of factor for FY 2023-24: 1.0444 x 0.9965 = 1.0407 



  

 

   

 

  

              

           

         

            

           

         

              

                

         

          

          

            

          

        

Fiscal Year 2023-24 

Attachment B 

Annual Percent Change in Population Minus Exclusions* 

January 1, 2022 to January 1, 2023 and Total Population, January 1, 2023 

County 

City 

Percent Change 

2022-2023 

--- Population Minus Exclusions  ---

1-1-22 1-1-23 

Total 

Population 

1-1-2023 

Marin 

Belvedere 

Corte Madera 

Fairfax 

Larkspur 

Mill Valley 

Novato 

Ross 

San Anselmo 

San Rafael 

Sausalito 

Tiburon 

Unincorporated 

-1.59 

-0.82 

-0.76 

-1.23 

-1.11 

-1.05 

-0.57 

-0.88 

-0.92 

-1.29 

-1.18 

-1.21 

2,078 

9,967 

7,410 

12,728 

13,817 

51,648 

2,280 

12,515 

60,237 

6,955 

8,903 

63,474 

2,045 

9,885 

7,354 

12,571 

13,664 

51,104 

2,267 

12,405 

59,681 

6,865 

8,798 

62,709 

2,045 

9,885 

7,354 

12,571 

13,664 

51,392 

2,267 

12,405 

59,681 

6,865 

8,798 

66,032 

County Total -1.06 252,012 249,348 252,959 

*Exclusions include residents on federal military installations and group quarters residents in state mental 

institutions, state and federal correctional institutions and veteran homes. 

dorist
Highlight

dorist
Highlight

dorist
Highlight

dorist
Highlight



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

Agenda Item No. 3.d. 

DATE: June 16, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors, San Rafael Sanitation District 

FROM: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer 

SUBJECT:  Adopt Resolution Authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to 

Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Kimley-Horn and 

Associates, Inc., for Design and Construction Related Services for the 2023 

Sewer Improvements-Various Locations Project 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to execute a Professional 

Services Agreement with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., for design and construction related 

services for the 2023 Sewer Improvements-Various Locations Project. 

BACKGROUND: 

On October 7, 2021, the District entered a Professional Services Agreement with Kimley-Horn 

and Associates, Inc. to perform a preliminary engineering study, under the project name, “2021 

Sewer Repairs Predesign Study.”  The study was based on the following list of pipes, developed 

by our sewer maintenance staff, that require immediate attention due to poor access or pipe 

condition, e.g., offset joints, broken pipe, flat grade, and sags that can collect fats, oils, and 

grease:   

1. Madrona Street, between Greenwood Avenue to Clorinda Avenue

2. Billou Street, south of Bret Avenue

3. Summit Avenue, south of Marina Way

4. Grove Street, south of San Rafael Avenue

5. Edgewood Way, easement area from Valley View Avenue to Edgewood Way

6. Orange Tree easement, north of Sunset Way

7. McCoy Road, southeast of Bungalow Avenue

8. Prospect Drive, MH 1630 to MH 1629

9. Fourth Street & C Street

10. Bayo Vista Way and East Crescent Drive

11. Marin Academy, downstream to Fifth Avenue and Fourth Street

12. Terradillo Avenue Easement

13. Fourth Street and B Street

In April 2022, Kimley-Horn submitted a draft technical memo with cost estimates and exhibits, 

including repair recommendations.  Then in March 2023, staff met with Kimley-Horn and 

3d



 2 

reviewed its memo and request that they finalize their report and cost estimates.  Their cost 

estimate was approximately $1.9 million for the entire project (design and construction). 

  

ANALYSIS:   

In the final technical report, staff has determined that the pipe at the Marin Academy location is 

no longer a concern.  When the study began, maintenance staff kept finding rock debris in the 

pipe; however, it is no longer the case.  Marin Academy has been performing construction on 

their campus for several years; and now that it has been completed, maintenance has not been 

discovering any rock debris.  Therefore, the Marin Academy line has been removed from the 

project.  There are now a dozen pipe locations from the above list that require sewer 

improvements. 

 

Staff has requested that Kimley-Horn provide a proposal to complete the design and develop 

contract plans and specifications for bidding; and to provide engineering services during the 

construction phase.  The scope of work is described in detail in Kimley-Horn’s proposal, which 

is attached as Exhibit “A”.   

 

Kimley-Horn proposes to perform the engineering related services for design and construction on 

a time-and-materials basis not to exceed $198,508. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The engineering design and construction related services for the 2023 Sewer Improvements-

Various Locations Project in the amount of $198,508 will be funded from the 80-Year Life Cycle 

Sewer Replacement Program for Fiscal Year 2023-24.   

 

ACTION REQUIRED: 

Staff recommends that the Board adopt the resolution authorizing the District Manager/District 

Engineer to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc., 

for engineering design and construction related services for the 2023 Sewer Improvements-

Various Locations Project, not to exceed $198,508. 

 

Attachment:   Resolution 

  Professional Services Agreement 

  Proposal from Consultant, Exhibit “A”  



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

 

RESOLUTION NO.  23-1269 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE DISTRICT MANAGER/DISTRICT 

ENGINEER TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATIONS INC. FOR DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 

RELATED SERVICES FOR THE 2023 SEWER IMPROVEMENTS-VARIOUS 

LOCATIONS PROJECT NOT TO EXCEED $198,508.00 

 

 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT, 

COUNTY OF MARIN, hereby resolves as follows: 

 The District Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf 

of the San Rafael Sanitation District, a Professional Services Agreement with Kimley 

Horn and Associates, Inc., for design and construction related services for the 2023 

Sewer Improvements-Various Locations Project not to exceed $198,508.00, as 

specified by the District, a copy of which is hereby attached and by this reference made 

a part hereof. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the San Rafael Sanitation 

District Board of Directors held on the 16th day of June 2023, by the following vote, to 

wit: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT/ABSTAIN: 
 
  SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 
 
 

         
  Kate Collins, Chair 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 

   
Maribeth Bushey, Acting Secretary 



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

AUTHORIZING THE DISTRICT MANAGER/DISTRICT ENGINEER 

TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATIONS INC. FOR DESIGN AND 

CONSTRUCTION RELATED SERVICES FOR THE 

2023 SEWER IMPROVEMENTS-VARIOUS LOCATIONS 

PROJECT NOT TO EXCEED $198,508.00 

This Agreement is made and entered into this 16th day of June 2023 by and between the 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT (hereinafter “DISTRICT”), and KIMLEY-HORN AND 

ASSOCIATES, INC. (hereinafter “CONSULTANT”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the DISTRICT has selected CONSULTANT to perform the required 

engineering related services for the “2023 Sewer Improvements-Various Locations Project” 

(hereinafter PROJECT”); and 

WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT has offered to render certain specialized professional 

services in connection with this Project. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES

DISTRICT and CONSULTANT have outlined the scope of services to be provided, and 

related expenses as described in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated herein. 

2. PROJECT COORDINATION

A.  DISTRICT.  The District Manager/District Engineer shall be the 

representative of the DISTRICT for all purposes under this Agreement.  The District Manager/District 

Engineer is hereby designated as the PROJECT MANAGER for the DISTRICT and said PROJECT 

MANAGER shall supervise all aspects of the progress and execution of this Agreement. 

B.  CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT shall assign a single PROJECT 

DIRECTOR to have overall responsibility for the progress and execution of this Agreement for 

CONSULTANT.  SAM McWHORTER is hereby designated as the PROJECT DIRECTOR for 

CONSULTANT.  Should circumstances or conditions subsequent to the execution of this Agreement 

require a substitute PROJECT DIRECTOR for any reason, the CONSULTANT shall notify the 

DISTRICT within ten (10) business days of the substitution. 



  Agreement • 2 

3. DUTIES OF CONSULTANT 

  CONSULTANT shall perform the duties and/or provide services as follows; the 

CONSULTANT agrees to provide professional services as an Engineering Consultant to prepare work 

outlined in the Proposal from CONSULTANT dated June 14, 2023, marked Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, 

and incorporated herein by this reference. The CONSULTANT agrees to be available and perform the 

work specified in this agreement in the time frame as specified and as shown in Exhibit “A”. 

 4. DUTIES OF THE DISTRICT 

  DISTRICT shall perform the duties as described and incorporated herein. 

 5. COMPENSATION 

  For the full performance of the services described herein by CONSULTANT, 

DISTRICT shall pay CONSULTANT on a time-and-materials basis for services rendered in accordance 

with the rates shown on the current fee schedule as described in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated 

herein.  The total payment will not exceed $198,508.00. 

  Payment will be made monthly upon receipt by PROJECT MANAGER of 

itemized invoices submitted by CONSULTANT. 

 6. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

  The term of this Agreement shall be from the date of execution until the Project 

is complete. 

 7. TERMINATION 

  A. Discretionary.  Either party may terminate this Agreement without cause 

upon thirty (30) days written notice mailed or personally delivered to the other party. 

  B. Cause.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon ten 

(10) days written notice mailed or personally delivered to the other party, and the notified party’s failure 

to cure or correct the cause of the termination notice, to the reasonable satisfaction of the party giving 

such notice, within thirty (30) days of the receipt of said notice. 

  C. Effect of Termination.  Upon receipt of notice of termination, neither 

party shall incur additional obligations under any provision of this Agreement without the prior written 

consent of the other. However, CONSULTANT’S duties and obligation in Sections 11 and 12 hereunder 

shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

  D. Return of Documents.  Upon termination, any and all DISTRICT 

documents or materials provided to CONSULTANT and any and all of CONSULTANT’s documents and 

materials prepared for or relating to the performance of its duties under this Agreement, shall be delivered 

to DISTRICT as soon as possible, but not later than thirty (30) days after termination. 

  



  Agreement • 3 

  

 8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 

  The written documents and materials prepared by the CONSULTANT in 

connection with the performance of its duties under this Agreement shall be the sole property of 

DISTRICT.  DISTRICT may use said property for any purpose, including projects not contemplated by 

this Agreement. Any modifications made by Client to any of the Consultant’s documents, or any use, 

partial use or reuse of the documents, for purposes other than identified in this Agreement, without 

written authorization or adaptation by the Consultant will be at the District’s sole risk and without 

liability to the Consultant, and the District shall indemnify, defend and hold the Consultant harmless from 

all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, resulting therefrom. 

 9. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 

  Upon reasonable notice, CONSULTANT shall make available to DISTRICT, or 

its agent, for inspection and audit, all documents and materials maintained by CONSULTANT in 

connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall fully 

cooperate with DISTRICT or its agent in any such audit or inspection. 

 10. ASSIGNABILITY 

   The parties agree that they shall not assign or transfer any interest in this 

Agreement nor the performance of any of their respective obligations hereunder, without the prior written 

consent of the other party, and any attempt to so assign this Agreement or any rights, duties or obligations 

arising hereunder shall be void and of no effect. 

 11. INSURANCE 

 A.  During the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall maintain, at no 

expense to DISTRICT, the following insurance policies: 

 1.  A commercial general liability insurance policy in the minimum 

amount of one million ($1,000,000) dollars per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate for death, bodily 

injury, personal injury, or property damage; 

  2.  An automobile liability (owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles) 

insurance policy in the minimum amount of one million ($1,000,000) dollars per occurrence; 

  3.  If any licensed professional performs any of the services required to 

be performed under this Agreement, a professional liability insurance policy in the minimum amount of 

one million ($1,000,000) dollars to cover any claims arising out of the CONSULTANT's performance of 

services under this Agreement. 

 B.  The insurance coverage required of the CONSULTANT by Section 11. A., 

shall also meet the following requirements: 



  Agreement • 4 

 1.  The insurance shall be primary with respect to any insurance or 

coverage maintained by DISTRICT and shall not call upon DISTRICT's insurance or coverage for any 

contribution; 

 2.  Except for professional liability insurance, the insurance policies shall 

be endorsed for contractual liability and personal injury; 

 3.  Except for professional liability insurance, the insurance policies shall 

be specifically endorsed to include the DISTRICT, its officers, agents, and employees as additionally 

named insureds under the policies; 

 4.  CONSULTANT shall provide to PROJECT MANAGER, (a) 

Certificates of Insurance evidencing the insurance coverage required herein, and (b) specific 

endorsements naming DISTRICT, its officers, agents and employees, as additional insureds under the 

policies; 

 5.  The insurance policies shall provide that the insurance carrier shall 

not cancel or terminate said insurance policies except upon thirty (30) days written notice to DISTRICT’s 

PROJECT MANAGER; 

 6.  If the insurance is written on a Claims Made Form, then, following 

termination of this Agreement, said insurance coverage shall survive for a period of not less than five 

years as long as the insurance is reasonably affordable and available; 

 7.  The insurance policies shall provide for a retroactive date of 

placement coinciding with the effective date of this Agreement; 

 8.  The insurance shall be approved as to form and sufficiency by 

PROJECT MANAGER and the County Counsel. 

  C.  If it employs any person, CONSULTANT shall maintain Workers’ 

Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance, as required by the State Labor Code and other 

applicable laws and regulations, and as necessary to protect both CONSULTANT and DISTRICT against 

all liability for injuries to CONSULTANT’s officers and employees. 

  D.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions exceeding $20,000 in 

CONSULTANT’s insurance policies must be declared to and approved by the PROJECT MANAGER 

and the County Counsel.  At DISTRICT’s option, the deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect 

to DISTRICT shall be reduced or eliminated to DISTRICT’s satisfaction, or CONSULTANT shall 

procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claims administration, 

attorney’s fees, and defense expenses. 

 12. INDEMNIFICATION 

  CONSULTANT shall, to the fullest extent authorized by law including CA Civil 

Code 2782.8, shall indemnify, release, and hold harmless DISTRICT, its officers, and employees against 



  Agreement • 5 

any claim, demand, suit, judgment, loss, liability, or expense of any kind, including attorney’s fees, to the 

extent arising out of or resulting in any way from any negligent acts or omissions of CONSULTANT or 

CONSULTANT’s officers, agents, and employees in the performance of their duties and obligations 

under this Agreement. 

 13. NONDISCRIMINATION 

   CONSULTANT shall not discriminate, in any way, against any person on the 

basis of age, sex, race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin or disability in connection with or related 

to the performance of its duties and obligations under this Agreement. 

 

 14. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 

   CONSULTANT shall use due professional care to observe and comply with all 

applicable Federal, State and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations in the performance of its 

duties and obligations under this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall perform all services under this 

Agreement in accordance with these laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations. 

 15. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

   DISTRICT and CONSULTANT do not intend, by any provision of this 

Agreement, to create in any third party any benefit or right owed by one party, under the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, to the other party. 

 

 16. NOTICES 

   All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given under 

this Agreement, including any notice of change of address, shall be in writing and given by personal 

delivery or deposited with the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed to the parties 

intended to be notified.  Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of personal delivery or, if mailed, 

upon the date of deposit with the United States Postal Service.  Notice shall be given as follows: 

 

 TO DISTRICT:  Ms. Doris Toy, P.E. (Project Manager) 

   San Rafael Sanitation District 

   111 Morphew Street 

   San Rafael, CA  94901 

 

 TO CONSULTANT: Mr. Sam McWhorter, P.E. (Project Director) 

   Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 

   4637 Chabot Drive, Suite 300 

   Pleasanton, CA 94588 



  Agreement • 6 

 17. INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT 

  For the purposes and for the duration of this Agreement, CONSULTANT, its 

officers, agents, and employees shall act in the capacity of an Independent Contractor, and not as 

employees of the DISTRICT.  CONSULTANT and DISTRICT expressly intend and agree that the status 

of CONSULTANT, its officers, agents, and employees be that of an Independent Contractor and not that 

of an employee of DISTRICT. 

 

 18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT -- AMENDMENTS 

  A.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement, all exhibits attached, and all 

documents expressly incorporated by reference represent the entire Agreement of the parties with respect 

to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

  B.  This written Agreement shall supersede any and all prior agreements, oral or 

written, regarding the subject matter between the CONSULTANT and the DISTRICT. 

  C.  No other agreement, promise, or statement, written or oral, relating to the 

subject matter of this Agreement shall be valid or binding except by way of a written amendment to this 

Agreement. 

  D.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be altered or modified 

except by a written amendment to this Agreement signed by the CONSULTANT and the DISTRICT. 

  E.  If any conflicts arise between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

the terms and conditions of the attached exhibits or the documents expressly incorporated by reference, 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. 

 

 19. SET-OFF AGAINST DEBTS 

  CONSULTANT agrees that DISTRICT may deduct from any payment due to 

CONSULTANT under this Agreement any monies which CONSULTANT owes DISTRICT under any 

ordinance, agreement, contract, or resolution for any unpaid taxes, fees, licenses, assessments, unpaid 

checks, or other amounts. 

 

 20. WAIVERS 

  The waiver by either party of any breach or violation of any term, covenant, or 

condition of this Agreement or of any ordinance, law, or regulation, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of 

any other term, covenant, condition, ordinance, law, or regulation or of any subsequent breach or 

violation of the same or other term, covenant, condition, ordinance, law or regulation. The subsequent 

acceptance by either party of any fee, performance, or other consideration which may become due or 

owing under this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach or violation by 

the other party of any term, condition, or covenant of this Agreement or any applicable law, ordinance, or 

regulation. 

 



  Agreement • 7 

 

 21. CITY BUSINESS LICENSE/OTHER TAXES 

  CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain during the duration of this Agreement 

a CITY business license as required by the San Rafael Municipal Code.  CONSULTANT shall pay any 

and all State and Federal taxes and any other applicable taxes.  CONSULTANT’s taxpayer identification 

number is 56-0885615, and CONSULTANT certifies under penalty of perjury that said taxpayer 

identification number is correct. 

 

 22. APPLICABLE LAW 

  The laws of the State of California shall govern this Agreement. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the 21ST day, 

of February 2023, first above written. 

 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT CONSULTANT 

 

 

     KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

Doris Toy, P.E. 

District Manager/District Engineer     

APPROVED AS TO FORM:   By:  

      Sam McWhorter, P.E.   

      

         Title: Vice President      

Kerry Laiw Gerchow 

Deputy County Counsel 



Page 1 

kimley-horn.com 4637 Chabot Drive Suite 300 Pleasanton CA 9458 925-398-4840

June 14, 2023 

Ms. Doris Toy 
San Rafael Sanitation District 
111 Morphew Street, San Rafael, CA 94901 

RE: Professional Service Agreement 

Dear Ms. Toy: 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (“Kimley-Horn” or “Consultant”) is pleased to submit this letter agreement 

(the “Agreement”) to the San Rafael Sanitation District (“Client”) for providing professional services for the 

rehabilitation of several existing sewer mains.  

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

The project consists of the final design for sewer main rehabilitation and relocations located in the San 

Rafael Sanitation District. The project locations and approximate length in linear feet (lf) is understood as 

follows: 

1. Madrona Street: Greenwood Avenue to Clorinda Avenue ~442lf
2. Billou Street: south from Bret Avenue ~537lf
3. Summit Avenue: south from Marina Way ~807lf
4. Grove Street: south of San Rafael Avenue ~283lf
5. Edgewood Way: easement area from Valley View Avenue to Edgewood Way ~110lf
6. Orange tree easement: North of Sunset Way ~507lf
7. McCoy Road: southwest of Bungalow Avenue ~323lf
8. Prospect Drive: MH 1630 to MH 1629 ~50lf
9. 4th Street & C Street: ~10lf
10. Bayo Vista & East Crescent: ~50lf
11. Terradillo Easement: ~50lf
12. 4th Street & B Street:~100lf

We understand the existing sewer lines are Vitrified Clay Pipe (VCP) and will be replaced with PVC per 

District Standards and Specifications. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Task 1: Project Management and Coordination 

Kimley-Horn will provide contract management and quality control services throughout the duration of the 

project as part of this task. This task includes weekly meetings with the Sanitation District, City of San 

Rafael, and other consultants working on the Sewer Repairs project as needed. This task is limited to the 

design and permitting phase which is assumed to occur over a four-month duration. This task includes a 

maximum of forty (40) hours of staff time. 

Deliverables: 

• Project Schedule and updates

• Meeting agendas and minutes for all design and coordination meetings

3d Exhibit A



Page 2 

kimley-horn.com 4637 Chabot Drive Suite 300 Pleasanton CA 9458 925-398-4840 

 

Task 2: Construction Documents 

Kimley-Horn will prepare one construction document package based upon the Client’s standards and 

specifications. We will produce 35%, 65% and 95% submittal packages for review and coordination with 

the City staff. An engineer’s opinion of probable cost will be prepared at each project milestone. One round 

of consolidated review comments will be addressed for each submittal package. The construction 

documents package will include: 

• Cover Sheet – indicating project location and team data 

• Project Notes – Client, governing agency, and engineer’s general notes to the contractor 

• Project Layout and Horizontal Control – establishing the benchmark and survey controls for the 
project 

• Plan and Profile – the horizontal and vertical detailing of the sewer pipeline will be indicated with 
relevant construction notes 

• Construction Details – project specific details will be included to clarify unique field conditions and 
modifications from City standards if required 
 

This task includes up to two site visits to the project site by the design team. The initial site visit will be 

conducted to field check items on the as-built documents and CCTV camera information provided by the 

District. Additional field visits will be conducted as need to determine project phasing. 

We will prepare final bid documents incorporating comments from previous reviews. Final plans will be 

printed on 24” x 36” paper and will include final signatures ready for reproduction. 

Deliverables: 

• 35%, 65%, and 95% PS&E submittals in both paper and electronic (PDF) format 

• A table summarizing review comments and the resolution of the review comments 

• Final Construction Documents in both paper and electronic (PDF) format 

Task 3: Bid Phase Support 

Kimley-Horn will attend the pre-bid meeting and respond to questions concerning the plans, specifications, 

and estimates prepared in Task 2. Should a bid addendum be required we assume a maximum of twenty-

four (24) hours of effort. We will review construction bids provided by the Client and make a 

recommendation to the Client for award of the construction contract. 

Deliverables: 

• Prepare a construction document addendum, if required, for distribution by the Client 

• Prepare answers to bidder’s questions for distribution by the Client on a weekly basis during bid 

phase 

• Prepare a recommendation to the Client for the award of the construction contract 

Task 4: Design Support During Construction 

Kimley-Horn will assist the Client during construction, as requested. Kimley-Horn will provide its services 

on a time and materials basis according to the attached rate schedule. Construction is assumed to occur 

over a five-month duration and a maximum of one hundred (100) hours will be required of this effort. 

Services we can provide include the following: 

Visits to Site and Observation of Construction. Kimley-Horn will provide on-site construction observation 

visits during the construction phase. Kimley-Horn will make visits at intervals as directed by Client in order 

to observe the progress of the Work. Such visits and observations by Kimley-Horn are not intended to be 

exhaustive or to extend to every aspect of Contractor's work in progress. Observations are to be limited to 



Page 3 

kimley-horn.com 4637 Chabot Drive Suite 300 Pleasanton CA 9458 925-398-4840 

 

spot checking and similar methods of general observation of the Work based on Kimley-Horn’s exercise of 

professional judgment. Based on information obtained during such visits and such observations, Kimley-

Horn will evaluate whether Contractor's work is generally proceeding in accordance with the Contract 

Documents, and Kimley-Horn will keep Client informed of the general progress of the Work. 

The purpose of Kimley-Horn’s site visits will be to enable Kimley-Horn to better carry out the duties and 

responsibilities specifically assigned in this Agreement to Kimley-Horn, and to provide the Client a greater 

degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform in general to the Contract Documents. Kimley-

Horn shall not, during such visits or as a result of such observations of Contractor's work in progress, 

supervise, direct, or have control over Contractor's work, nor shall Kimley-Horn have authority over or 

responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, equipment choice and usage, sequences, schedules, or 

procedures of construction selected by Contractor, for safety precautions and programs incident to 

Contractor's work, nor for any failure of Contractor to comply with laws and regulations applicable to 

Contractor's furnishing and performing the Work. Accordingly, Kimley-Horn neither guarantees the 

performance of any Contractor nor assumes responsibility for any Contractor's failure to furnish and perform 

its work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

Clarifications and Interpretations. Kimley-Horn will respond to reasonable and appropriate Contractor 

requests for information and issue necessary clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents 

to the Client as appropriate to the orderly completion of Contractor's work. 

Any orders authorizing variations from the Contract Documents will be made by the Client. 

Change Orders. Kimley-Horn may recommend Change Orders to the Client and will review and make 

recommendations related to Change Orders submitted or proposed by the Contractor. 

Shop Drawings and Material Submittals. Kimley-Horn will review and approve or take other appropriate 

action in respect to Shop Drawings and Material Submittals, but only for conformance with the information 

given in the Contract Documents. Such review and approvals or other action will not extend to means, 

methods, techniques, equipment choice and usage, sequences, schedules, or procedures of construction 

or to related safety precautions and programs. 

Substitutes and "or-equal." Evaluate and determine the acceptability of substitute or "or-equal" materials 

and equipment proposed by Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents, but subject to the 

provisions of applicable standards of state or local government entities. 

Disagreements between the Client and Contractor. Kimley-Horn will, if requested by the Client, render 

written decision on all claims of the Client and Contractor relating to the acceptability of Contractor's work 

or the interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to the progress of 

Contractor's work. In rendering such decisions, Kimley-Horn shall be fair and not show partiality to the Client 

or Contractor and shall not be liable in connection with any decision rendered in good faith in such capacity. 

Applications for Payment. Based on its observations and on review of applications for payment and 

accompanying supporting documentation, Kimley-Horn will determine the amounts that Kimley-Horn 

recommends Contractor be paid. Such recommendations of payment will be in writing and will constitute 

Kimley-Horn’s representation to the Client, based on such observations and review, that, to the best of 

Kimley-Horn’s knowledge, information and belief, Contractor’s work has progressed to the point indicated 

and that such work-in-progress is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents subject to any 

qualifications stated in the recommendation. In the case of unit price work, Kimley-Horn’s recommendations 

of payment will include determinations of quantities and classifications of Contractor's work, based on 

observations and measurements of quantities provided with pay requests. 



Page 4 

kimley-horn.com 4637 Chabot Drive Suite 300 Pleasanton CA 9458 925-398-4840 

 

By recommending any payment, Kimley-Horn shall not thereby be deemed to have represented that its 

observations to check Contractor's work have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of Contractor's 

work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically 

assigned to Kimley-Horn in this Agreement. It will also not impose responsibility on Kimley-Horn to make 

any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the moneys paid on account 

of the Contract Price, nor to determine that title to any portion of the work in progress, materials, or 

equipment has passed to the Client free and clear of any liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, 

nor that there may not be other matters at issue between the Client and Contractor that might affect the 

amount that should be paid. 

Limitation of Responsibilities. Kimley-Horn shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of any 

Contractor, or of any of their subcontractors, suppliers, or of any other individual or entity performing or 

furnishing the Work. Kimley-Horn shall not have the authority or responsibility to stop the work of any 

Contractor. 

 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

Any services not specifically provided for in the above scope will be billed as additional services and 
performed at our then current hourly rates. Additional services we can provide include, but are not limited 
to, the following: 

• Flow monitoring 

• Wastewater generation rate calculations 

• Contaminated soil remediation 

• Dewatering plans 

• Excavation and Shoring Plans 

• Any additional sewer line rehabilitation outside of the limits described in the Project 

Understanding 

• Traffic Control Plans 

• Construction Phasing and staging plans 

INFORMATION PROVIDED BY CLIENT 

We shall be entitled to rely on the completeness and accuracy of all information provided by the Client or 

the Client’s consultants or representatives. The Client shall provide all information requested by Kimley-

Horn during the project, including but not limited to the following: 

• Any project-related utility underground maps and any existing information in the possession of the 
Client necessary to complete the design.  

• All project construction inspection work and contract administration 

SCHEDULE 

We will provide our services as expeditiously as practicable with the goal of meeting the mutually agreed 

upon schedule.  

 

 



Page 5 

kimley-horn.com 4637 Chabot Drive Suite 300 Pleasanton CA 9458 925-398-4840 

 

FEE AND EXPENSES 

Kimley-Horn will perform the services on a labor fee plus expense basis with the maximum labor fee shown 
below.   
 

A.  Tasks Task Cost  Fee Type 
 1 Project Management and Coordination $9,100 TM 

 
2 
3 
4 

Construction Documents 
Final Bid Phase and Bid Phase Support 
Design Support During Construction 

$115,300 
$6,000 
$22,700 

TM 
TM 
TM 

    Expense: Subconsultant Topographic Survey and Underground locate  $45,408 

  Contract Total $198,508 

 
Kimley-Horn will not exceed the total maximum labor fee shown without authorization from the Client. 

Individual task amounts are provided for budgeting purposes only. Kimley-Horn reserves the right to 

reallocate amounts among tasks as necessary.   

Labor fee will be billed on an hourly basis according to our then-current rates. As to these tasks, direct 

reimbursable expenses such as express delivery services, fees, air travel, and other direct expenses will 

be billed at 1.15 times cost. A percentage of labor fee will be added to each invoice to cover certain other 

expenses as to these tasks such as telecommunications, in-house reproduction, postage, supplies, project 

related computer time, and local mileage. Administrative time related to the project may be billed hourly. All 

permitting, application, and similar project fees will be paid directly by the Client. Should the Client request 

Kimley-Horn to advance any such project fees on the Client’s behalf, a separate invoice for such fees, with 

a 15% markup, will be immediately issued to and paid by the Client. 

Payment will be due within 30 days of your receipt of the invoice and should include the invoice number 

and Kimley-Horn project number. 

 

  



Page 6 

kimley-horn.com 4637 Chabot Drive Suite 300 Pleasanton CA 9458 925-398-4840 

 

CLOSURE 

If you concur in all the foregoing and wish to direct us to proceed with the services, please have authorized 

persons provide us with the signed Client’s standard Professional Services Agreement. We will commence 

services only after we have received a fully-executed agreement. Fees and times stated in this Agreement are 

valid for sixty (60) days after the date of this letter. 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide these services to you. Please contact me if you have any 

questions. 

 

Very truly yours,  

KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 
 
  
 
 

Tyler Whaley Sam McWhorter 
Project Manager Vice President 
P.E. No. C74848 P.E. No. C61788 

 

 
 



ID Task 

Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish Predecessors

1 Contract 

authorization

0 days Fri 6/16/23 Fri 6/16/23

2 Field Survey 21 days Fri 6/16/23 Fri 7/14/23 1

3 35% Design 10 days Mon 7/17/23Fri 7/28/23 2

4 Design Review 

meeting

0 days Fri 7/28/23 Fri 7/28/23 3

5 65% Design 14 days Mon 7/31/23Thu 8/17/23 4

6 District Review 30 days Fri 8/18/23 Thu 9/28/23 5

7 95% Design 10 days Fri 9/29/23 Thu 10/12/236

8 District Review 14 days Fri 10/13/23 Wed 11/1/237

9 Final Bid 

Documents

7 days Thu 11/2/23 Fri 11/10/23 8

10 Posted to bid 0 days Mon 11/13/23Mon 11/13/23

11 Bid Duration 30 days Mon 11/13/23Fri 12/22/23 10

12 Construction 

Award

0 days Fri 12/22/23 Fri 12/22/23 11

13 Construction 100 days Mon 12/25/23Fri 5/10/24 12

14 Record Drawings 10 days Mon 5/13/24Fri 5/24/24 13

6/16

7/28

11/13

12/22

MayJun Jul AugSepOctNovDec Jan FebMarAprMayJun

Qtr 2, 2023 Qtr 3, 2023 Qtr 4, 2023 Qtr 1, 2024 Qtr 2, 2024

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

External Tasks

External Milestone

Deadline

Progress

Manual Progress

Page 1

Project: 2023 SRSD Misc repairs

Date: Wed 6/14/23



Rate Schedule
Rates valid through 6/30/2024

Staff Category Rate
Admin Support $100 - $130

Sr. Admin Support $110 - $140

Project Support $110 - $140

Sr. Project Support $140 - $160

CADD Technician $115 - $140

Sr. CADD Technician $130 - $160

Technical Support $115 - $135

Sr. Technical Support $130 - $165

Analyst I $125 - $140

Analyst II $130 - $150

Analyst III $140 - $160

Engineer/Planner I $150 - $170

Engineer/Planner II $160 - $185

Engineer/Planner III $170 - $195

Engineer/Planner IV $180 - $220

Engineer/Planner V $210 - $240

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner I $230 - $260

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner II $250 - $280

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner III $270 - $300

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner IV $280 - $320

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner V $310 - $340

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner VI $330 - $360

Sr. Engineer/Sr. Planner VII $350 - $380

PIC/Sr. Tech Advisor $360 - $390

Other Direct Costs: Outside printing/reproduction, delivery services/USPS, misc. field
equipment/supplies, tolls and travel expenses will be billed at actual cost. Mileage will be billed at the
Federal Rate.



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

Agenda Item No. 3.e. 

DATE: June 16, 2023  

TO:  Board of Directors, San Rafael Sanitation District 

PREPARED BY: Kris Ozaki, Operations & Maintenance Manager 

APPROVED BY: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer 

SUBJECT:   Adopt resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to 

execute a Professional Services Agreement for pipe assessment related 

services. 

. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to execute a Professional 

Services Agreement with RH Borden and Company LLC for pipe assessment related services for 

the 2023 Pipe Assessment Survey not to exceed $250,000. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Sanitary System Management Plan (SSMP) details having a preventative maintenance 

program for the gravity collection system.  District staff currently utilize mechanical methods of 

cleaning and inspection of high priority pipes that require frequent cleanings.  This amounts to 

roughly 316,000 linear feet or 60 miles of pipe that is cleaned every 6 months.    In the past, the 

remainder of the gravity collection system would only receive cleaning once every three years.  

While this is very effective, it is also very costly and can take up to a year or longer to complete.   

ANALYSIS:  

RH Borden offers a service utilizing sound acoustics to assess sewer line blockages to determine 

if the pipe requires frequent cleaning or broken pipe.  The Sewer Line Rapid Assessment Tool or 

SL-RAT is setup at one manhole and transmits a series of tones which is then received from the 

next inline manhole.  Depending on strength at which the tones are received, a numerical grade 

ranging from 0-10 is given.  A zero indicates a totally obstructed pipe and 10 equates to no 

obstructions.  This assessment takes 80 seconds to complete.   

I have spoken to neighboring Districts that own the SL-RAT to get their perspective.  Each have 

said it is very useful to see your entire system, but it has limitations.  Pipes that are not straight 

lines will give lower scores.  It also will not tell you what or where the obstruction is, but you’ll 

be able to see an overall picture of which pipes need more attention than others.  One 

neighboring district really liked the fact that a company can do this work instead of using their 

own personnel since they only have 2 employees in their sewer department.   

The SL-RAT works on pipes ranging from 6 inch through 12 inch in diameter.  In San Rafael, 

that amounts to 680,000 LF or 128 miles of pipe in that range.  RH Borden estimates 6 weeks to 

assess all of this pipe.  While this is not all of the gravity collection system, it does include a vast 

majority.  The remainder can either be cleaned/inspected in-house or via contractor.  The results 

3e



 2 

we receive from RH Borden can help us plan future sewer televising and capital improvement 

projects; and show us which pipes require cleaning on both the preventative maintenance 

cleaning list and pipes we don’t normally touch.  This should also help with less frequent sewer 

overflows. 

 

Since they will be opening each manhole for the pipe assessment, staff has requested that they 

also assess the condition of each manhole. 

 

After the data has been collected using the SL-RAT, the data will be integrated with the 

District’s GIS, which will assist staff visually to determine which pipes will require more 

attention. 

 

RH Borden’s original proposal was based on 650,000 LF of pipe and 3,000 manholes.  After 

they reviewed our GIS files, they determined that it was 680,000 LF of pipe and 4,382 manholes.  

Since the District will be billed by the lineal feet and number of manholes, staff has included a 

contingency and determined a not-to-exceed amount of $250,000. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

RH Borden and Company LLC will perform the work in the amount not to exceed $250,000 for 

pipe assessment related services for the 2023 Pipe Assessment Survey Project.  This project will 

be funded under the Maintenance and Operations Fund from the FY 2023/24 Budget.  

 

ACTION REQUIRED: 

Staff recommends that the Board adopt the resolution authorizing the District Manager/District 

Engineer to execute a Professional Services Agreement with RH Borden and Company LLC for 

pipe assessment related services for the 2023 Pipe Assessment Survey not to exceed $250,000. 

 

 

Attachments:  

 Resolution 

Professional Services Agreement 

Proposal (Exhibit A of the Agreement) 



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION NO.  23-1270 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN RAFAEL 

SANITATION DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE DISTRICT MANAGER/DISTRICT 

ENGINEER TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR 

PIPE ASSESSMENT RELATED SERVICES FOR THE 2023 PIPE ASSESSMENT 

SURVEY NOT TO EXCEED $250,000 

 

 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT, 

COUNTY OF MARIN, hereby resolves as follows: 

 The District Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf 

of the San Rafael Sanitation District, a Professional Services Agreement with RH 

Borden and Company LLC, for required pipe assessment related services for the 2023 

Pipe Assessment Project not to exceed $250,000.00 as specified by the District, a copy 

of which is hereby attached and by this reference made a part hereof. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the San Rafael Sanitation 

District Board of Directors held on the 16th day of June 2023, by the following vote, to 

wit: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT/ABSTAIN: 
 
  SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 
 
 

         
  Kate Collins, Chair 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 

   
Maribeth Bushey, Acting Secretary 



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

FOR PIPE ASSESSMENT RELATED SERVICES FOR THE 

2023 PIPE ASSESSMENT SURVEY NOT TO EXCEED $250,000.00 

 

 This Agreement is made and entered into this 16th day of June 2023 by and between the 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT (hereinafter “DISTRICT”), and RH BORDEN AND 

COMPANY LLC (hereinafter “CONSULTANT”). 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the DISTRICT has selected RH BORDEN AND COMPANY LLC to 

perform the required pipe assessment related services for the “2023 PIPE ASSESSMENT SURVEY” 

(hereinafter “PROJECT”); and 

 WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT has offered to render certain specialized professional 

services in connection with this Project. 

AGREEMENT 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 DISTRICT and CONSULTANT have outlined the scope of services to be provided, and 

related expenses as described in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated herein. 

 2. PROJECT COORDINATION 

  A.  DISTRICT.  The District Manager/District Engineer shall be the 

representative of the DISTRICT for all purposes under this Agreement.  The Operations and Maintenance 

Manager is hereby designated as the PROJECT MANAGER for the DISTRICT and said PROJECT 

MANAGER shall supervise all aspects of the progress and execution of this Agreement. 

  B.  CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT shall assign a single PROJECT 

DIRECTOR to have overall responsibility for the progress and execution of this Agreement for 

CONSULTANT.  JOSH BARLOW is hereby designated as the PROJECT DIRECTOR for 

CONSULTANT.  Should circumstances or conditions subsequent to the execution of this Agreement 

require a substitute PROJECT DIRECTOR for any reason, the CONSULTANT shall notify the 

DISTRICT within ten (10) business days of the substitution. 



  Agreement • 2 

 

 3. DUTIES OF CONSULTANT 

  CONSULTANT shall perform the duties and/or provide services as follows; the 

CONSULTANT agrees to provide professional services as a Consultant to prepare work outlined in the 

Proposal from CONSULTANT dated February 1, 2023, marked Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, and 

incorporated herein by this reference. The CONSULTANT agrees to be available and perform the work 

specified in this agreement in the time frame as specified and as shown in Exhibit “A”. 

 4. DUTIES OF THE DISTRICT 

  DISTRICT shall perform the duties as described and incorporated herein. 

 5. COMPENSATION 

  For the full performance of the services described herein by CONSULTANT, 

DISTRICT shall pay CONSULTANT on a time-and-materials basis for services rendered in accordance 

with the rates shown on the current fee schedule as described in Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated 

herein.  The total payment will not exceed $250,000.00. 

  Payment will be made monthly upon receipt by PROJECT MANAGER of 

itemized invoices submitted by CONSULTANT. 

 6. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

  The term of this Agreement shall be from the date of execution until the Project 

is complete. 

 7. TERMINATION 

  A. Discretionary.  Either party may terminate this Agreement without cause 

upon thirty (30) days written notice mailed or personally delivered to the other party. 

  B. Cause.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon ten 

(10) days written notice mailed or personally delivered to the other party, and the notified party’s failure 

to cure or correct the cause of the termination notice, to the reasonable satisfaction of the party giving 

such notice, within thirty (30) days of the receipt of said notice. 

  C. Effect of Termination.  Upon receipt of notice of termination, neither 

party shall incur additional obligations under any provision of this Agreement without the prior written 

consent of the other. However, CONSULTANT’S duties and obligation in Sections 11 and 12 hereunder 

shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

  D. Return of Documents.  Upon termination, any and all DISTRICT 

documents or materials provided to CONSULTANT and any and all of CONSULTANT’s documents and 

materials prepared for or relating to the performance of its duties under this Agreement, shall be delivered 

to DISTRICT as soon as possible, but not later than thirty (30) days after termination. 



  Agreement • 3 

  

 8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 

  The written documents and materials prepared by the CONSULTANT in 

connection with the performance of its duties under this Agreement shall be the sole property of 

DISTRICT.  DISTRICT may use said property for any purpose, including projects not contemplated by 

this Agreement. 

 9. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 

  Upon reasonable notice, CONSULTANT shall make available to DISTRICT, or 

its agent, for inspection and audit, all documents and materials maintained by CONSULTANT in 

connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall fully 

cooperate with DISTRICT or its agent in any such audit or inspection. 

 10. ASSIGNABILITY 

   The parties agree that they shall not assign or transfer any interest in this 

Agreement nor the performance of any of their respective obligations hereunder, without the prior written 

consent of the other party, and any attempt to so assign this Agreement or any rights, duties or obligations 

arising hereunder shall be void and of no effect. 

 11. INSURANCE 

 A.  During the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall maintain, at no 

expense to DISTRICT, the following insurance policies: 

 1.  A commercial general liability insurance policy in the minimum 

amount of one million ($1,000,000) dollars per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate for death, bodily 

injury, personal injury, or property damage; 

  2.  An automobile liability (owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles) 

insurance policy in the minimum amount of one million ($1,000,000) dollars per occurrence; 

  3.  If any licensed professional performs any of the services required to 

be performed under this Agreement, a professional liability insurance policy in the minimum amount of 

one million ($1,000,000) dollars to cover any claims arising out of the CONSULTANT's performance of 

services under this Agreement. 

 B.  The insurance coverage required of the CONSULTANT by Section 11. A., 

shall also meet the following requirements: 

 

 

 

  



  Agreement • 4 

 

 1.  The insurance shall be primary with respect to any insurance or 

coverage maintained by DISTRICT and shall not call upon DISTRICT's insurance or coverage for any 

contribution; 

 2.  Except for professional liability insurance, the insurance policies shall 

be endorsed for contractual liability and personal injury; 

 3.  Except for professional liability insurance, the insurance policies shall 

be specifically endorsed to include the DISTRICT, its officers, agents, and employees as additionally 

named insureds under the policies; 

 4.  CONSULTANT shall provide to PROJECT MANAGER, (a) 

Certificates of Insurance evidencing the insurance coverage required herein, and (b) specific 

endorsements naming DISTRICT, its officers, agents and employees, as additional insureds under the 

policies; 

 5.  The insurance policies shall provide that the insurance carrier shall 

not cancel or terminate said insurance policies except upon thirty (30) days written notice to DISTRICT’s 

PROJECT MANAGER; 

 6.  If the insurance is written on a Claims Made Form, then, following 

termination of this Agreement, said insurance coverage shall survive for a period of not less than five 

years as long as the insurance is reasonably affordable and available; 

 7.  The insurance policies shall provide for a retroactive date of 

placement coinciding with the effective date of this Agreement; 

 8.  The insurance shall be approved as to form and sufficiency by 

PROJECT MANAGER and the County Counsel. 

  C.  If it employs any person, CONSULTANT shall maintain Workers’ 

Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance, as required by the State Labor Code and other 

applicable laws and regulations, and as necessary to protect both CONSULTANT and DISTRICT against 

all liability for injuries to CONSULTANT’s officers and employees. 

  D.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions exceeding $20,000 in 

CONSULTANT’s insurance policies must be declared to and approved by the PROJECT MANAGER 

and the County Counsel.  At DISTRICT’s option, the deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect 

to DISTRICT shall be reduced or eliminated to DISTRICT’s satisfaction, or CONSULTANT shall 

procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claims administration, 

attorney’s fees, and defense expenses. 



  Agreement • 5 

 

 12. INDEMNIFICATION 

  CONSULTANT shall indemnify, release, and hold harmless DISTRICT, its 

officers, and employees against any claim, demand, suit, judgment, loss, liability, or expense of any kind, 

including attorney’s fees, arising out of or resulting in any way from any acts or omissions, negligent or 

otherwise, of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s officers, agents, and employees in the performance 

of their duties and obligations under this Agreement. 

 13. NONDISCRIMINATION 

   CONSULTANT shall not discriminate, in any way, against any person on the 

basis of age, sex, race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin or disability in connection with or related 

to the performance of its duties and obligations under this Agreement. 

 14. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 

   CONSULTANT shall use due professional care to observe and comply with all 

applicable Federal, State and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations in the performance of its 

duties and obligations under this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall perform all services under this 

Agreement in accordance with these laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations. 

 15. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

   DISTRICT and CONSULTANT do not intend, by any provision of this 

Agreement, to create in any third party any benefit or right owed by one party, under the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, to the other party. 

 16. NOTICES 

   All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given under 

this Agreement, including any notice of change of address, shall be in writing and given by personal 

delivery or deposited with the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed to the parties 

intended to be notified.  Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of personal delivery or, if mailed, 

upon the date of deposit with the United States Postal Service.  Notice shall be given as follows: 

 

 TO DISTRICT:  Kris Ozaki (Project Manager) 

   San Rafael Sanitation District 

   111 Morphew Street 

   San Rafael, CA  94901 

 

 TO CONSULTANT: Josh Barlow, Operations Director (Project Director) 

   RH Borden and Company LLC 

   2961 W Maple Loop Dr Ste 300 

   Lehi, UT 84043 

 

  



  Agreement • 6 

 17. INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT 

  For the purposes and for the duration of this Agreement, CONSULTANT, its 

officers, agents, and employees shall act in the capacity of an Independent Contractor, and not as 

employees of the DISTRICT.  CONSULTANT and DISTRICT expressly intend and agree that the status 

of CONSULTANT, its officers, agents, and employees be that of an Independent Contractor and not that 

of an employee of DISTRICT. 

 

 18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT -- AMENDMENTS 

  A.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement, all exhibits attached, and all 

documents expressly incorporated by reference represent the entire Agreement of the parties with respect 

to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

  B.  This written Agreement shall supersede any and all prior agreements, oral or 

written, regarding the subject matter between the CONSULTANT and the DISTRICT. 

  C.  No other agreement, promise, or statement, written or oral, relating to the 

subject matter of this Agreement shall be valid or binding except by way of a written amendment to this 

Agreement. 

  D.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be altered or modified 

except by a written amendment to this Agreement signed by the CONSULTANT and the DISTRICT. 

  E.  If any conflicts arise between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

the terms and conditions of the attached exhibits or the documents expressly incorporated by reference, 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. 

 

 19. SET-OFF AGAINST DEBTS 

  CONSULTANT agrees that DISTRICT may deduct from any payment due to 

CONSULTANT under this Agreement any monies which CONSULTANT owes DISTRICT under any 

ordinance, agreement, contract, or resolution for any unpaid taxes, fees, licenses, assessments, unpaid 

checks, or other amounts. 

 

 20. WAIVERS 

  The waiver by either party of any breach or violation of any term, covenant, or 

condition of this Agreement or of any ordinance, law, or regulation, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of 

any other term, covenant, condition, ordinance, law, or regulation or of any subsequent breach or 

violation of the same or other term, covenant, condition, ordinance, law or regulation. The subsequent 

acceptance by either party of any fee, performance, or other consideration which may become due or 

owing under this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach or violation by 

the other party of any term, condition, or covenant of this Agreement or any applicable law, ordinance, or 

regulation. 

 



  Agreement • 7 

 21. CITY BUSINESS LICENSE/OTHER TAXES 

  CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain during the duration of this Agreement 

a CITY business license as required by the San Rafael Municipal Code.  CONSULTANT shall pay any 

and all State and Federal taxes and any other applicable taxes.  CONSULTANT’s taxpayer identification 

number is 27-2531542, and CONSULTANT certifies under penalty of perjury that said taxpayer 

identification number is correct. 

 

 22. APPLICABLE LAW 

  The laws of the State of California shall govern this Agreement. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the 16th day, 

of June 2023, first above written. 

 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT CONSULTANT 

 

 

     RH BORDEN AND COMPANY LLC  

Doris Toy, P.E. 

District Manager/District Engineer     

APPROVED AS TO FORM:   By:  

      Jonathan Borden   

      

         Title: President      

Kerry Laiw Gerchow 

Deputy County Counsel 



Acoustic Assessment Scope 
1. Conduct sewer line inspections using transmissive acoustics as follows:

a. Sewer line Acoustic Transmissive Inspection as specified in ASTM F3220 – 17 “Standard
Practice for Prioritizing Sewer Pipe Cleaning Operations by Using Transmissive Acoustic
Inspection”.  These services will be accomplished by using the systems provided by
InfoSense, Inc. using equipment known as Sewer Line Rapid Assessment Tools (SL-RAT).

b. A detailed summary of each sewer line assessed including the following:
i. Unique Measurement Identification Number

ii. Time and Date of Measurement
iii. Length of pipe segment measured as measured by available Global Positioning

Services (GPS).
iv. GPS Location of Transmitter and Receiver at the time of measurement
v. The Condition of the pipe will be reported on a scale including but not limited to

a score of 0-10 as shown below:
i. 10 = Good - No significant obstructions within the pipe
ii. 7-10 = Good – Minor impediments within the pipe such as joint offsets,

partial sags, protruding laterals, debris, minor grease, and/or minor root
fibers and/or other obstructions that could affect the score.

iii. 4-6 = Impediments within the pipe such as joint offsets, partial sags,
protruding laterals, debris, grease, and/or root fibers. Single or multiple
occurrences and/or other obstructions that could affect the score.

iv. 1-3 = Significant impediments within the pipe such as multiple joint
offsets, near full pipe sag, multiple protruding laterals, significant debris,
significant grease, significant root fibers and/or root balls. Single or
multiple occurrences and/or other obstructions that could affect the
score.

v. 0 = Full pipe sag, single or multiple obstructions within the pipe reaching
or nearly reaching the flow and/or other obstructions that could affect
the score.

vi. The format of the final report shall be provided electronically as a hosted GIS
dashboard.

c. Perform a visual manhole inspection for each manhole for Customer as follows:
i. Each manhole will be visually inspected and rated as Good, Poor, or Fair for

the following attributes:
i. Proper seating of manhole lid
ii. Condition of manhole collar
iii. Condition of overall interior manhole structure
iv. Condition of manhole shelf
v. Presence of infiltration

ii. Data from manhole inspections shall be added as attribute data along with the
acoustic assessments in the GIS dashboard.

3e Exhibit A





Se
w

e
r 

L
in

e
 R

aR
id

 A
ss

e
ss

m
e
n
t 

T
o

o
l 

A
c
o

u
s
t
ic

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
 

�
 !!t!

.�.2
�.P.

I�
 



T
im

e
-B

a
se

d
 P

ro
to

co
l 

Fo
r 

M
a

in
ta

in
in

g
 S

e
w

e
r 

Li
n

e
s 

•
T

im
e

-B
a

se
d

 C
le

a
n

in
g

 P
ro

to
c
o

l

•
C
le

a
n

in
g
 a

n
d
 I

n
sp

e
c
ti

o
n

 R
e
q

u
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
 1

2
 -

8
4
 M

o
n

th
s

•
Se

le
c
t 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
 a

n
d
 D

e
p

lo
y 

R
e
so

u
rc

e
s



Is
su

e
s 

w
it

h
 T

im
e
 B

a
se

d
 C

le
a
n

in
g
 P

ro
to

co
l 

•
C
le

a
n

 e
v
e

ry
 p

ip
e

 s
e

g
m

e
n

t 
re

g
a
rd

le
ss

 o
f 

co
n

d
it

io
n

•
N

o
t 

v
ie

w
in

g
 e

n
ti

re
 s

e
w

e
r 

sy
st

e
m

 e
a
ch

 y
e

a
r

•
R
e

q
u

ir
e

s 
a
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
a
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

w
a
te

r 
to

 c
le

a
n

 l
in

e
s

•
D

a
ta

 c
a
p

tu
re

d
 i
n

 f
o

rm
a
ts

 t
h

a
t 

a
re

 d
if

fi
cu

lt
 t

o
 u

se



T
im

e
-B

a
se

d
 C

le
a

n
in

g
 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e
 P

ro
to

c
o

l 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
-B

a
se

d
 C

le
a

n
in

g
 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e
 P

ro
to

c
o

l 



N
e
w

 T
e
ch

n
o

lo
g
y
 -

A
co

u
st

ic
 I
n

sp
e
ct

io
n

 

SL
-

R
ap

id
 A

ss
e
ss

m
e
n
t 

T
o

o
l 

(R
A

T
) 

•
D

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 b
y 

ln
fo

Se
n

se
 i

n
 2

0
0

8
 (

Iv
an

 H
o

w
it

t)

•
U

se
s 

A
co

u
st

ic
s 

to
 a

ss
e

ss
e

s 
se

w
e

r 
lin

e

bl
o

cl
<a

ge
s

•
R

e
co

m
m

e
n

d
e

d
 b

y 
E

P
A

•
N

o
w

 b
e

in
g 

u
se

d
 b

y 
hu

n
d

re
d

s 
o

f 
u

ti
lit

ie
s

w
o

rl
d

w
id

e

•
H

o
ld

s 
A

ST
M

 S
ta

n
d

ar
d

 f
o

r 
u

se



T
ra

n
sm

it
te

r 
I s

o
 S

e
c

o
n

d
s
 I 

O
b

st
ru

ct
io

n
 

D
is

si
p

at
e
s 

ac
o

u
st

ic
 

e
n
e
rg

y 

R
e
ce

iv
e
r 

A
n

al
y
ze

s 



S
L

-
R
A

T
 A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
S
c
a
le

 -
N

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

T
re

n
d

s
 

N
o

 o
b

st
ru

ct
io

n
s 

-
-

-

R
o

o
t 

fi
b

e
rs

 li
m

it
e

d
 g

ro
w

th
 -

-
----1

F"!'
G

re
as

e
 l

im
it

e
d 

b
u

il
d 

u
p

 

R
o

o
t 
fi

b
e

rs
 a

n
d
/o

r 
g
re

a
se

 -
-

--1
 

R
o

b
o

t 
ca

n
 p

a
ss

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 

R
o

o
tfi

b
e

rs
 a

n
d
/o

r 
g
re

a
se

 -
-



R
o

b
o

t 
ca

n
n

o
t 

p
a
ss

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 

O
b

st
ru

ct
e

d
 
-

-
-

A
co

u
st

ic
 S

co
re

 

1
0

 

9
 

8
 

7
 

6
 

5
 

4
 

3
 2 1
 

0
 

A
c
o

u
st

ic
 I
n

sp
e

c
ti

o
n
 R

e
su

lt
s 

~
1
0

0
 M

il
li
o

n
 F

e
e

t 
o

f 
P
ip

e
 I
n

sp
e

c
te

d
 

■
A

co
u

st
ic

 S
co

re
 

■ 
G

o
o

d
Fa

ir
 

■ 
Po

o
r/

B
lo

ck
e
d
 



"'O 

"'O 
Cl) 

0 
I.. �

0 -= 
0 u 

'" ro o O 
'-' LJ.._ a... ca 



• ••• 2 

0 



RI
SE

R
 

/
 

' 
. 

LI
D 

'-
HA

R
DW

AR
E 

/
 .,

 

C
O

N
E 

..._____
 R

IS
ER

 

---
--

�
-.

 
BA

R
R

EL
 S

EC
TI

O
NS

 

---_
.,
 

S
H

E
L

F
 

----
-----

B
A

S
E

 
'.

 
'

-
-

T
R

O
U

G
H

 

;
.

, 

N
o

. 

1 2
 3 4
 

s
 5 6 7
 

Fe
a

tu
re

 t
o

 
In

sp
e

ct
io

n
 

In
sp

e
ct

 
A

tt
ri

b
u

te
 

Li
d

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
 

Li
d

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
 a

n
d

 S
e

a
ti

n
g
 

C
o

lla
r 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
 

C
ra

ck
s 

a
n

d
 w

e
a
th

e
ri

n
g
 

R
is

e
r 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
 

C
ra

ck
s 

a
n

d
 D

e
g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

 

St
ru

ct
u

ra
l 
C

o
n

d
it

io
n
 

C
ra

ck
s 

a
n

d
 D

e
g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

 

Sh
e

lf
/ 

T
ro

u
g
h

 
Su

rc
h

a
rg

e
, 
R

o
o

ts
, 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
 

O
b

st
ru

ct
in

g
 O

b
je

ct
s 

In
fi

lt
ra

ti
o

n
 

In
fi

lt
ra

ti
o

n
 

C
o

lla
r 

M
a
te

ri
a
l 

C
o

n
cr

e
te

/ 
A

sp
h

a
lt

/ 
O

th
e

r 

St
ru

ct
u

re
 M

a
te

ri
a
l 

C
o

n
cr

e
te

/ 
B
ri

ck
/ 

Li
n

e
d

 

G
o

o
d

 
Fa

ir
 

P
o

o
r 

Li
d

 in
ta

ct
 a

n
d

 f
u

ll
y
 

M
in

o
r 

li
d

 d
a

m
a

g
e

 o
r 

M
a
jo

r 
li
d

 d
a
m

a
g
e

 o
r 

se
a
te

d
 o

r 
su

b
-f

lu
sh

 
sl

ig
h

tl
y 

ra
is

e
d

 
si

g
n

if
ic

a
n

tl
y 

u
n

se
a
te

d
 

N
o

 C
ra

ck
s 

o
r 

cr
a
ck

s 
M

o
d

e
ra

te
 w

e
a
th

e
ri

n
g
 

M
a
jo

r 
cr

a
ck

in
g
 

a
re

 f
u

lly
 s

e
a
le

d
 

a
n

d
 c

ra
ck

s 
e

xp
o

si
n

g
 t
ri

p
 h

a
za

rd
s 

N
o

 o
r 

M
in

o
r 

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 
Si

g
n

if
ic

a
n

t 

d
e

g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

/c
ra

ck
s 

d
e

g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

/c
ra

ck
s 

d
e

g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

/c
ra

ck
s 

N
o

 o
r 

M
in

o
r 

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 
Si

g
n

if
ic

a
n

t 

d
e

g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

/c
ra

ck
s 

d
e

g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

/c
ra

ck
s 

d
e

g
ra

d
a
ti

o
n

/c
ra

ck
s 

C
le

a
n

 s
h

e
lf

 a
n

d
 

M
il
d

 b
u

il
d

u
p

 i
n

 
Su

rc
h

a
rg

e
, 

R
o

o
ts

, 

tr
o

u
g
h

 
tr

o
u

g
h

 
O

b
st

ru
ct

in
g
 O

b
je

ct
s 

N
o

 s
ig

n
s 

o
f 

in
fi

lt
ra

ti
o

n
 

M
ild

 I
n

fi
lt

ra
ti

o
n

 
Si

g
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
In

fi
lt

ra
ti

o
n

 

-
-

-

-
-

-



W
a
te

r 
U

se
 C

o
m

R
a
ri

so
n

 -
R
o

ta
ti

o
n

a
l 
v
s 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
a
l 

� 
R

o
ta

ti
o

n
a

l 
C

le
a

n
in

g
 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e
 

I ,
0

0
·0

,0
0

0
 G

a
ll

o
n

s 
/ 

I 0
0

 m
il

e
s 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
 B

a
se

d
 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e
 

4
0

1
0

·0
0

 G
a

ll
o

n
s 

/ 
I 0

0
 M

il
e

s 

=
 

I 0
,0

0
0

 G
a

ll
o

n
s 



O
u

tc
o

m
e
s
 

C
le

a
n
 5

0
-8

0
o/

o 
le

s
s
 P

ip
e
 

�


....
 

�
 

1
:

$
$

 

R
e
m

o
ve

 m
o

re
 d

e
b

ri
s
 f

ro
m

 s
ys

te
m

 

• ' tI, 

R
e
s
o

u
r
c
e
s
 

U
s
e
 8

0
%

 -
9

0
%

 L
e
s
s
 W

a
te

r 

l 
F
re

e
 u

p
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

t 



Virtual Reality 

Manholes / Wet Wells 

� Enter manhole virtually 

� No confined space hazards 

i?J, Share with stakeholders 

High-Density 

Point Clouds 

Wall Degradation 

Analysis 

� Measure any dimension 

I?> Set as-is baseline 

� Quantify degradation 

� Make data-driven decisions 

� Share data with a link � Improve asset management 

RH BORDEN 
DELIVERING DATA TO SMART CITIES 

www.rhborllfen,iom 

Jon Borden 

385-228-5350

jon.borclen@rhborden.com 



New Technology - Acoustic Inspection 

How it works: 
The SL-RAT comes in two parts: 

a transmitter and a receiver that 

are placed on adjacent 

manholes. The transmitter 

sends tones down the pipe and 

the receiver analyzes those 

tones for degradation. Based on 

the quality of the sound, each 

pipe segment is given a 

blockage score from 0 to 1 0. 

The Resu Its: 
Pipe segments scoring a 7 or 

above are flowing freely and 

need no further work. The SL

RAT has been used to inspect 

over 100 million feet of pipe, 

and in the average system, 72% 

had excess flow capacity. That 

means that more than 72 

million feet of pipe did not 

need to be cleaned. 

• [!] · www.rhborden.com

Transmitter sends 

Sound for 80 seconds 

No obstructions 

Root fibers limited growth 

Grease limited build up 

Root fibers and/or grease 

Robot can pass through 

Root fibers and/or grease 

Robot cannot pass through 

Obstructed 

Obstructions 

Acoustic Score 

10 

9 

8 

7 

6 

4 

3 

2 

1 

0 

Receiver analyzes 

sounds 

Acoustic Inspection Results 

~100 Million Feet of Pipe Inspected 

• Acoustic Score • Good Fair ■ Poor/Blocked 



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET ‐ FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025

FY2024 FY2025

OPERATING FUND

RESOURCES AVAILABLE:

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 9,148,976$   11,929,077$  
REVENUES

Property taxes 2,188,294 2,231,949 

User fees 16,645,122 16,645,122 

Connection fees 396,359  396,359 

Interest income 992,129  992,129 

Total revenues 20,221,904 20,265,559 

TOTAL RESOURCES AVAILABLE 29,370,880$   32,194,636$

RESOURCES EXPENDED AND REMAINING
EXPENDITURES

Operations and maintenance 5,589,849$ 5,257,710$  

Sewage treatment (CMSA) 8,090,888 8,427,617 

Transfers to Capital Funds

Equipment acquisition fund 211,066  211,066 

Capital improvement projects:

80‐year life‐cycle sewer replacement 3,300,000 4,300,000 

Pump station & force main capital improvements 250,000  250,000 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 17,441,803 18,446,393 

ENDING FUND BALANCE

Assigned:

Working capital 7,440,000 7,732,000 

Pension and other post‐retirement benefits 3,400,000 5,000,000 

Emergencies 1,000,000 1,000,000 

Total assigned 11,840,000 13,732,000 

Unassigned 89,077  16,243

Total ending fund balance 11,929,077 13,748,243 

TOTAL RESOURCES EXPENDED  & REMAINING 29,370,880$   32,194,636$

EQUIPMENT ACQUISTION FUND

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 2,158,800$ 1,926,866$  

Transfers from Operating Fund 211,066  211,066 

Expenditures (443,000) (382,000) 

FUND BALANCE, ENDING 1,926,866$ 1,755,932$  

80‐YEAR LIFE‐CYCLE SEWER REPLACEMENT

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 21,412,193$   12,872,193$

Transfers from Operating Fund $3,300,000 $4,300,000

Expenditures (11,840,000)$   (10,900,000)$  

FUND BALANCE, ENDING 12,872,193$   6,272,193$  

PUMP STATION & FORCE MAIN CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 9,873,410$ 7,873,410$  

Transfers from Operating Fund 250,000  250,000 

Expenditures (2,250,000)$   (5,800,000)$

FUND BALANCE, ENDING 7,873,410$ 2,323,410$  

4a



SUPPORTING SCHEDULES



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
EXPENDITURE DETAILS

Acct.
Code Account Title Description

 Actual
2021-22 

 Budget 
2022-23 

 Projected
2022-23 

 Proposed
2023-24 

 Proposed
2024-25 

FUND 74600 - OPERATIONs & MAINTENANCE
2361 Contractual Costs to City of 

San Rafael
Salaries, benefits, summer help, technology 
replacement, utilities

3,178,383$                 3,077,640$   3,365,922$                 3,259,000$     3,421,950$    City Estimate plus estimated inflation

2388 Staff Training, Education, and 
Memberships

Registration, tuition, manuals, texts, etc. for 
District personnel training and certification courses 
& seminars on confined space, SSMP, 
management, etc.

3,924$                        3,720$          3,215$                        5,000$            5,500$           Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2477 Conferences Travel, lodging, and related expenses for Board 
and staff, CASA quarterly meetings, and other 
misc. conferences

-$                            6,180$          1,550$                        6,000$            6,300$           Based on expected costs

2131 Memberships & 
Subscriptions

Annual membership dues 15,375$                      17,349$       19,979$                      20,978$          22,027$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

Details:
State WRCB 3,500$         3,000$                        3,000$           3,500$           
CASA 10,000$       9,000$                        9,500$           10,000$         
BACWA 2,000$         1,500$                        1,750$           2,000$           
Other Marin IJ, Yellow Pages 1,849$         6,479$                        6,728$           6,527$           

2534 Telephone Service District office, District fax, pump stations, cell 
phones, pagers, dialers for pump stations, laptop 
connection cards, private IP's

17,215$                      25,750$        21,082$                      25,000$          26,250$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2282 Director Fees Payment to Board of Directors for meetings 3,300$                        5,200$          4,000$                        5,200$            5,200$           Based on meetings expected

2713 Legal Services Legal services performed by the County Counsel 
and outside counsel for the District.

17,978$                      23,055$        14,855$                      25,000$          25,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2325 Consulting Services Engineering, professional and specialized 
consulting services

69,984$                      64,890$        126,284$                    162,000$        80,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

Details:
Nute engineering 36,864$       5,000$                        80,000$          37,000$         FM/PS Study for CIP schedule
California CAD Sewer service charges 6,144$         6,500$                        6,000$            6,144$           
Audit of financial statement 16,384$       15,000$                      16,000$          16,384$         

Other Temp staff, Strategic Plan 5,498$         99,784$                      60,000$          20,472$         

2717 Accounting Services Accounting and financial management services 53,700$                      69,277$        69,500$                      64,518$          81,313$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation
Details:
Maher Accountancy
  Monthly accounting 43,200$       43,200$                      49,200$          49,200$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation
  Special projects 26,077$       25,700$                      15,318$          32,113$         Add budget development in year 2025

6832 Tax collection fees County Tax collection and sewer service 
administration fees

38,194$                      43,000$        39,012$                      42,000$          43,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2059 General Insurance CSRMA - public liability, property, and auto 
insurance

163,054$                    153,906$      176,368$                    185,187$        194,446$       Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2051 Claims and Deductibles Claims and deductible payments 55,432$                      45,000$        11,196$                      45,000$          45,000$         

2321 Public Outreach Informational fliers, website, videos 10,355$                      20,000$        5,425$                        20,000$          20,000$         

2221 Legal Notices Publication of notices of hearings, ordinances, etc. -$                            1,500$          400$                           1,500$            1,500$           

2122 Rebates/Refunds Refund of sewer user & connection fees 4,369$                        10,300$        2,575$                        10,300$          10,300$         

2133 Office/Shop Supplies District office & maintenance 5,582$                        8,500$          7,204$                        8,000$            9,000$           

2389 Miscellaneous expenses Recruitment for vacant positions, staff meeting 
supplies

35$                             1,200$          5,000$                        25,000$          8,000$           

Comments

Appendix Page 3



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
EXPENDITURE DETAILS

Acct.
Code Account Title Description

 Actual
2021-22 

 Budget 
2022-23 

 Projected
2022-23 

 Proposed
2023-24 

 Proposed
2024-25 Comments

2359 Maintenance and Operations, 
Pump Stations, Force Mains,  
Generators

All maintenance, repairs, and supplies for pump 
stations and force mains, including rebuilding 
pumps, motors, electrical panels, controls, 
comminutors, replacing and/or repairing valves, 
replace motor control centers, etc.

233,499$                    250,000$      240,988$                    250,000$        250,000$       Based on 2022-23 Projection, allowance for unidentified 
items, plus estimated inflation

2360 Maintenance and Operations -
Collection System All maintenance, pipe spot repairs, and supplies 

for collection system, including accessory parts 
and materials for vactor and power rodder.

126,216$                    206,000$      242,821$                    725,000$        300,000$       Based on 2022-23 Projection, and FY 23/24 Pipe 
Assessment Project and Patch Pave project

2535 Power Cost of electricity and gas for all pump stations 245,388$                    205,615$      300,812$                    325,000$        300,000$       Based on 2022-23 Projection, plus anticpated utility rate 
increases

2536 Water Water purchases 11,462$                      24,000$        9,192$                        10,000$          10,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2363 Standby Services
Cost to respond to sewer emergencies by Roto-
Rooter after hours and on weekends and holidays

21,260$                      35,000$        24,288$                      30,000$          35,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection, allowance for unidentified 
items, plus estimated inflation

2083 Vehicle repair & parts Parts, maintenance, repairs, fuel & oil for District 
vehicles

64,913$                      77,250$        86,895$                      75,000$          78,750$         Based on 2022-23 Projection, allowance for unidentified 
items, plus estimated inflation

2106 Odor Control Bioxide chemical odor control & equipment for 
pump stations 

53,975$                      84,990$        95,458$                      100,230$        105,242$       Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2021 Uniforms Rental & cleaning of uniforms 10,656$                      9,940$          10,701$                      11,236$          11,798$         Based on 2022-23 Projection plus estimated inflation

2365 Safety Equipment and 
Supplies Equipment and supplies for on-the-job safety gear, 

safety signing, first aid supplies, gas detectors and 
confined space training equipment for compliance 
with OSHA requirements, including servicing fire 
extinguishers.

3,752$                        7,500$          8,286$                        8,700$            9,135$           Based on 2022-23 Projection, allowance for unidentified 
items, plus estimated inflation

4045 Manhole Raising Reimburse City of San Rafael or Marin County for 
raising manholes to grade upon completion of 
City/County street or Right-of-Way improvement 
projects.

-$                            61,800$        14,175$                      60,000$          63,000$         Based on expectations, allowance for unidentified items, 
plus estimated inflation

4300 FOG Program Fats, Oils, and Grease Program administered by 
CMSA

21,116$                      45,000$        29,511$                      40,000$          45,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection, allowance for unidentified 
items, plus estimated inflation

4188 Facilities Mapping Services Continuation of Facilities Mapping Program, 
updating GIS interface, data base structure, 
activity tracking, locating structures, easement 
research, mapping, sewer map books.

45,840$                      63,654$        27,865$                      45,000$          45,000$         Based on 2022-23 Projection, allowance for unidentified 
items, plus estimated inflation;

TOTAL MAINTENANCE & OPERATIONS 4,474,955$                 4,647,216$   4,964,559$                 5,589,849$     5,257,710$    

FUND 74604 - CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY
4112 SRSD Share of Operation District's proportionate share based on flow 

volume and strength.
5,511,893$                 5,861,950$   5,626,260$                 5,957,225$     6,294,323$    Estimate from CMSA Budget

4113 SRSD Share of Plant 
Expansion

District's proportionate share of CMSA bond 
payments based on the total EDU count for all JPA 
members per Agency budget

2,145,805$                 2,144,355$   2,144,355$                 2,133,663$     2,133,294$    Estimate from CMSA Budget

TOTAL CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY 7,657,698$                 8,006,305$   7,770,615$                 8,090,888$     8,427,617$    

Appendix Page 4



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
EXPENDITURE DETAILS

Acct.
Code Account Title Description

 Actual
2021-22 

 Budget 
2022-23 

 Projected
2022-23 

 Proposed
2023-24 

 Proposed
2024-25 Comments

FUND 74600 - FIXED ASSETS 
4830 Vehicle & equipment 

acquisition
Acquisition of vehicles, equipment & furniture -$                            34,000$        34,000$                      443,000$        382,000$       Based on Asset Replacement Schedule

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS -$                                34,000$        34,000$                      443,000$        382,000$       

FUND 74601 - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 

80-YEAR LIFE-CYCLE PROGRAM

4316 Second St, Ida to E St Replace 1,500LF of sewer. Postpone.
-$                            100,000$      -$                            -$               -$               Re-prioritized

4302 Rehabilitation of Gravity Sewer
Replace unscheduled misc. sewer pipes and 
emergencies

-$                            200,000$      -$                            -$               -$               

4301 2018 Sewer Televising
Develop sewer facilities data; analyze sewer 
system capacity; CCTV Program

-$                            -$              (270,000)$                   -$               -$               

4334 2019 Sewer Televising
Develop sewer facilities data; analyze sewer 
system capacity; CCTV Program

39,408$                      -$              270,000$                    -$               -$               

4348 2023 Sewer Televising
Develop sewer facilities data; analyze sewer 
system capacity; CCTV Program

-$                            400,000$      10,000$                      390,000$        -$               Postponed to FY23/24

4353 2024 Sewer Televising
Develop sewer facilities data; analyze sewer 
system capacity; CCTV Program

-$                            -$              -$                            100,000$        300,000$       

4354 2025 Sewer Televising
Develop sewer facilities data; analyze sewer 
system capacity; CCTV Program

-$                            -$              -$                            -$               100,000$       

4336
Francisco Blvd East at Medway 
& Vivian

Replace 950 LF of corrugated metal pipe. Included 
in City's sidewalk widening project.

25,076$                      -$              -$                            -$               -$               

4337
Sewer Repl for Richmond-SR 
Bridge Impt

Replace 875LF of sewer between Grange and Bay 
Park Center for State's project.

721,653$                    -$              -$                            -$               -$               

4338
Rehab.of Beach Sewers-
Bayside Acres Ph A/B/C Replace 2,800LF of sewer in beach community

189,768$                    1,250,000$   1,560,000$                 725,000$        1,000,000$    PhA-completed in FY22/23; PhB-construct in FY23/24 
and FY24/25; PhC-construct in FY 24/25

4339 Woodland Pl/Ave & Octavia
Replace 1,760LF of sewer; reroute Woodland 
Place.

1,279,316$                 -$              -$                            -$               -$               

4340 Third St (4th to Mary)
Replace 1,790LF of sewer prior to City's Third 
Street Improvement Project.

119,909$                    -$              3,130,000$                 275,000$        -$               

4327
Bret Harte Easement Wall 
Improvements Replace/repair retaining wall in sewer easement.

-$                            1,000,000$   5,000$                        2,000,000$     1,000,000$    Begin design FY 22/23; Construct in FY 23/24 & 
FY24/25

4342
2020 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl, 
ph 1/2/3 Replace 12,400 LF (2.3 mi) of sewer

450,162$                    500,000$      1,500,000$                 4,750,000$     -$               Ph 1 - FY 21/22;                                                               
Ph 2 - FY22/23 & FY23/24 and no Ph3

4349 2021 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl Replace 7,000 LF of sewer
20,993$                      3,500,000$   10,000$                      -$               -$               Revised to a Preliminary Design Study

4350 2022 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl Replace 7,000 LF of sewer
-$                            500,000$      -$                            -$               -$               

4351 2023 Sewer Rehabilitation Replace 13,000 LF (2.5 mi) of sewer
-$                            -$              10,000$                      500,000$        7,000,000$    

4352 2024 Sewer Rehabilitation Replace 13,000 LF (2.5 mi) of sewer
-$                            -$              -$                            -$               500,000$       

4343 Fifth Ave, Ray Ct to Sirard Ln
Replace 1,450LF of sewer. Consider relocating 
from front yards to street.

-$                            300,000$      -$                            -$               -$               Re-prioritized

4356
2023 Sewer Improvements-
Various Locations Sewer main improvements at 12 locations

-$                            -$              10,000$                      1,900,000$     -$               

4355 2023 Sewer Pipeburst Replace 2,100 LF of sewer by pipe burst
-$                            -$              -$                            1,000,000$     -$               

TBD Miscellaneous Gravity Sewer
Replace unscheduled misc. sewer pipes and 
emergencies

-$                            200,000$      60,000$                      200,000$        1,000,000$    

TOTAL 80-YEAR LIFE-CYCLE PROGRAM 2,846,285$                 7,950,000$   6,295,000$                 11,840,000$   10,900,000$   

Appendix Page 5



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
EXPENDITURE DETAILS

Acct.
Code Account Title Description

 Actual
2021-22 

 Budget 
2022-23 

 Projected
2022-23 

 Proposed
2023-24 

 Proposed
2024-25 Comments

10-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

4151 Force Main Condition 
Assessment

Develop data and analyze the condition of force 
mains

 $                               -  $     100,000  $                    100,000  $                   -  $                  - 

4148 South Francisco Pump Station Upgrade pump station  $                        6,873  $                 -  $                               -  $                   -  $                  - 

4154 Third Street & Fiberglass Pump 
Station

Upgrade pump station  $                    155,548  $  1,000,000  $                               -  $       400,000  $       800,000 Split into 2 projects. This account is for Third St P.S.  
Fiberglass PS is Acct #4158 below

4155 N. Francisco & WRR Pump 
Station

Upgrade pump station  $                      48,070  $  1,500,000  $                        8,000  $       400,000  $    3,000,000 FY21/22 & FY22/23- Prelim Study for both PS. Starting 
FY23/24, split into 2 separate projects. This Account will 
become N. Francisco PS only. WRR PS is Acct#4157 
below

4158 Fiberglass Pump Station Upgrade pump station  $                               -  $                 -  $                               -  $       700,000  $       300,000 

4157 WRR Pump Station Upgrade pump station  $                               -  $                 -  $                               -  $       200,000  $    1,500,000 

4345 Isolation Valve Replacement Replace valves at 3 sites, i.e N. Fran PS, Pt San 
Pedro near Yacht Club and Glenwood PS

 $                      55,063  $                 -  $                      80,000  $       350,000  $                  - 

4200 Miscellaneous projects  $                      99,985  $     200,000  $                    200,000  $       200,000  $       200,000 

TOTAL PUMP STATION & FORCE MAIN CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 365,539$                    2,800,000$   388,000$                    2,250,000$     5,800,000$    

TOTAL CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 3,211,824$                 10,750,000$ 6,683,000$                 14,090,000$   16,700,000$   

Appendix Page 6



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY

 Projected
2022-23 

 Proposed
2023-24 

 Proposed
2024-25 

Sewer Treatment - Maintenance & Operations 5,626,260$  5,957,225$       6,294,323$       
Sewer Treatment - Debt Service 2,144,355$  2,133,663$       2,133,294$       

  Total 7,770,615$  8,090,888$       8,427,617$       

Appendix Page 7



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
EQUIPMENT RESERVE AND EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION PLAN

  Equipment description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 10 Year Total 10 Year Avg
12 15 18 21 24 27 30 33 36 39

2011 Ford Escape Hybrid (from City) 47,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  47,000             4,700                 
Ford Truck F-250 48,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  48,000             4,800                 
Mobile Pump Godwin 4-inch -                  74,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  74,000             7,400                 
Godwin DRI-Prime CD225M Diesel Pump -                  -                  -                  92,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  92,000             9,200                 
Ingersoll-Rand Doosan G70 Trailer Mounted Diesel -                  -                  -                  52,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  52,000             5,200                 
I.R. Doosan G70 Trailer Mounted Diesel  (PG Pump Stn) -                  -                  -                  52,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  52,000             5,200                 
Haulmark Emergency repair trailer -                  -                  -                  12,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  12,000             1,200                 
OK Champion Rodder Truck -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  329,000       -                  -                  -                  -                  329,000           32,900               
Ford F250 2014 42,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  42,000             4,200                 
Doosan Generator G70 -                  81,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  81,000             8,100                 
Doosan Generator G325-T4F -                  185,000       -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  185,000           18,500               
Chevy Silverado 2015 -                  42,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  42,000             4,200                 
Emergency repair trailer -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  11,000         -                  -                  11,000             1,100                 
Ford F550 2017 with crane assembly install -                  -                  -                  -                  89,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  89,000             8,900                 
Ford F350 2017 with radio -                  -                  -                  -                  70,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  70,000             7,000                 
Closed circuit televised camera 69,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  69,000             6,900                 
Replace Odor Scrubber at West Railroad Pump Station 49,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  49,000             4,900                 
Water Truck -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  147,000       -                  147,000           14,700               
2021 Ford Escape Hybrid -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  42,000         -                  -                  42,000             4,200                 

PLANNED FIRST-TIME ACQUISITIONS
Chassis replacement for 2011 OK Champion Rodder Truck 75,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  75,000             7,500                 
Equipment from 2011 OK Champion Rodder transferred to 2024 Chassis 65,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  65,000             6,500                 

REPLACEMENT OF FUTURE ACQUISITIONS -                  
Second Replacement of Chevy 3/4-ton pickup -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  52,413         -                  -                  -                  52,413             5,241                 
Second Replacement of Chevy 1 1/2 -ton pickup with equip -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  154,550       -                  -                  -                  154,550           15,455               
Second Replacement of Ford Truck F-250 48,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  48,000             4,800                 

PLANNED BEYOND BUDGET (anything with Year Replaced between 3-10 years out)
REPLACEMENT of 2008 Ford Escape Hybrid -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  45,693         45,693             4,569                 
REPLACEMENT of Closed circuit televised camera -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  80,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  80,000             8,000                 
REPLACEMENT of Replace Odor Scrubber at West Railroad Pump Station -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  57,000         -                  -                  -                  -                  57,000             5,700                 

PLANNED PURCHASES 443,000     382,000     -             208,000     159,000     466,000     206,963     53,000       147,000     45,693       2,110,656        211,066             
ANNUAL FUND CONTRIBUTION 211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     211,066     2,110,656        
FUND BALANCE 1,926,866  1,755,932  1,966,997  1,970,063  2,022,128  1,767,194  1,771,297  1,929,362  1,993,428  2,158,800  

443  382 

‐

208 

159 

466 

207 
53 

 ‐

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Th
o
u
sa
n
d
s

EQUIPMENT ACQUISITION FUND & EXPENSE

FUND BALANCE PLANNED PURCHASES ANNUAL FUND CONTRIBUTION

In order to stabilize the general fund, 
equipment purchases are estimated 
base on a 10-year projection, and 
1/10th of that amount is reserved 
each budget year.  Actual 
expenditures will draw from the 
reserve account.

METHODOLOGY

Appendix Page 8



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE 
80-YEAR LIFE-CYCLE PROGRAM (GRAVITY SEWERS)

Projected Projected Projected Projected
Project Est. Cost 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

2023 Sewer Televising $400,000 $10,000 $390,000
2024 Sewer Televising $400,000 $100,000 $300,000
2025 Sewer Televising $400,000 $100,000 $300,000
2020 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl, ph 1/2/3 $6,700,162 $1,500,000 $4,750,000
2021 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl $30,993 $10,000
2023 Sewer Rehabilitation $7,510,000 $10,000 $500,000 $7,000,000
2024 Sewer Rehabilitation $7,500,000 $500,000 $7,000,000
Rehab.of Beach Sewers-Bayside Acres Ph A/B/C $3,474,768 $1,560,000 $725,000 $1,000,000
Third St (4th to Mary) $3,524,909 $3,130,000 $275,000
Bret Harte Easement Wall Improvements $3,005,000 $5,000 $2,000,000 $1,000,000
2023 Sewer Improvements-Various Locations $1,910,000 $10,000 $1,900,000
2023 Sewer Pipeburst $1,000,000 $1,000,000
Miscellaneous Gravity Sewer $3,260,000 $60,000 $200,000 $1,000,000 $2,000,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES (hide for rounding) $6,295,000 $11,840,000 $10,900,000 $9,300,000
Rounding $0 $0 $0 $0
TOTAL EXPENDITURES $6,295,000 $11,840,000 $10,900,000 $9,300,000

Beginning Fund Balance $22,607,193 $21,412,193 $12,872,193 $6,272,193
Transfers In from Operation $5,100,000 3,300,000                     4,300,000                     5,100,000           
Estimated Expense ($6,295,000) ($11,840,000) ($10,900,000) ($9,300,000)
Ending Balance $21,412,193 $12,872,193 $6,272,193 $2,072,193

Appendix Page 9



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORTING SCHEDULE
PUMP STATION & FORCE MAIN CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

Estimated Projected Projected
Project Est. Cost 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS
Force Main Condition Assessment $100,000 $100,000
N. Francisco & WRR Pump Station $3,456,070 $8,000 $400,000 $3,000,000
WRR Pump Station $1,700,000 $200,000 $1,500,000
South Francisco Pump Station $6,873
Third Street & Fiberglass Pump Station $1,355,548 $400,000 $800,000
Fiberglass Pump Station $1,000,000 $700,000 $300,000
Isolation Valve Replacement $485,063 $80,000 $350,000
Miscellaneous projects $699,985 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $388,000 $2,250,000 $5,800,000

Beginning Fund Balance $8,211,410 9,823,410            $7,823,410
Transfers In from Operation $2,000,000 $250,000 $250,000
Estimated Expense ($388,000) ($2,250,000) ($5,800,000)
Ending Balance $9,823,410 $7,823,410 $2,273,410

Appendix Page 10



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BUDGET - FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 2024 AND 2025
SUPPORING SCHEDULE
NET POSITION DESIGNATED FOR WORKING CAPITAL

Year July - Dec Year July - Dec

Budgeted Expenditures for subsequent period
Supplies and services 5,257,710$  2,629,000$  5,468,000$       2,734,000$  
CMSA Treatment 6,294,323    3,147,000    6,515,000         3,258,000    
CMSA Debt Service 2,133,294    1,664,000    2,208,000         1,740,000    
Total designation for subsequent year

expenditures to be made before 
December apportionment 7,440,000$  7,732,000$  

2023-24 2024-25

Appendix Page 11



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

Agenda Item No. 4.b. 

DATE: June 16, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors, San Rafael Sanitation District 

FROM: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer 

SUBJECT:  Adopt Resolution Authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to 

Execute a Professional Services Agreement with Park Engineering for 

Engineering and Inspection related services 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt resolution authorizing the District Manager/District Engineer to execute a Professional 

Services Agreement with Park Engineering for Engineering and Inspection related services not to 

exceed $993,568.36. 

BACKGROUND: 

Since last year, District staffing has been unstable, due to various reasons, such as retirement, 

medical leave, paternity leave, and other employment.  The following table is the current staffing 

status: 

POSITIONS STATUS COMMENT 

Administrative Analyst Filled Filled since December 2022 

Administrative Assistant Vacant Interview Phase, Fill in Aug/Sept 2023 

Senior Civil Engineer Vacant Vacant since Apr 2022, Recruiting 

Associate Civil Engineer Filled Filled since Sept 2021 

Junior/Assistant Engineer Vacant Vacant since May 2023, Begin recruit June 

26 

Construction Inspector Vacant Vacant since Jan 2023, Interviews, Fill in 

Aug/Sept 2023 

Consultant At present, Park Engineering is filling-in 

O&M Manager Filled 

Sewer Maintenance Supervisor Vacant Vacant since Sept 2022; 1 sewer 

maintenance worker vacant Sept 2022-Feb 

2023; at present unresolved union issue 

Sewer Maintenance Worker (8 FTE) Filled Filled since Feb 2023 

4b



 2 

ANALYSIS:   

At present, the District does not have sufficient staffing to cover the capital improvement 

projects (CIP).  Only the District Manager, Associate Civil Engineer, and the Operations & 

Maintenance Manager are working on CIP’s.  Fortunately, most of the projects are in the design 

phase.  Please see the attached, “Capital Improvement Projects/Staff Schedule,” which shows the 

staffing level for each of the projects until June 2025.  Park Engineering has provided a full-time 

inspector (and part-time inspector as needed) for the 2020 Sewer Pipe Repair and Replacement, 

Phase 2, and sewer permit inspections.  However, District will need assistance for 

constructability plan review during the design of some of the projects and construction 

management and inspection during construction. 

 

Staff have explored assistance from consultants and found Park Engineering is able to provide 

some of its staff.  Jaemin Park, who has 29 years of civil engineering experience and owner of 

Park Engineering, can provide part-time assistance with constructability (plan) reviews and 

construction management; and its current inspector, Rhea Bernardo, will continue to work on 

District projects along with another inspector, Paul Kelly, who retired from Central Contra Costa 

Sanitary District.  Thus, there will be one part-time engineer and two full-time inspectors from 

July 2023 to December 2024.  Park Engineering is also flexible in the workload and projects due 

to District’s future staffing.  The scope of work is described in detail in Park Engineering’s 

proposal, which is attached as Exhibit “A”.   

 

Park Engineering proposes to perform the engineering and inspection related services on a time-

and-materials basis from July 2023 to December 2024, with a not to exceed $993,568.36.   

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Park Engineering’s one part-time engineer and two full-time inspectors will cost up to 

$993,568.36 and will be funded from the 80-Year Life Cycle Sewer Replacement Program for 

Fiscal Years 2023-24 and 2024-25.   

 

ACTION REQUIRED: 

Staff recommends that the Board adopt the resolution authorizing the District Manager/District 

Engineer to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Park Engineering for engineering 

and inspection related services, not to exceed $993,568.36. 

 

Attachments:   Capital Improvement Projects/Staff Schedule 

Resolution 

  Professional Services Agreement 

  Proposal from Consultant, Exhibit “A”  



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS/STAFF SCHEDULE
MAY 2023 TO JUNE 2025

CIP PROJECTS STAFF CONSULTANT MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN 2024 FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN2025 FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

Third St Sewer Improvement Doris, Kris, Tim CSW/KimleyHorn

Miramar/Miraflores Doris, Kris, Tim CSW Bid Need inspection only

2020 Sewer Pipe Repair/Replac, PH2 David, Kris, Tim Schaaf & Wheeler Park Eng Inspector @ present

Bret Harte Easement Retaining Wall Doris, Kris, TBD Miller Pacific Eng Constructability Review Bid CM & Inspection

2023 Sewer Improvements-Various Location Doris, Kris, TBD Kimley-Horn Constructability Review Bid CM & Inspection

Sewer Televising 2023 Doris, TBD CalCAD Bid

Bayside Acres Beach Sewer Relocation, PhB Doris, Kris, TBD Nute Bid-PhB1 CM & Inspection Bid-PhB2 Bid-PhB3 CM & Inspection Bid-Ph4 CM & Inspection

2022 Sewer Pipe Burst Doris, Kris, TBD Tim (in-house design) Bid CM & Inspection

2022 Spot Paving Doris, Kris, TBD Tim (in-house design) Bid CM & Inspection

2023 Sewer Rehabilitation* Doris, Kris, TBD Schaaf & Wheeler Bid CM & Inspection?

Isolation Valves Replacement Doris, Kris, TBD Ewers Bid CM & Inspection

Third St Pump Station Impts Doris, Kris, Tim Nute Bid Equip Procurement

Fiberglass Pump Station Impts Doris, Kris, Tim Nute Bid Equip Procurement

N Fran/W Railroad PS PreDesign Study Doris, Kris Nute 

N. Francisco PS Impts Doris, Kris Nute Bid Equip Procurement

W Railroad PS Impts Doris, Kris Nute Bid Equip Procurement

Pump Station & Force Main CIP Plan Study Doris, Kris Nute

CM & Inspection/ Inspection only - propose consultant assistance

Design & % Submittal dates
Bid
Construction
Construction & Inspection by consultant

2024-252022-23 2023-24



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  23-1271 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN RAFAEL 
SANITATION DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE DISTRICT MANAGER/DISTRICT 
ENGINEER TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

PARK ENGINEERING, INC., FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION 
INSPECTION RELATED SERVICES FOR VARIOUS PROJECTS AS  

SPECIFIED BY THE DISTRICT NOT TO EXCEED $993,568.36 
 

 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT, 

COUNTY OF MARIN, hereby resolves as follows: 

 The District Manager/District Engineer is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf 

of the San Rafael Sanitation District, a Professional Services Agreement with Park 

Engineering, Inc., for Engineering and construction Inspection related services for 

Various Permit Compliance Projects as specified by the District, a copy of which is 

hereby attached and by this reference made a part hereof. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Special Meeting of the San Rafael Sanitation 

District Board of Directors held on the 16th day of June 2023 by the following vote, to 

wit: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT/ABSTAIN: 
 
  SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 
 
 

         
  Kate Collins, Chair 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 

   
Maribeth Bushey, Acting Secretary 



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH PARK ENGINEERING, INC., FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION 

INSPECTION RELATED SERVICES FOR VARIOUS PROJECTS AS SPECIFIED BY THE 

DISTRICT NOT TO EXCEED $993,568.36 

 

 This Agreement is made and entered into this 16TH day of June 2023 by and between the 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT (hereinafter "DISTRICT"), and PARK ENGINEERING, INC. 

(hereinafter “CONSULTANT”). 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the DISTRICT has selected PARK ENGINEERING, INC., to perform the 

required construction inspection related services for various projects (hereinafter “PROJECT”); and 

 WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT has offered to render certain specialized professional 

services in connection with this Project. 

AGREEMENT 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

DISTRICT and CONSULTANT have outlined the scope of services to be provided, and related expenses 

as described in Exhibit  “A” attached and incorporated herein. 

 2. PROJECT COORDINATION 

  A.  DISTRICT.  The District Manager/District Engineer shall be the 

representative of the DISTRICT for all purposes under this Agreement.  The District Manager/District 

Engineer is hereby designated as the PROJECT MANAGER for the DISTRICT and said PROJECT 

MANAGER shall supervise all aspects of the progress and execution of this Agreement. 

  B.  CONSULTANT.  CONSULTANT shall assign a single PROJECT 

DIRECTOR to have overall responsibility for the progress and execution of this Agreement for 

CONSULTANT.  JAEMIN PARK is hereby designated as the PROJECT DIRECTOR for 

CONSULTANT. Should circumstances or conditions subsequent to the execution of this Agreement 

require a substitute PROJECT DIRECTOR for any reason, the CONSULTANT shall notify the 

DISTRICT within ten (10) business days of the substitution. 



  Agreement • 2 

 3. DUTIES OF CONSULTANT 

  CONSULTANT shall perform the duties and/or provide services as follows; the 

CONSULTANT agrees to provide professional services as a Construction Inspection Consultant to 

provide services outlined in the Proposal from CONSULTANT dated June 13, 2023, marked Exhibit "A", 

attached hereto, and incorporated herein by this reference. The CONSULTANT agrees to be available and 

perform the work as required by the District. 

 4. DUTIES OF THE DISTRICT 

  DISTRICT shall perform the duties as described and incorporated herein. 

 5. COMPENSATION 

  For the full performance of the services described herein by CONSULTANT, 

DISTRICT shall pay CONSULTANT on a time and materials basis for services rendered in accordance 

with the rates shown on the current fee schedule as described in Exhibit "A" attached and incorporated 

herein. The total payment will not exceed the $18,588.00 as shown on the Proposal Budget, set out in 

Exhibit “A”. 

  Payment will be made monthly upon receipt by PROJECT MANAGER of 

itemized invoices submitted by CONSULTANT. 

 6. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

  The term of this Agreement shall be from the date of execution until the Project 

is complete. 

 7. TERMINATION 

  A. Discretionary.  Either party may terminate this Agreement without cause 

upon thirty (30) days written notice mailed or personally delivered to the other party. 

  B. Cause.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon ten 

(10) days written notice mailed or personally delivered to the other party, and the notified party's failure 

to cure or correct the cause of the termination notice, to the reasonable satisfaction of the party giving 

such notice, within thirty (30) days of the receipt of said notice. 

  C. Effect of Termination. Upon receipt of notice of termination, neither 

party shall incur additional obligations under any provision of this Agreement without the prior written 

consent of the other. 

  D. Return of Documents.  Upon termination, any and all DISTRICT 

documents or materials provided to CONSULTANT and any and all of CONSULTANT’s documents and 

materials prepared for or relating to the performance of its duties under this Agreement, shall be delivered 

to DISTRICT as soon as possible, but not later than thirty (30) days after termination. 

  



  Agreement • 3 

 

 8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 

  The written documents and materials prepared by the CONSULTANT in 

connection with the performance of its duties under this Agreement shall be the sole property of 

DISTRICT.  DISTRICT may use said property for any purpose, including projects not contemplated by 

this Agreement. 

 9. INSPECTION AND AUDIT 

  Upon reasonable notice, CONSULTANT shall make available to DISTRICT, or 

its agent, for inspection and audit, all documents and materials maintained by CONSULTANT in 

connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement. CONSULTANT shall fully cooperate 

with DISTRICT or its agent in any such audit or inspection. 

 10. ASSIGNABILITY 

   The parties agree that they shall not assign or transfer any interest in this 

Agreement nor the performance of any of their respective obligations hereunder, without the prior written 

consent of the other party, and any attempt to so assign this Agreement or any rights, duties or obligations 

arising hereunder shall be void and of no effect. 

 11. INSURANCE 

 A.  During the term of this Agreement, CONSULTANT shall maintain, at no 

expense to DISTRICT, the following insurance policies: 

 1.  A commercial general liability insurance policy in the minimum 

amount of one million ($1,000,000) dollars per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate for death, bodily 

injury, personal injury, or property damage; 

  2.  An automobile liability (owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles) 

insurance policy in the minimum amount of one million ($1,000,000) dollars per occurrence; 

  3.  If any licensed professional performs any of the services required to 

be performed under this Agreement, a professional liability insurance policy in the minimum amount of 

one million ($1,000,000) dollars to cover any claims arising out of the CONSULTANT's performance of 

services under this Agreement. 

 B.  The insurance coverage required of the CONSULTANT by Section 11. A., 

shall also meet the following requirements: 

 

 

 

 



  Agreement • 4 

 1.  The insurance shall be primary with respect to any insurance or 

coverage maintained by DISTRICT and shall not call upon DISTRICT's insurance or coverage for any 

contribution; 

 2.  Except for professional liability insurance, the insurance policies shall 

be endorsed for contractual liability and personal injury; 

 3.  Except for professional liability insurance, the insurance policies shall 

be specifically endorsed to include the DISTRICT, its officers, agents, and employees as additionally 

named insureds under the policies; 

 4. CONSULTANT shall provide to PROJECT MANAGER, (a) 

Certificates of Insurance evidencing the insurance coverage required herein, and (b) specific 

endorsements naming DISTRICT, its officers, agents and employees, as additional insureds under the 

policies; 

 5.  The insurance policies shall provide that the insurance carrier shall 

not cancel or terminate said insurance policies except upon thirty (30) days written notice to DISTRICT’s 

PROJECT MANAGER; 

 6.  If the insurance is written on a Claims Made Form, then, following 

termination of this Agreement, said insurance coverage shall survive for a period of not less than five 

years as long as the insurance is reasonably affordable and available; 

 7. The insurance policies shall provide for a retroactive date of placement 

coinciding with the effective date of this Agreement; 

 8. The insurance shall be approved as to form and sufficiency by 

PROJECT MANAGER and the County Counsel. 

  C. If it employs any person, CONSULTANT shall maintain Workers’ 

Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance, as required by the State Labor Code and other 

applicable laws and regulations, and as necessary to protect both CONSULTANT and DISTRICT against 

all liability for injuries to CONSULTANT’s officers and employees. 

  D.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions exceeding $20,000 in 

CONSULTANT’s insurance policies must be declared to and approved by the PROJECT MANAGER 

and the County Counsel.  At District’s option, the deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to 

DISTRICT shall be reduced or eliminated to DISTRICT's satisfaction, or CONSULTANT shall procure a 

bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claims administration, attorney’s fees, 

and defense expenses. 



  Agreement • 5 

 

 12. INDEMNIFICATION 

  CONSULTANT shall indemnify, release, and hold harmless DISTRICT, its 

officers, and employees against any claim, demand, suit, judgment, loss, liability, or expense of any kind, 

including attorney's fees, arising out of or resulting in any way from any negligent acts or omissions or 

negligence of CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’s officers, agents, and employees in the performance 

of their duties and obligations under this Agreement. 

 13. NONDISCRIMINATION 

   CONSULTANT shall not discriminate, in any way, against any person on the 

basis of age, sex, race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin or disability in connection with or related 

to the performance of its duties and obligations under this Agreement. 

 14. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 

   CONSULTANT shall use due professional care to observe and comply with all 

applicable Federal, State and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations in the performance of its 

duties and obligations under this Agreement. CONSULTANT shall perform all services under this 

Agreement in accordance with these laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations. 

 15. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES 

   DISTRICT and CONSULTANT do not intend, by any provision of this 

Agreement, to create in any third party any benefit or right owed by one party, under the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, to the other party. 

 16. NOTICES 

   All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given under 

this Agreement, including any notice of change of address, shall be in writing and given by personal 

delivery or deposited with the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed to the parties 

intended to be notified. Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of personal delivery or, if mailed, 

upon the date of deposit with the United States Postal Service. Notice shall be given as follows: 

 

 TO DISTRICT:  Ms. Doris Toy, P.E. (Project Manager) 

   San Rafael Sanitation District 

   111 Morphew Street 

   San Rafael, CA  94901 

 

 TO CONSULTANT: Mr. Jaemin Park, P.E. (Project Director) 

   Park Engineering, Inc. 

   372 Village Square 

   Orinda, CA 94563 

    

 



  Agreement • 6 

  

 17. INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT 

  For the purposes and for the duration of this Agreement, CONSULTANT, its 

officers, agents, and employees shall act in the capacity of an Independent Contractor, and not as 

employees of the DISTRICT.  CONSULTANT and DISTRICT expressly intend and agree that the status 

of CONSULTANT, its officers, agents, and employees be that of an Independent Contractor and not that 

of an employee of DISTRICT. 

 

 18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT -- AMENDMENTS 

  A.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement, all exhibits attached, and all 

documents expressly incorporated by reference represent the entire Agreement of the parties with respect 

to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

  B.   This written Agreement shall supersede any and all prior agreements, oral or 

written, regarding the subject matter between the CONSULTANT and the DISTRICT. 

  C.  No other agreement, promise, or statement, written or oral, relating to the 

subject matter of this Agreement shall be valid or binding except by way of a written amendment to this 

Agreement. 

  D.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be altered or modified 

except by a written amendment to this Agreement signed by the CONSULTANT and the DISTRICT. 

  E.  If any conflicts arise between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

the terms and conditions of the attached exhibits or the documents expressly incorporated by reference, 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control. 

 

 19. SET-OFF AGAINST DEBTS 

  CONSULTANT agrees that DISTRICT may deduct from any payment due to 

CONSULTANT under this Agreement any monies which CONSULTANT owes DISTRICT under any 

ordinance, agreement, contract, or resolution for any unpaid taxes, fees, licenses, assessments, unpaid 

checks, or other amounts. 

 

 20. WAIVERS 

  The waiver by either party of any breach or violation of any term, covenant, or 

condition of this Agreement or of any ordinance, law, or regulation, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of 

any other term, covenant, condition, ordinance, law, or regulation or of any subsequent breach or 

violation of the same or other term, covenant, condition, ordinance, law or regulation. The subsequent 

acceptance by either party of any fee, performance, or other consideration which may become due or 

owing under this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach or violation by 

the other party of any term, condition, or covenant of this Agreement or any applicable law, ordinance, or 

regulation. 



  Agreement • 7 

 

 21. CITY BUSINESS LICENSE/OTHER TAXES 

  CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain during the duration of this Agreement 

a CITY business license as required by the San Rafael Municipal Code.  CONSULTANT shall pay any 

and all State and Federal taxes and any other applicable taxes.  CONSULTANT’s taxpayer identification 

number is 46-3675877, and CONSULTANT certifies under penalty of perjury that said taxpayer 

identification number is correct. 

 

 22. APPLICABLE LAW 

  The laws of the State of California shall govern this Agreement. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day, 

month and year first above written. 

 

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT CONTRACTOR 

 

 

     PARK ENGINEERING, INC.  

Doris Toy, P.E. 

District Manager/District Engineer 

    

APPROVED AS TO FORM:   By:  

      Jaemin Park, P.E.   

      

     Title: President  

Kerry Laiw Gerchow 

Deputy County Counsel  

      

      

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Orinda Office 
372 Village Square 
Orinda, CA 94563 
Tel:  925-257-2508 
Fax:  925-401-7030 

Emeryville Office 
3960 Adeline Street, #3 
Emeryville, CA 94608 
Tel:  925-257-2508 
Fax:  925-401-7030 

June 13, 2023 

Doris Toy 
District Manager / District Engineer 
San Rafael Sanitation District 
111 Morphew Street 
San Rafael, CA 94901 

RE:   Proposal for Construction Management & Inspection Services for 
Multiple CIP and Maintenance Projects 

Dear Doris, 

Park Engineering, Inc. is pleased to submit personnel qualifications and a related cost 
proposal to provide construction management and inspection services for multiple CIP 
and maintenance projects as specified by the District.  We appreciate the opportunity to 
continue working with the Sanitation District.  

As discussed through various conversations, the District is in need of a part-time 
construction manager and 2 full-time construction inspectors to assist in sewer-related 
capital improvement projects and limited part time inspection for permit compliance.  
The various projects will share a part-time construction manager with the full-time 
inspectors monitoring multiple projects for contract compliance and documentation of 
activities.  I am proposing Jaemin Park, PE, as the part-time construction manager and 
Rhea Bernardo and Paul Kelly as the construction inspectors.  Jaemin will manage some 
of the various projects as the construction manager, working closely with District 
personnel, and also assist with upcoming District projects with Constructability Reviews 
and other various project manager services prior to construction.  Rhea and Paul will 
work on multiple projects for contract compliance and work closely with Jaemin and/or 
District personnel throughout each of the various project efforts.  

Our team can meet the challenges anticipated for the varied scope of work of the 
multiple projects detailed by the District. We will ensure that the work is successfully 
completed and documented in accordance with the District’s and all local requirements 
and regulations. Our team has the necessary technical expertise, as well as the soft skills 
required to complete this assignment successfully and efficiently.  Team resumes and a 
proposed cost estimate are included for your information and review. Hours can be 
adjusted as needed to fit the needs of the assignments and the District.   

Should you have any questions or need additional information, please do not hesitate 
to contact me. I can be reached at 372 Village Square, Orinda, CA 94563, E-mail: 
spatterson@park-eng.com and Cell: (510) 701-0319. 

Sincerely, 

Steve Patterson, P.E. 
Vice President

4b Exhibit A

mailto:spatterson@park-eng.com


 

3. PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

 
 Page 1              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

SUMMARY OF EXPERIENCE and CAPABILITIES 
Company Profile 
Park Engineering, Inc. was founded in 2013 with the 
vision of providing high quality construction 
management, construction inspection, 
program/project management, project controls, and 
contract administration services to public agencies 
on transportation and infrastructure projects.   

The firm’s guiding principle is to add value to 
public agencies by furnishing high level technical 
resources and expertise.  Our approach combines 
highly developed engineering and management 
capabilities with proven problem solving and 
relationship building skills.   

Park Engineering specializes in providing 
construction management, construction 
inspection, program/project management and 
contract administration services on projects with 
federal, state, bond, grant and other specialty 
funding requiring coordination with and audits by, 
Caltrans, FHWA and other oversight agencies.   

Certifications 
State of California CUCP DBE (No. 41711) 
State of California DGS SBE (No. 1757722) 
State of California PUC MBE (No. 17000825) 
Services  
• Construction management  
• Construction Inspection 
• Project management / program management  
• Resident engineering 
• SWPPP implementation and inspection 
• Scheduling and schedule control 
• Cost estimating and cost control  
• Utility coordination 
• Claims analysis, negotiation and resolution 

support 
• Value engineering 
• Permit compliance  
• Constructability and bid-ability review 
• Bid advertisement and award process 
• Staff augmentation 
• Federal and state audit support 
• Federal fund reimbursement and project 

closeout 

 
Our key personnel have experience delivering 
projects of this nature for transportation and local 
agencies that include new roadway and existing 
street improvements for public agency and private 
development projects. In addition, we have 
extensive experience with administering 
construction projects that receive funding from 
multiple sources, including FHWA funds. We have 
the skills necessary to ensure thorough reporting 
and strict adherence to federal guidelines. 
 

Year Founded 2013 
Form of Organization Corporation 
Location of Offices Headquarters: 

Orinda, CA 
Additional Office: 
Emeryville, CA 

Number of Employees 4 Project Managers/ 
Resident Engineers 
18 Construction 
Inspectors 

Terminated Contracts None 



 
 

RESUME 

 
 Page 2              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

JAEMIN PARK, P.E., PROJECT MANAGER/RESIDENT ENGINEER 

Years of Experience 
29 

Education 
B.S. Civil Engineering, Cal Poly Pomona 1992 

Licenses and Registrations 
Professional Engineer:  California, #C54476, 1995  
Licensed General Contractor #770073, California 1999 

Key Qualifications 
Jaemin has 29 years of experience providing project management, construction management, 
construction administration, and design of highway, bridge, building and public works infrastructure 
projects throughout California. He has worked with state, regional and local agencies in the capacity of 
project principal, project manager, resident engineer, structures representative, construction inspector, 
project engineer, and design engineer.  He has contributed to numerous constructability/bidability 
reviews and value engineering studies.  He has provided claims analysis, mitigation and resolution 
support to state, regional and local agencies.  Jaemin is an expert in federally funded projects including 
HBP, HBRR, ARRA, SRTS, NTPP, and TIGER funds. 

Representative Project Experience 
• 2013/2014 and 2014/2015 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project, City of Emeryville, CA 

Jaemin is the Project Manager and Resident Engineer for this $2 million project that consists of 
rehabilitation of existing sewer mains and laterals on major roads throughout the City. Specific 
items of work include locating and potholing utilities, traffic control, excavation, sewer pipe 
installation, pipe bursting, manhole construction, manhole rehabilitation, sewer lateral 
abandonment, video inspection, sewer flow diversion, dewatering, soil disposal, trench shoring, 
pavement restoration, and pavement delineation. Pipe bursting work involves replacing existing 
4” and 6” laterals and 8”and 12” mains with HDPE pipe with butt fusion welded joints. Additional 
work includes open cut excavation and installation of 14” and 22” mains with butt fusion welded 
HDPE pipe. The project also involves jacking and boring a 36” steel casing, using a micro 
tunneling method and installing a 22” HDPE main under an existing bridge on Powell Street, 
which is the busiest street in Emeryville. 

• Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation on Shellmound Street, 62nd Street, 63rd Street, and Overland 
Avenue, City of Emeryville, CA 
Jaemin was the Project Manager and Resident Engineer for this $1.2 million project that consisted of 
rehabilitation of existing sewer mains and manholes on four streets in the City. Specific items of 
work include locating and potholing utilities, traffic control, excavation and shoring, sewer pipe 
installation manhole construction and rehabilitation, pipe bursting, sewer lateral abandonment, 
video inspection, sewer flow diversion, dewatering, soil disposal, pavement restoration, and 
pavement delineation. Pipe replacement work included 4”, 6” and 8” pipe bursting with HDPE pipe, 
12”, 15”, 21” and 24” VCP installation by open cut, and 4”, 8”, 12”, 18” and 24” HDPE pipe 
installation by open cut. Additional work included point repairs of existing sewer mains, 
rehabilitation of existing manholes and installation of new manholes. 

• San Pablo Avenue Complete Streets Project (Federally Funded), City of San Pablo, CA  
Jaemin is the Project Manager and Resident Engineer for this $5.3 million federally funded project 
complete streets project, which is a roadway improvement project including streetscape and 
pavement rehabilitation.  The Project is located along San Pablo Avenue between Rivers Street and 
Hilltop Drive.  The project is to improves San Pablo Avenue for all roadway users by adding Class 2 



 
 

RESUME 

 
 Page 3              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

bike lanes in both directions of travel, constructing sidewalk along the western side of San Pablo 
(southbound direction) from Rivers Street to Hilltop Drive and from Rivers Street to Lancaster Drive 
along the eastern side (northbound direction).  Existing traffic signals at all intersections will be 
replaced or modified and a new signalized intersection at La Puerta will be constructed.  Two new 
retaining walls will be constructed from Rivers to Lancaster and a new soil nail wall will be 
constructed just north of Robert Miller Drive to allow the roadway to be widened sufficiently to 
accommodate the new facilities for non-motorized roadway use.  Additional improvements include 
storm drains, new electrical, standard and decorative street lighting, new trees and landscaping, and 
grinding and HMA overlay of majority of the roadway. The project limits are in both the City of San 
Pablo and City of Richmond, requiring coordination with both cities. 

• John Daly Boulevard Streetscape Improvements Project (federally funded), City of Daly City, CA  
Jaemin was the Resident Engineer/Project Manager for this $3.3 million federally funded streetscape 
improvements project that includes roadway modifications, installation of a concrete walkway, ADA 
compliant ramps, landscaping, irrigation using recycled water, bioswales, Class II bicycle lanes, and 
pedestrian amenities such as benches and trash/recycling receptacles.  The project narrowed the 
center median, installed streetlights on the outside medians, installed new decorative street lights for 
the pedestrian walkway, modified traffic signals at three intersections, repaired base sections of 
roadway with deep lift HMA, resurfaced the entire length of the project with HMA, installed new 
striping and decorative stamped AC crosswalks.  The project required coordination with Caltrans, 
Samtrans, SF MUNI, utility companies, and various departments within the City. 

• Contra Costa Boulevard Improvements and Pavement Rehabilitation Project (Federally Funded), 
City of Pleasant Hill, CA  
Jaemin was the Project Manager and Resident Engineer for this $4.7 million project funded through 
three federal HSIP and STP grant funds and CCTA measure J grant fund. The project constructs traffic 
safety, roadway and other “Complete Street” improvements, including full depth pavement 
restoration, intersection and traffic signal upgrades, bike lanes, enhanced sidewalks and crosswalks, 
new irrigation and landscaping, and decorative street median and pedestrian lighting along a mile 
long section of the main arterial through a commercial district.  The project required administration 
in accordance with Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual and was subject to both Caltrans 
FHWA audits. 

• Golf Club Road Bridge Replacement (Federally funded), City of Pleasant Hill, CA 
Jaemin is the Project Manager and Resident Engineer for this $4.5 million project that consists of 
replacing Golf Club Road Bridge over Grayson Creek, a multi-span concrete bridge on wood supports, 
with a new concrete slab bridge on concrete pile extensions. The project also includes street 
improvements with full depth structural section replacement with new base and AC paving, decorative 
street lighting, enhanced architectural features, color concrete for bridge, curb & gutter, sidewalk and 
median island.  The project funded by federally HBP program and CCTA measure J grant fund, requiring 
contract administration in accordance with Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual and subject to 
Caltrans audits. 

• Kirker Pass Road Northbound Truck Climbing Lane Project (Federally Funded), Contra Costa County  
Jaemin was the Structure Representative for this $14 million federally funded project that 
constructed a truck climbing lane in the northbound direction. The project is approximately 1 mile in 
length, beginning at the Concord Pavilion and ending at the northern Hess Road intersection. Road 
widening required multiple retaining walls due to the existing slopes and drainage adjacent to the 
roadway. The project also included pavement rehabilitation on the north and south bound lanes 
between the City of Concord/ County limits to approximately 4,200 feet north of North Hess Road for 
a total of about 1.6 miles. The total project length is about 2 miles. The project was funded by Federal 
grants, State SB1 funds, and local County funds. 



 
 

RESUME 

 
 Page 4              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

RHEA BERNARDO, CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER/CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR 

Years of Experience 
20 

Education 
B.S. Civil Engineering, Mapua Institute of Technology, 2000 
 
Certifications and Training 
Registered Professional Civil Engineer, Philippines 
 
Key Qualifications 
Rhea Bernardo has spent over 20 years in the engineering and construction industry working as design 
engineer, construction manager, and construction inspector for building and roadway construction 
projects for private entities and public agencies.  She has extensive knowledge and experience with 
building codes as well as Caltrans standards.  She is proficient in the execution of construction contracts, 
at the city, state, and federal levels. Her experience includes oversight for projects that include roadway 
reconstruction and rehabilitation, new and existing city intersection and streetscape 
construction/rehabilitation, underground utilities, structural components of large office buildings, 
condominiums, hotels and apartments. She can work independently with the contractor and as a 
member of a team to get the project to a successful completion. 
 
Project Experience 
• Dublin Blvd Pavement Rehabilitation Project (federally funded), City of Dublin, CA 

Rhea was the Construction Inspector for this $3.5M federally funded project which included street 
resurfacing of approximately 1 mile of Dublin Boulevard between Scarlett Drive and Hacienda Drive. 
Work included curb ramp replacements, cold planning and overlay, dig-out repair, pavement 
markings, adjusting utilities to grade, and modifications to traffic signals, including adding traffic 
cameras. Dublin Blvd is one of the City’s main commute corridors, with three lanes in each direction 
with left and right turn lanes and bike lanes and is heavily congested. Ensuring the contractor was 
following approved traffic control plans was extremely important.  

• Dublin Citywide Energy Upgrades Project, City of Dublin, CA 
Rhea was the construction inspector on this $25M design/build project that involves the 
design/builder to perform an Investment Grade Audit and develop and implement approved energy 
projects throughout the City.  The individual projects to improve energy efficiency in the City 
included: Solar panels at ten sites plus battery storage at four locations 
o Replacement of aging generators for emergency back-up power 
o Back-up power for 22 traffic signals using either hydrogen fuel cells or lithium-ion batteries 
o Building energy efficiency upgrades, including replacement of older heating and air conditioning 

systems at eight sites to more efficient models combined with smart controls 
o LED lighting replacements at 15 locations 
o New electric vehicle charging stations at the Dublin Sports Grounds and Public Safety Complex. 

• Imola Ave/SR-29 Bus Improvements, Napa Valley Transportation Authority, CA 
Rhea was the construction inspector on the Imola Ave Bus Improvements project.  The project is a 
$2.2M locally funded project that included widening of the northbound off ramp and southbound 
SR-29 on ramp to construct new bus/transit stops.  Improvements included new concrete curb, 
gutter & sidewalk, HMA paving of the ramps and the parking area, pedestrian lighting, landscaping & 
irrigation, and traffic signal upgrades. 
 



 
 

RESUME 

 
 Page 5              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

• Building Blocks Enterprise (111 successful projects) – Binangonan, Rizal, Philippines 
Rhea was the president of Building Blocks Enterprise overall in-charge of construction process, from 
planning, design, construction, and project closeout. 
o Supervised construction of real estate land developments and renovation projects 

such as: 4-story commercial-residential building (2.5 acres), private vacation resort 
(1.5 acres), various residential projects, condominium unit upgrades and interior 
design, landscaping with swimming pools, fountains, man-made pond and other 
water features, commercial kiosk fabrication, and woodworking. 

o Managed eight teams of full-time and part-time professionals and skilled workers - 
engineers, architect, and interior designer. 

o Resolved issues and recommended actions based on production and compliance 
reports. 

o Achieved under-budget and on-time project management to adhere to project goals. 
• Megaworld Corporation (Commercial Division), Mandaluyong City, Philippines  

Rhea was Building Administrator of Megaworld managed property: California Garden Square (249.6 
acres mixed-use development complex) 
o Established effective operations management and technical engineering systems for 

the property. 
o Kept properties in compliance with local, state and federal regulations. 
o Discussed property projects and developments, leasing status, and marketing 

strategies as well as property and engineering concerns with the Megaworld 
Corporation Commercial Division president and committee members, and developed 
strategic resolutions. 

o Developed annual operating budgets and forecasts, as well as sales and marketing 
plans. 

o Conducted inspections of property grounds, buildings and equipment to identify 
maintenance concerns and direct timely repairs. 

o Maximized rental income while minimizing expenses through effective planning and 
control. 

o Communicated effectively with owners, tenants, and on-site associates. 
o Introduced and monitored effective lease renewal programs to maintain high 

occupancy rates. 
o Collected and maintained careful records of rental payments and payment dates. 
o Generated professional networks by engaging in professional, industry and 

government organizations. 
o Managed property documents for permanent records and regulatory requirements. 
o Responded to Common Area Maintenance (CAM) inquiries. 
o Delivered emergency 24-hour on-call service for tenants on building issues. 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

RESUME 

 
 Page 6              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

PAUL KELLY, SENIOR CONSTRUCTION INSPECTOR 
 
Years of Experience 
39 

Education 
High School Diploma, Alhambra High School, 1985 

Certifications and Training 
Confined Space Certified     
First Aid/CPR 
Competent Person Training 

Key Qualifications 
Paul Kelly has 39 years of experience working on sanitary infrastructure projects with extensive 
experience working for Central Contra Costa Sanitary District (CCCSD). He spent over 24 years with 
construction inspection for development and capital projects and over 15 years on maintenance and 
service of sanitary systems. Paul has experience in installation and inspection of residential and 
commercial projects including sewer, storm drain, pump stations, bridges, creek crossings, hospitals, 
recycled water treatment and roadway construction. He is proficient in the execution of construction 
plans and contracts, as well as construction inspection at the county and state level.  Paul is experience 
with Inspection of sewer lines from 4” to 120”, pump stations, residential and commercial lines, forced 
pumped main line multiple-user, lower pressure sewer systems, manhole installation, pipe bursting, 
installation of reclaimed water lines ¾” to 10 “and meter installations.  He also has extensive experience 
with concrete work including cast in place and precast manholes, grease interceptors, traps, sand-oil 
interceptors, and concrete mix designs.  Paul has experience with earth work and pavement renovation 
including grading, backfill and compactions, curb, gutter and sidewalk, and HMA paving.  He has 
performed inspections for acceptance including air and hydrostatic testing, video inspections of sewer 
and storm drain lines.  He has expertise with directional boring and micro tunneling, jack and bore 
installations, pipe bursting, slip lining, and CIPP for sewer lines.   

Representative Project Experience: 

• Broadway Plaza - Walnut Creek, CA.   
Paul worked on a very challenging design/ build and rebuild of the whole sewer system for 
Broadway Plaza corridor. He coordinated with all agencies to ensure proper installation of all new 
utilities and rehabilitation of existing infrastructure. He was able to facilitate the redesign of several 
mainline and commercial laterals to meet the design of the entire plaza itself, including installation 
of several grease interceptors and had to run laterals under the podium of the Walnut Creek 
channel for kiosks. Installed a 23‘deep pump station for the Apple Store in very challenging 
circumstances. 

• Dougherty Valley Planned Community – San Ramon, CA.  
Paul was the Development Service Supervisor inspecting and overseeing the installation of all the 
sewers for the planned community with the 15,000 homes, commercial, schools, Junior College and 
all parks. Started with the backbone, approximately 18,000 LF of 18” and 24 “mainline approx. 25’ 
deep to the portal tunneled to Alcosta Rd and then to the Central Sanitation pump station. Multiple 
subdivisions, approximately 400,000 LF 8“PVC and all tie-ins to the public main, several bridge 
crossings the bypass of Dougherty Creek and new Dougherty corridor, temp pump stations, 
collaborated with multiple agencies in coordination of each phase to keep all utilities in the road 
working together and worked with environmental groups to protect open spaces trees ETC. 
Extensive design review of each phase of a very fasted paced project. Maintained all reports, As-



 
 

RESUME 

 
 Page 7              San Rafael Sanitation District 

CM &Inspection Services for 
Various Projects, 2023-24 

Builts compaction testing to completion and coordinated with City of San Ramon and developers to 
bring mains online and protect Central Sanitation system as subdivision were becoming occupied.  
The project included 1949 Manholes, 79 Rodding Inlets, 6”- 13,668 LF (12,993 LF private, 675 LF 
Central San), 8”- 404,020 LF (21,371 LF private, 382,649 LF Central San), 16” - 5,556 LF (all Central 
San), 18” – 13,278 LF (all Central San), 24” – 4,100 LF (all Central San). 

• Alhambra Valley Project – Martinez, CA.  
Paul worked as the Development Services Supervisor inspected and overseeing the project to 
provide sewer to portions of the Alhambra Valley and surrounding areas. The project got 
homeowners off of septic and on public sewer which included buildings and a syphon under 
Alhambra Creek in. Installed 14,600 LF 8” and 10 “sewer and 80 + MHS. At completion, work with 
paving contractor to grind and repave and reconstruct all streets to city and county specifications. 
Paul dealt with homeowners on lateral placement, shot grade to correct slope to main, and worked 
with several agencies to ensure protection of all other infrastructure. The project brought 161 
homeowners off of septic and on to public sewer. 

• John Muir Hospital - Walnut Creek, CA. 
Paul was the Development Services Supervisor on all three phases of the remodel of the existing 
hospital for a new parking garage/Cancer Treatment Facility. Paul managed and oversaw the 
inspection of all re-route of district sewer mains and installation of several private mains, extensive 
design build through existing infrastructure to sewer throughout all phases. High pressure PG&E gas 
main lent to challenging design constraints and was able to remedy by extending main and add 120 
LF to get away from gas main enough to install manhole to accept on site sewer system. All work 
had to have careful coordination with the General contractor and all Agencies to include PG&E, 
EBMUD and City of Walnut Creek, to perform sewer work and keep the hospital free of any 
downtime. Very tight working conditions with grease interceptors working around live high-pressure 
streamlines. Paul facilitated key redesign changes to keep the project moving and came away with a 
great product.  

• Wilder Road New Home Development Orinda, CA. 
Paul was the Development Services Supervisor and oversaw, inspected, and managed the Wilder 
Road Project, a developer funded project for 500 homes. The project was 25,000 LF of 8” PVC, 1200 
LF 8” DIP, 151 manhole, 2180 LF 4” C900 Force main, two City owned CCCSD maintained pump 
stations and 1400 LF 8” private main and 9 manholes to serve the new sports fields and the new 
Orinda city corporate yard. Worked with the city, county and CCCSD on all mitigation constraints for 
offsite sewer to protect wildlife and trees. Oversaw and inspected two CCCSD pump stations built 
with stand-by power generators and tested all pumps and alarms to bring pump stations on line.  

• Rheem Blvd Moraga, CA 
Paul was the Development Service Supervisor inspecting and overseeing the inspectors on the 
installation of all public and private sewers of a large subdivision broke into two parts, tie-ins on 
Rheem Blvd and on the EBRPD Pedestrian Trail, and worked with EBMUD and EBRPD to rework trail 
as to set up directional drilling equipment. The project included directional drilling 675 LF of 8” HDPE 
DR11 up a 18% slope to a manhole at the top of the subdivision.  Reestablished and re-paved the 
existing pedestrian trail.  Project consisted of 35 + homes 21,000 LF 8” PVC, 900 LF of private C900, 
20 manholes. The work also included a very large slide area. Coordinated with county and Town of 
Moraga to remove and replace 600 LF of existing main while grade walls and tie backs were 
installed. Reinstalled existing sewer to original grade with manhole installed to feed subdivision.  

 



COST PROPOSAL

Position Regular       
Rate

Overtime Rate
Various Project 

Hours
Overtime Hours Cost

July 2023 through December 2023
Jaemin Park, P.E.
Construction / Project Manager

$214.50 $214.50 200 0 42,900.57$              

Rhea Bernardo
Inspector

$138.21 $207.32 1000 20 142,356.92$            

Paul Kelly
Inspector

$165.85 $248.78 800 20 137,657.76$            

Sub-Total = 322,915.25$           

January 2024 through June 2024
Jaemin Park, P.E.
Construction / Project Manager

$214.50 $214.50 200 0 42,900.57$              

Rhea Bernardo
Inspector

$142.82 $214.23 800 20 118,538.62$            

Paul Kelly
Inspector

$165.85 $248.78 800 20 137,657.76$            

Sub-Total = 299,096.95$           

July 2024 through December 2024
Jaemin Park, P.E.
Construction / Project Manager

$214.50 $214.50 250 0 53,625.71$              

Rhea Bernardo
Inspector

$142.82 $214.23 1000 20 147,102.15$            

Paul Kelly
Inspector

$165.85 $248.78 1000 20 170,828.30$            

Sub-Total = 371,556.16$           

18-Month Total: 993,568.36$           

2.  Based on part-time construction manager and 2 full-time inspectors from July 2023 through December 2024
1.  Rate includes vehicle, mobile phone, laptop and all equipment required to perform required duties.

San Rafael Sanitation District

Construction Management & Inspection Services
Multiple CIP & Maintenance Projects, 2023-24



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

Agenda Item No. 4.c. 

DATE: June 16, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors, San Rafael Sanitation District 

FROM: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer 

SUBJECT:  Approve the updated Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the updated Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan. 

BACKGROUND: 

Per Statewide Waste Discharge Requirements (Order No. 2006-0003-DWQ), the District is 

required to develop a Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan, which is a comprehensive plan 

that details the activities and strategies that the District would use to manage its sewer collection 

system effectively. 

On December 6, 2022, the State Water Resources Control Board reissued the Waste Discharge 

Requirements and became effective on June 5, 2023.  As part of the new requirements, the 

District is required to post its Sanitary Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP) on the State’s 

online California Integrated Water Quality System (CIWQS) Sanitary Sewer System Database 

and update its Spill Emergency Response Plan (SERP).  Please see attached for both SSMP and 

SERP.  

Since the SERP required many hours of staff time, the District hired Paul Causey, Causey 

Consulting, to assist the District in developing the SERP.  The District was able to complete both 

documents by June 5, 2023.  The SSMP was posted online on June 5, 2023.  

ANALYSIS:   

Staff updated the following information on the existing SSMP.  

• Element 1 – Goals – update language to include new Waste Discharge Requirements.

• Element 2 – Organization – update positions, personnel information, and organization

chart.

• Element 3 – Legal Authority – indicated an updated FOG Agreement with CMSA.

• Element 4 – Operations and Maintenance Program –

o Indicated the existing GIS system, MapServer has been changed to DashGIS.

o Per MRG’s recommendation, the District transitioned from a once-every-three-

year gravity line cleaning to a risk-based field driven condition cleaning schedule.

o Increased the sewer televising from 10 miles to 13-15 miles per year.

4c



 2 

• Element 5 – Design and Performance Provisions – no changes. 

• Element 6 – Overflow Emergency Response Plan – changed title to Sewer Spill 

Emergency Response Plan. Revised this section and indicated the SERP is a separate 

reference document with a Sewer Spill/Backup Response Workbook, which includes all 

the forms necessary to document the event. 

• Element 7 – Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Control Program – updated info regarding 

revised Agreement with CMSA. 

• Element 8 – System Evaluation and Capacity Assurance Plan – no changes 

• Element 9 – Monitoring, Measurement, and Program Modifications – update Sanitary 

Sewer Overflow table. 

• Element 10 – SSMP Audits – update audit requirements 

• Element 11 – Communication Program – update budget of $20,000. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None.   

 

ACTION REQUIRED: 

Staff recommends that the Board approve the updated Sanitary Sewer Management Plan. 

 

Attachments:   Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (redacted) 

Sewer Spill Emergency Response Plan 





San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

 
 
  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 2 
 

Table of Contents 
 

SYSTEM OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................... 4 

ELEMENT 1 - GOALS ............................................................................................................................. 6 

ELEMENT 2 - ORGANIZATION ........................................................................................................... 8 

ELEMENT 3 -   LEGAL AUTHORITY .................................................................................................. 11 

ELEMENT 4 - OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE PROGRAM .................................................. 13 

ELEMENT 5 - DESIGN AND PERFORMANCE PROVISIONS ...................................................... 23 

ELEMENT 6 - SEWER SPILL EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN ................................................. 25 

ELEMENT 7 - FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG) CONTROL PROGRAM ................................ 27 

ELEMENT 8 - SYSTEM EVALUATION AND CAPACITY ASSURANCE PLAN ........................ 31 

ELEMENT 9 - MONITORING, MEASUREMENT, AND PROGRAM MODIFICATIONS ......... 33 

ELEMENT 10 - SSMP AUDITS .............................................................................................................. 37 

ELEMENT 11 - COMMUNICATION PROGRAM .............................................................................. 39 

      
Appendices 
 
Appendix A Emergency Vendor Contact Information 
 
Appendix B Insurance Claims and Cleaning Services  
 
Appendix C FOG Ordinances 
 
Appendix D SSMP Audit Form 
 
Appendix E Capital Improvements Program Schedule 
 
Appendix F  Summary of SSOs from 2017 to 2022 
 
Appendix G  Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement between Marin County Wastewater Agencies 
 
  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 
 
 
 
  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 4 
 

SYSTEM OVERVIEW  

The San Rafael Sanitation District (SRSD or District) is a sanitation district of the County of Marin 
formed in 1947 under Division 5 of the California Health & Safety Code. It serves the southern two-
thirds of the City of San Rafael, in the Central San Rafael area south from the top of Puerto Suello 
Hill, and the adjacent unincorporated areas. The District is administered by a three-person Board of 
Directors comprising two members of the San Rafael City Council and one member from the Marin 
County Board of Supervisors.  

The District provides wastewater collection and transportation service over its entire collection 
system area, which is 12.75 square miles consisting of 134 miles of gravity sanitary sewer piping, 32 
wastewater pump stations, and 13 miles of force main piping. The District’s flows are ultimately 
conveyed to the Central Marin Sanitation Agency (CMSA) wastewater treatment plant, located at 
1301 Anderson Drive in San Rafael, CA. SRSD, the Ross Valley Sanitary District, and Sanitary 
District No. 2 of Marin County have a joint powers agreement in place with CMSA for the treatment 
of their wastewater.  

SRSD’s mission is to responsibly collect and transport wastewater from its customers to CMSA for 
treatment, utilizing cost effective, environmentally sound, and safe practices. It has implemented 
numerous processes, as described herein, in order to better maintain its collection system and 
accomplish this mission. 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 6 
 

ELEMENT 1 - GOALS 

SRSD has assembled this Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP) pursuant to the State Water 
Resources Control Board (State Water Board) Order No 2006-0003-DWQ and the San Francisco 
Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board’s (RWQCB) development guide dated July 2005.  On 
December 6, 2022, the State Water Resources Control Board adopted Order WQ 2022-0103-DWQ, 
which became effective on June 5, 2023.  Per new Order, SRSD has update and implement its Spill 
Emergency Response Plan, Element 6, by June 5, 2023; and all other requirements will be updated 
by the required due date of August 2, 2025. The goals of the SSMP are to accomplish the following:  

• Properly manage, operate, and maintain all parts of the wastewater collection system. 

• Provide adequate capacity to convey peak flows. 

• Minimize the frequency of Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs). 

• Mitigate the impact of SSOs. 

• Meet all RWQCB and all State Water Board requirements for SSMP development, auditing, and 
updating, as well as requirements for SSO reporting.  

• Implement recurring, proactive maintenance of the collection system to remove roots, debris, 
and fats, oil, and grease (FOG) in areas prone to blockages that may cause sewer backups or 
SSOs. 

• Exceed citizen expectations when responding to their calls regarding sewer problems.  

• Work cooperatively with local, state, and federal agencies to reduce, mitigate impacts of, and 
properly report SSOs. 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 8 
 

ELEMENT 2 - ORGANIZATION 

This element identifies SRSD staff responsible for implementing, managing, and updating the 
SSMP, and the chain of communication for responding to and reporting SSOs. The following are 
current District staff positions with a brief description of their general responsibilities. Phone 
numbers are listed for District staff that are directly responsible for implementing, managing, and 
updating the SSMP: 

• District Manager/District Engineer (1 full time employee (FTE), 415-485-3484): Manages 
District activities, establishes policy, develops budget, directs and supervises staff, allocates 
resources, oversees programs and procedures, and delegates responsibility. 

• Senior Civil Engineer (1 FTE, 415-458-5369): Plans, organizes, directs and oversees capital 
projects, and programs, provides engineering and technical services.  This position replaced the 
previous part time Deputy District Administrator in February 2007. This person is responsible in 
updating the SSMP, knowledgeable in current laws and regulations, and provides support to all 
parts of operations. 

• Associate Civil Engineer (1 FTE): Performs design and construction management of capital 
improvement projects.  Provides field inspection as needed. 

• Junior Engineer (1 FTE):  Performs entry level design and construction management of capital 
improvement projects.  Provides field inspections as needed. 

• SRSD Inspector (1 FTE): Provides technical work in field inspection of construction of capital 
improvement projects, sewer permits and utility repairs.  Responds to Under Ground Service 
alert request. 

• Sewer Operations and Maintenance Manager (1 FTE, 415-485-3374): Plans, organizes, directs 
and reviews the maintenance programs and activities of the gravity sewer system, sewer pump 
stations and force mains. 

• Sewer Maintenance Supervisor (1 FTE, 415-485-3374): Provides day to day supervision of the 
work crews engaged in the maintenance of the gravity sewer system, sewer pump stations and 
force mains.  Prepares and implements contingency plans, leads emergency response, 
investigates and reports SSO’s and trains field crews.  

• Sewer Maintenance Workers (8 FTE, 2-Sewer Lead Maintenance Workers, 3-Maint.II, 3-
Maint.I, 415-485-3374): Perform a variety of manual and semi-skilled tasks involved in the 
maintenance, improvement and operation of the sewer pumping stations and gravity sewer lines. 
Mobilize and respond to notification of stoppages and SSO’s. 

• Administrative Analyst (1 FTE, 415-485-3132): Prepares agendas for Board meetings, drafts 
minutes, provides sewer rate information and programs to the public, develops office 
procedures, provides administrative support to staff, personal secretary to the District Manager, 
and calculates rate fees. 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 9 
 

• Administrative Assistant (1 FTE): Performs daily administrative office work and support to 
staff. 

SRSD’s organization chart, updated June 2023, is shown in the following Figure 1-1. 

 
 

Figure 1-1 – SRSD Organization Chart 
2.1 Chain of Communication for Reporting SSOs 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 10 
 

The District’s Sewer Maintenance Staff are responsible for responding to SSOs. When a 
potential or actual SSO is observed, notify SRSD at the following telephone numbers: 

During normal business hours (6:30 am to 2:30 pm), SSOs are to be reported to the following: 

• Corporation Yard    (415) 485-3372 

• Sewer P.S. Maintenance   (415) 485-3374 

After hours (2:30 pm to 6:30 am), and during weekends and holidays, calls are to be reported to 
a stand-by cell phone that alerts the on-call SRSD employee: 

• Stand-By Cell Phone   (415) 720-5242 

If unable to reach stand-by cell phone, notify District staff in the following order:  

1. Kris Ozaki    Home    
     Cell  (415) 725-9338 

2. Allan Lee  Home   
Cell   (415) 725-9342 

3. Hector Rodriguez Home    
Cell  (415) 725-9431 

If unable to contact any of the persons listed above, then call: 

Doris Toy Home   
Cell  (415) 725-9237 

The Sewer Maintenance Supervisor is responsible for providing SSO notification and reporting 
to the appropriate regulatory agencies.  

The Sewer Maintenance Staff that respond to the SSO will assess, record, and document 
conditions using the forms provided in the Sewer Spill/Backup Response Workbook and provide 
the necessary information to the Maintenance Supervisor for notification and reporting.  The 
responding Maintenance Staff will notify the Sewer Maintenance Supervisor after assessing the 
site, as required.  

In the Sewer Maintenance Supervisor’s absence, the Operations and Maintenance Manager or 
another District Staff member as determined by the District Manager/District Engineer will 
perform the required notifications and reporting to the appropriate regulatory agencies.  

Notifications and reporting for SSOs will be performed as indicated in the Sewer Spill 
Emergency Response Plan, see Element 6.  

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 11 
 

ELEMENT 3 - LEGAL AUTHORITY 

SRSD was formed in 1947 under the California Health and Safety Code, Section 4700, Division 5, 
Part 3, Chapter 3, County Sanitation Districts. With this legal authority, the District Board of 
Directors passes ordinances and resolutions to govern all aspects of the District’s collection system 
from the point of connection with the side sewers (laterals) to the headworks of the CMSA treatment 
plant.  

Laterals between the main sewer and the building are privately owned and maintained, the District 
has no ownership or maintenance responsibility therefor, per District Ordinance No. 54. 

3.1 Prevention of Illicit Discharges  

Regulations preventing illicit discharges into the District’s sanitary sewer system are included in 
the Standard Specifications 2007, Part B, Section 4-02, as well as the Districts Standard 
Specifications for Side Sewers and Laterals 2007 Section 1-09. These sections list wastes that 
are prohibited from entering into the system. They also have requirements to control inflow and 
infiltration (I/I) by prohibited roof leaders, surface drains, rainwater, storm water, seepage, 
cooling water, or unpolluted industrial process waters from entering the system.  

The District’s Standard Specifications were adopted in Resolution 07-940 on June 11, 2007.  

3.2 Design and Construction of New and Rehabilitated Sewers and Connections 

The San Rafael Sanitation District Standard Specifications and Drawings 2007 provide 
requirements for proper design and construction of new and rehabilitated sewers and 
connections.  Design requirements are included in Part B of the Standards, Construction 
requirements are included in Part C and Part D of the Standard Specifications. 

District Ordinance No. 56, adopted March 1, 2006, provides the manner and charges for 
connection to District facilities and penalties for violation thereof. 

3.3 District Access 

The District’s Standard Specifications 2007 include an annexation policy, a right of way policy, 
and a condemnation policy, Section 1-03, 1-05, and 1-06 respectively. These sections provide 
the District with legal authority to obtain easements and maintain access for maintenance, 
inspection, or repairs of the public sewers in its service area.  

Laterals are owned and maintained by the property owners, as previously stated.  

3.4 Limit FOG and Other Debris 

To limit the discharge of FOG into its system, on October 4, 2006 the District adopted the 
provision of CMSA’s FOG Program with SRSD Resolution No 06-930. The District and CMSA 
have entered into a written agreement; the “Fats, Oils & Grease (FOG) Control Program 
Agreement” dated May 10, 2006. The agreement provides for CMSA to develop, implement, 
manage, and administer a FOG source control program within the District’s service area.  In 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 12 
 

May 2021, the District and CMSA updated the agreement to reflect the current state of the FOG 
Program and its ongoing administration, since the FOG Program has been fully developed and 
the food service establishments are complying with the FOG ordinance.  A copy of CMSA’s Fog 
Ordinance No. 2021-1, SRSD Resolution No 21-1226, and the 2021 updated agreement between 
the District and CMSA is included in Appendix C.  

The District’s Standard Specifications 2007, Part B Section 4-02 and the Standard Specifications 
for Side Sewers and Laterals 2007 Section 1-09 list prohibited wastes and limit discharge of 
FOG and/or debris that may cause blockages, such as sludge, rags, garbage, and any other solid 
or viscous substance capable of causing obstruction to the flow in sewers or causing other 
interference with the proper operation of the sewage works.  

3.5 Enforcement of Violations 

California Health and Safety Code, Section 4700, Division 5, Part 3, Chapter 3, County 
Sanitation Districts provides SRSD with the legal authority to enforce any violation of its sewer 
ordinances. Also, under the Joint Powers Agreement between CMSA and the District, CMSA 
issues Wastewater Discharge Permits and has the legal authority to enforce violations.   

Laterals are owned and maintained by the property owners and the District relies on the County 
of Marin, Environmental Health and Services to enforce private lateral SSO’s and septic tank 
violations.   

3.6 Installation, Testing, and Inspection of New and Rehabilitated Sewers 

Requirements for proper installation, testing, and inspection of new and rehabilitated sewers are 
included in the San Rafael Sanitation District Standard Specifications and Drawings 2007.   

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 13 
 

ELEMENT 4 - OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE PROGRAM  

4.1 Collection System Map 

The District maintains geographic information system (GIS) maps, using DashGIS from 
CalCAD.  DashGIS displays streets, contours and elevations, wastewater pump stations, sewer 
pipes, sewer force mains, sewer manholes and rod holes, air release valves, building footprints, 
parcels, easements, orthophotos, scanned construction plans, and other City and District 
facilities.  SRSD contracts with CalCAD to support and provide mapping, GIS, and database 
support for the District. 

DashGIS allows features, such as manholes and pipe segments, to accept linking of additional 
data, such as inspection logs, pictures, CCTV videos, etc. Figure 4-1 below shows a typical 
District DashGIS screen display.  

 
Figure 4-1 DashGIS Screen Display 

The District has included a sewer maintenance management application in DashGIS, where it 
enables the District to track its daily maintenance activities and sewer overflows. The District 
uses DashGIS to schedule, track, and adjust its maintenance operations as well as to identify any 
“hot spots” in the system. Figure 4-2 shows a closer look at the type of maintenance reports that 
DashGIS allows the District to generate and utilize.    



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 14 
 

 
Figure 4-2 DashGIS Sewer Maintenance Report  

The District updates the GIS map data based on routine maintenance performed throughout the 
year and any new construction or rehabilitation work performed.  

4.2 Preventative Operation and Maintenance Activities  

In 2023, upon the recommendation from an Organizational Review and Analysis Study 
performed by Municipal Resources Group, the District transitioned from a once-every-three-year 
gravity line cleaning goal to a risk-based, field condition driven cleaning schedule. Scheduled 
cleaning of the gravity sewers is based on a District maintained list of sewer lines, with some 
lines established as needing more frequent cleaning than others to minimize the possibility of an 
SSO.  

Gravity sewer lines with FOG related issues, or “hot spots”, are cleaned more regularly with a 
hydro flusher. SRSD schedules cleaning of “hot spots” a minimum of twice per year.  

The gravity sewer lines that have had a history of stoppages due to roots, rags and debris are 
maintained with a power rodder. A hand rodder is used on sewer lines where little or no 
mechanical equipment access is available.  

In addition, the District’s goal is to maintain the following schedule with its preventative 
maintenance: 

• All force main valves to be exercised annually.  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 15 
 

• All pump station valves to be exercised quarterly. 

• Annual preventive maintenance to be performed on all pump station pumps, motors, and 
control cabinets. 

• Annual preventive maintenance and load bank testing to be performed on all pump 
station emergency generators, and mobile generators. 

• Pump station wet wells to be inspected and cleaned annually.  

• Air relief valves to be inspected and cleaned twice per year. 

• Chemical injection systems to combat odor and corrosion to be inspected and calibrated 
weekly. Samples to be taken to monitor hydrogen sulfide levels twice weekly.  

• All pump stations to be checked three (3) times per week 

The pump station inspections are typically performed on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday to 
verify that all control panels, pumps, and motors are functioning properly. In addition to obvious 
and/or immediate issues that may be observed, maintenance crews check pump run times 
excessive pump wear, wet well debris accumulation, and an increase in utility bills. These issues 
will typically indicate that higher flows are entering the station, or that further assessment and 
repair or maintenance may be required at the station.  

SRSD uses its sewer maintenance application in DashGIS for tracking maintenance activities, as 
previously mentioned. DashGIS allows crews to log the maintenance they perform for all their 
daily activities. Each structure has its own identifiable tag, and is mapped on the GIS based 
platform. Tracking routine maintenance with its sewer maintenance application helps the District 
to prioritize pipelines that may require inspection or repair. Routine maintenance can often 
reveal evidence of collection system deficiencies. Crews may notice an increased difficulty 
maintaining a pipeline, which would indicate a high priority to perform inspection.   

4.3 Rehabilitation and Replacement Plan  

The District identify and prioritize its capital improvement projects by the following methods:  

1. The District assess the condition of pipes by CCTV inspections, using the Pipeline 
Assessment & Certification program (PACP) rating system.   

2. Through tracking of maintenance activities with its sewer maintenance application, 
including frequency of calls and types of calls from the public, and routine inspection of 
its facilities.  

3. Replacement project driven by other agencies, such as State of California, City of San 
Rafael, Sonoma-Marin Area Transit, and other utility agencies.  

The District prioritizes system deficiencies to implement short-term and long-term rehabilitation 
actions in order to address them.   The District’s short term goal is to address pipes at risk of 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 16 
 

collapse or prone to more frequent blockages due to pipe defects and capacity and PACP ratings 
of 4 and 5; and pump stations with frequent maintenance issues or capacity issues.  

The District’s long term goal for preventative maintenance is to replace all of its gravity sewers 
on an 80 year cycle.  

A. Inspections 

CCTV inspection is performed for the District’s sewer mains that have had backup or 
overflow history. Locations with multiple incidents are given first priority. The inspections 
are used to generate a list of priority spot repairs, or sewer main rehabilitation projects. 

SRSD contracts most CCTV work. However, the District has a small lateral camera for 
shorter sections of pipeline and a pipe locater to identify gravity sewer problems and locate 
structural deficiencies, such as broken pipe, offset joints, etc.  

The District plans to perform 13-15 miles of CCTV inspection per year beginning with areas 
in proximity of surface water then moving outwards to the District’s boundaries.  Based on 
the PACP ratings, the District plans to replace at a minimum 1.6 miles per year for the 80-
year replacement program.  The District’s long term goal is a complete survey of all gravity 
sewers within its service area.  

The District also plans to include all of the CCTV survey information including audio and 
video digital data and PACP rating to each pipe or manhole segment in the GIS database 
using DashGIS, as previously described within the next few years. Each manhole and pipe 
segment is individually located and can accept linking of additional data, such as the CCTV 
survey.   The District and CalCAD (DashGIS developer) is coordinating with City of San 
Rafael, Digital Services Dept. in providing data storage space.  Once the storage is 
established, the District should be able to start linking the CCTV survey. 

The District has plans to develop an ongoing smoke test procedure to determine illegal 
connections to sewer mains. 

The Districts criteria for linking inspection data to pipes and manholes in DashGIS include 
the following: 

1. Pipes: 

All pipe segment inspection data will be linked to the appropriate pipe segment on the 
District’s GIS. 

All pipe segments will be individual digital files, with no continuous files through 
manholes or structures.  

All pipe surveys to be performed in the direction of flow, where feasible.  

Condition survey rating is determined for each separate pipe segment in accordance with 
PACP standard evaluating procedures, and linked to GIS segment.  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 17 
 

2. Manholes: 

All manhole inspection data will be linked to the appropriate manhole on the District’s 
GIS. 

Inspected manhole X, Y, Z coordinates in the State Plane coordinate system, and 
latitude and longitude will be recorded.   

A sketch of each inspected manhole showing location of all pipes using a clock face 
with north facing at 12 o’clock will be created. The depth, size, and material type of all 
pipes will be indicated.  

Digital photographs of inspected manholes will be taken above and below ground with 
condition survey and condition assessment.  

B. Force Main Condition Assessment 

In 2016, the District implemented the Force Main Condition Assessment Program and 
developed a Risk Model Assessment based on various factors, such as pipe material, size, 
age, rail crossing, waterway crossing, etc.  The Risk Model is also integrated with the GIS.  
Based on the highest risk ratings, the District proceeded in testing the sections of force main 
with the SmartBall inspection, which is the first phase of inspection.  The SmartBall uses an 
acoustic method to identify and locate leaks and pockets of trapped gas along a pipeline.  
The next phase of inspection is investigating those locations detected of having leaks or 
trapped gas by a more aggressive approach, i.e. removing a section of pipe for testing.  After 
the second phase of inspection is completed, the District will develop rehabilitation projects 
for the Capital Improvement Program. 

C. Capital Improvements Plan  

SRSD is a special District with fiscal and administrative autonomy. The District invoices its 
customers and obtains revenue to fund its operations utilizing property tax statements. Sewer 
service fees and property taxes appear on Marin County Property Tax Statements. The 
District also obtains revenue from connection fees and interest generated from its savings.  

The user fees charged for residential dwellings and businesses are calculated differently. 
Residential properties are assigned an Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) based upon the 
actual dwelling units (units) permitted on the property, regardless of occupancy, as 
determined by the Marin County Assessor Office records.  Business fees are calculated 
individually based on the volume and strength (cost to treat) of the sewage measured in 
EDUs. In the fiscal year 2013/2014, SRSD increased its rates for a period of five (5) years to 
accelerate the replacement of sewer pipelines and the rehabilitation of the pump stations. 

The District allocates adequate resources for the operation, maintenance, and repair of its 
collection system. In general, the District plans and budgets for the following expenses: 

• Maintenance and Operation 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 18 
 

• Sewage Treatment (Paid to Central Marin Sanitation Agency) 

• Capital Improvements 

• Rehabilitation and Repairs 

• Emergency Expenses 

• Reserves  

The District operates under a fiscal year budget cycle beginning July 1 and ending June 30. 
District's Capital Improvement Program Schedule through 2023/2024 for gravity sewers and 
pump stations and force mains are summarized in Appendix E. This Capital Improvements 
Program Schedule includes a time schedule for implementing the short and long term capital 
improvement projects, as well as estimated costs.  

SRSD contracts with the City of San Rafael for its employees, as previously shown in 
Element 2. District staff are responsible for administration, engineering, planning, and sewer 
system operations and maintenance. The District currently contracts with Maher 
Accountancy for financial management and accounting. The District also has agreements in 
place and pays CMSA for treatment of its wastewater, as well as source control and 
regulation of the FOG program, which is further described in Element 7.  

4.4 Training 

SRSD has a safety training program that complies with OSHA mandates and established work 
safety procedures developed by the Department of Public Works (DPW) for the City of San 
Rafael. The DPW/SRSD Safety Committee identifies appropriate safety trainings needed per job 
classification.  

On the job training and mentoring by experienced workers has been the main source of 
occupational education for the operations and maintenance staff. Seminars, classes, and 
equipment demos also help staff stay current with the best available practices and equipment in 
the wastewater industry. 

SRSD encourages the pursuit of occupational education such as California Water Environment 
Association (CWEA) memberships, classes, seminars, and certifications. The District provides 
funding to interested personnel for obtaining this training.  

It is the goal of SRSD to have well-educated and competent staff that are able to serve the 
public, eliminate SSO’s and provide a safe, well maintained and efficient sanitary sewer system.  

4.5 Contingency Equipment and Replacement Inventories 

The District maintains a number of contingency vehicles and equipment for emergency use, as 
indicated in the following Tables 4-1. 

  









San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 22 
 

The District provides information about the proper practices for preventing blockages in private 
laterals to the public via postcards, which are mailed to its customers periodically and are 
available on the Internet. Recent postcards addressed issues with FOG and “flushable” wipes 
that may cause maintenance issues and SSOs. The District has encountered issues with rags and 
wipes creating blockages in the sewer pipelines and pump stations in 2020 during the COVID-
19 pandemic.  It appears there was an increase in rags and wipes from the customers using them 
for cleaning and disinfecting.  The District mailed informational postcards on “flushable” wipes 
to its customers and also joined other Marin sewer agencies in funding a video that were shown 
on television and the Internet.  Staff was also on the local news regarding “flushable” wipes.  In 
addition, for the past four winter seasons, the District and other Marin sewer agencies also 
developed a video on FOG, i.e. informing the customers not to pour grease down the drain; and 
it was shown on television and the internet.  

The District has developed its webpage under the City of San Rafael website, which encourage 
the use of proper practices for preventing blockages. The District also distributes magnets 
encouraging residents of proper disposal of cooking oils and grease in the trash. 

In 2019, the District joined the Public Works Department in an “open-house” for two days, 
where both agencies had informational exhibits and hand-outs to educate the public on various 
topics and staff was available for answering questions. 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 23 
 

ELEMENT 5 - DESIGN AND PERFORMANCE PROVISIONS  

The District has developed the following Design and Construction Standards:  

• San Rafael Sanitation District Standard Specifications and Drawings, 2007 

• San Rafael Sanitation District Specifications for Side Sewers and Laterals, 2007  

These Specifications for Side Sewers and Laterals are available to the public at: 
https://www.cityofsanrafael.org/documents/srsd-sewer-laterals-2007/ 

5.1 Standards for Installation, Rehabilitation, and Repair 

The District’s minimum design and construction standards and specifications for the installation 
of new sewer systems and for the rehabilitation and repair for existing sewer systems are 
included in the above referenced Standard Specifications and Drawings and Specifications for 
Side Sewers and Laterals. These Standard Specifications and Drawings are appropriate and 
relatively up to date.  

5.2 Standards for Inspection and Testing of New and Rehabilitated Facilities 

The District’s procedures and standards for inspecting and testing the installation of new sewers, 
pump station, and other appurtenances; and for rehabilitation and repair projects are included in 
the above referenced Standard Specifications and Drawings and Specifications for Side Sewers 
and Laterals.  

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 24 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 25 
 

ELEMENT 6 - SEWER SPILL EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 

The District has developed the following procedures for responding to SSOs. The purpose of the 
Sewer Spill Emergency Response Plan (SERP) is to provide guidance to maintenance crew 
personnel when responding to an SSO, and to ensure that all SSO responses are handled efficiently, 
effectively, and in accordance with regulatory requirements. This procedure is applicable to all 
overflows of the sewage collection system.  

The SERP is a separate reference document with a Sewer Spill/Backup Response Workbook, which 
includes various forms for reporting.  The SERP has been completed per the reissued WDR, Order 
WQ 2022-0103-DWQ, and is effective for District emergency response personnel starting on June 5, 
2023. 

 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 26 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 27 
 

ELEMENT 7 - FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG) CONTROL PROGRAM 

The District has adopted the provision of CMSA’s FOG Program. The District and CMSA have 
entered into a written agreement; the “Fats, Oils & Grease (FOG) Control Program Agreement” 
dated May 10, 2006. This agreement provides for CMSA to develop implement, manage, and 
administer a FOG source control program with the District’s service area. In May 2021, the District 
and CMSA updated the agreement to reflect the current state of the FOG Program and its ongoing 
administration, since the FOG Program has been fully developed and the food service establishments 
are complying with the FOG ordinance.  A copy of CMSA’s Fog Ordinance No. 2021-1, SRSD 
Resolution No 21-1226, and the 2021 updated agreement between the District and CMSA is 
included in Appendix C..  

The goal of the FOG Control Program is to reduce FOG discharged into the sewer collection system, 
which will in turn reduce the cost of maintenance associated with FOG and reduce the number of 
blockages and SSOs caused by FOG in the sewer system. 

The District has identified areas within its collection system that require routine maintenance and 
cleaning (i.e. “hot spots). The District routinely cleans and maintains these lines at least twice per 
year. 

CMSA employs source control to regulate and enforce the regional pretreatment and pollution 
prevention programs within its service area. CMSA has designed and implements a customized 
computer database program that assists the FOG Control Program. It records and reports Food 
Service Establishment (FSE) inspection and compliance, history, generating FSE permits, generating 
routine invoices related to the Program, and generating reports as needed to the District. 

With the District’s additional effort cleaning hot spots and CMSA’s source control, FOG related 
SSOs per year have decreased on average since the time of the FOG Program implementation. 

7.1 Public Education and Outreach 

The District has made Fats, Oil, and Grease (FOG) refrigerator magnets in both English and 
Spanish, and a newsletter in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese, which it has distributed at the 
Marin County Fair in recent years.  District has also mailed out FOG postcards during the 
winter/holiday season and in areas when maintenance staff sees an increase. The newsletter, 
postcards and magnets provide information on how to keep FOG and other materials out of the 
sewer system to reduce maintenance issues and SSOs. The District has also joined other Marin 
local sewer agencies in providing an ad campaign on television and internet during the 
winter/holiday season in recent years.  District has distributed the above information at a joint 
two-day “open house” with City of San Rafael, Public Works Dept. in 2019. 

CMSA also often provides information to the District’s rate payers on ways to prevent FOG 
from entering the sewer system in its monthly newsletter, as well as methods and locations 
where fats, oils, and grease can be properly disposed of. 

7.2 FOG Disposal 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 28 
 

CMSA accepts deliveries of FOG from grease traps and interceptors from restaurants, markets, 
and similar types of food service establishments. CMSA accepts FOG loads from qualified 
haulers with the completion of a simple permit application process, or by special arrangement.  
CMSA uses the FOG and turn them into energy.  More information can be found within at 
CMSA’s website, http://www.cmsa.us.  

A multi-agency workgroup called CalFog also maintains a list of all agencies within the various 
service areas that will accept FOG wastes. This list is available at the following webpage: 
http://www.calfog.org/GreaseFacilities.html 

7.3 Legal Authority 

As previously stated, the District adopted the provision of CMSA’s FOG Program with SRSD 
Resolution No 06-930. The District and CMSA have entered into a written agreement; the “Fats, 
Oils & Grease (FOG) Control Program Agreement” dated May 10, 2006. The agreement 
provides for CMSA to develop implement, manage, and administer a FOG source control 
program within the District’s service area. And then in May 2021, the District and CMSA 
updated the agreement and adopted Resolution No. 21-1226 to reflect the current state of the 
FOG Program and its ongoing administration, since the FOG Program has been fully developed 
and the food service establishments are complying with the FOG ordinance. Also, as previously 
stated, the District’s adopted Standard Specifications 2007, Part B Section 4-02 and the Standard 
Specifications for Side Sewers and Laterals 2007 Section 1-09 prohibit discharge or cause to be 
discharge of any waters or wastes which contains more than 100 parts per million, by weight, of 
fat, oil or grease into its sewer system.  

7.4 Grease Removal Device (GRD) Requirements 

The District has identified FOG related “hot spots” at locations in the sewer system where a 
FOG related SSO has occurred, where there is significant potential for FOG related SSOs, or 
where extra FOG related maintenance is required.  

Existing FSEs upstream of “hot spots” are required to obtain a permit with the District and 
install and maintain grease removal devices. CMSA regularly inspects and regulates these FSEs.  

Existing FSEs upstream of “hot spots” must have grease traps on at least the utensil sink and 
dishwasher pre-sink. Drains without traps must be protected by signage and employee training. 
Where FOG continues to be an issue downstream of an FSE, the District may require that a 
grease interceptor be installed.   

The District requires that grease interceptors be installed in all new FSEs. In addition, grease 
interceptors are required in all major remodels upstream of “hot spots”. The District considers a 
“major remodel” to be significant change to the kitchen and a building permit evaluation of at 
least $100,000 (not including grease removal devices). The District requires that grease removal 
devices be installed in accordance with Chapter 10 of the Uniform Plumbing Code. 

Regulated FSEs are required to clean and legally dispose of FOG in interceptors and large traps 
at least every three months, or more frequently if the permit requires. The FSEs are required to 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 29 
 

mail cleaning/pumping receipts to CMSA. They are also required to maintain a copy of pumping 
receipts onsite in a CMSA provided folder.  

Regulated FSEs are required to clean smaller traps (30 gallons or less) every 15 days. FSE staff 
may clean and store FOG in a dedicated drum or tank, to be off-hauled by a registered hauler 
monthly.  

7.5 Inspection and Enforcement  

SRSD Resolutions No 06-930 and No. 21-1226 adopting CMSAs FOG Program, and the District 
and CMSA written agreement; the “Fats, Oils & Grease (FOG) Control Program Agreement” 
dated May 10, 2006 and May 6, 2021 updated agreement gives CMSA authority to inspect FSEs 
for FOG related issues and enforce violations.  

CMSA’s FOG inspections check and verify the following: 

• GRD maintenance 

• GRD condition 

• Grease recycling bins 

• No prohibited compounds to GRDs 

• No FOG discharged to drains not connected to GRD 

• No storm water pollution issues 

A. GRD Maintenance 

The CMSA inspector reviews the FSE’s documentation, such as cleaning/pumping logs, and 
receipts. The inspector physically inspects grease removal devises to verify that the 
combined depth of FOG and solids does not exceed 25 percent of the total depth.  

B. GRD in Working Condition 

The inspector checks traps to verify that flow control devices, vents, baffles, and inlet and 
outlet devices are working properly. Interceptors are checked to verify that baffles, inlet and 
outlet devices are working properly.  

C. Grease Recycling Bins in Use 

The inspection verifies that the recycling bin is being used for cooking oil, griddle drainage, 
etc, and not for FOG waste from grease traps. The “grey grease” from grease traps should 
not be stored in the recycling bins because it is much harder to recycle and costs more to off 
haul. 

D. No Prohibited Compounds to GRD 



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 30 
 

CMSA will attempt to verify that no enzymes, solvents, emulsifiers or drain cleaners are 
allowed to enter into GRDs. Necessary products may be allowed if authorized in the permit 
and with proper documentation.  

E. No FOG Discharge to Drain not connected to GRD 

Inspection will check for evidence of dumping into peripheral drains (i.e. floor drains, hand 
wash sinks). Drains without GRDs should have signs indicating that FOGs should not be 
poured down them. Employees should be trained to ensure that dumping of FOG does not 
occur into these drains.  

Pots and pans should be wiped prior to washing. Food waste should be disposed of into the 
trash, not into a garbage disposal. Waste oil should be recycled. Floor mats should be 
cleaned over a utility sink with a GRD, wash water should not enter floor drains or into the 
storm drain system.  

F. No Storm Water Pollution Issues 

During inspection, the outside of the restaurant will be checked for potential storm water 
pollution issues. If an FSE has potential storm water pollution issues, then a written warning 
will be provided. If the FSE fails to resolve the issues, than an administrative citation and 
$500 fine will be issued. 

If CMSA’s inspection determines that a regulated FSE is not in compliance, then the FSE is 
issued a Notice of Violation (a “fix-it ticket”). The FSE is required to pay a re-inspection fee to 
CMSA.  The re-inspection fee shall be a standard charge equal to 1.5 times the weighted hourly 
salary for the CMSA staff plus 60% overhead.  

The frequency of inspections depends on a facility’s location and compliance history. CMSA 
will inspect facilities that are out of compliance or upstream of areas that continue to have issues 
with FOG more frequently than facilities that are in compliance and with little or no issues 
downstream.  

7.6 Identification of FOG Hot Spots 

SRSD uses its sewer maintenance application for tracking maintenance activities and linking 
them to locations in its GIS system. The District has identified FOG related “hot spots” at 
locations in the sewer system where a FOG related SSO has occurred, where there is significant 
potential for FOG related SSOs, or where extra FOG related maintenance is required. The 
District schedules to clean these areas at least twice per year.  

7.7 Development and Implementation of Source Control Measures 

The agreement between CMSA and SRSD provides for CMSA to develop implement, manage, 
and administer a FOG source control program with the District’s service area.  

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 31 
 

ELEMENT 8 - SYSTEM EVALUATION AND CAPACITY ASSURANCE PLAN  

One of the goals of the District’s CIP, that it has prepared and is implementing, is to provide 
hydraulic capacity of key sanitary sewer system elements in order to prevent future SSOs. The 
District continues to make upgrades to ensure adequate hydraulic capacity in key areas and from 
SSOs. 

8.1 Evaluation 

The District performed a capacity assessment for four key trunk sewer lines to determine 
potential capacity related issues. The Capacity Assessment Report was prepared by Nute 
Engineering in April 2010.  

The capacity assessment was undertaken using the District’s sewer mapping with surveys of the 
rim and invert elevations of trunk manholes, and hydraulic modeling to identify potential 
capacity restrictions. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Stormwater Management 
Model (PCSWMM) was used to estimate peak flows in these key system components and 
hydraulic deficiencies.  

8.2 Design Criteria 

Design criteria for improvements, including design criteria related to capacity, are included in 
the District’s 2007 Standards Specifications. 

8.3 Capacity Enhancement Measures & Schedule 

The District has incorporated the prioritized recommendations from the Capacity Assessment 
Report into its CIP and has already completed many of the high priority and medium priority 
projects. 

The District’s CIP includes the schedule for its specific capital improvement projects. The 
source for funding for these capital improvement projects has been and will continue to be the 
service fees and connection fees charged to its users.  

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 32 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  









San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 36 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 37 
 

ELEMENT 10 - SSMP AUDITS 

The District will perform an internal audit evaluating the SSMP at least once every three years.  The 
audit will include any deficiencies and steps to correct them. The form included in Appendix D will 
be used for the audit, which is based on the format developed by the Bay Area Clean Water 
Agencies (BACWA). Upon completion of the audit, the District will keep a copy of the audit on file 
to fulfill the Regional Water Board audit requirement.   

Within six months after the end of the required 3-year audit period (August 2, 2024), the Legally 
Responsible Official shall submit an audit report into the online CIWQS Sanitary Sewer System 
Database per the requirements in Section 3.10 (Sewer System Management Plan Audit Reporting 
Requirements). 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 38 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



San Rafael Sanitation District – Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP)  

June 2023 Page 39 
 

ELEMENT 11 - COMMUNICATION PROGRAM  

SRSD has developed a webpage under the City of San Rafael website, which provides a 
communication link between the District and its rate payers. The District has budgeted $20,000 per 
year for the public outreach program. As previously stated, the District has made newsletters and 
postcards available to its users concerning the potential issues caused by FOG and wipes, as well as 
video campaign for television and internet. The District has made FOG refrigerator magnets in both 
English and Spanish, and newsletters and postcards in English, Spanish, and Vietnamese, which it 
has distributed at the Marin County Fair and to customers in recent years. The District has also 
distributed them in a joint “open house” with the City of San Rafael, Public Works Department in 
2019 and hopes to continue this program in the future. 

  



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Emergency Vendor  

Contact Information 

  



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



Last Updated: 
6/5/2023

Service Vendor Contact Home Number Work Number Cell Number

Equipment Rental Doheny Supplies Jack Doheny 800-336-4369
Hertz Equipment 
Rental 415-924-4444 415-596-1402

WECO Tom Johnson 707-446-6661

DW Pumps David Lang 510-633-2040 510-774-7642

Pac Machine David Kesich 707-746-4940 707-732-4068

Rain for Rent Zach Smith 530-662-1024 707-310-9077

Peerson Power Brian Wilson 707-576-1546

CD&Power 925-229-2700

Excavation Maggiora & Ghilotti Gary Ghilotti 415-459-8640

Linscott Engineering Kate Linscott 415-492-1755

Michael Paul 707-769-1006

Johan 707-782-8990

Kevin 707-318-3433

Trenchless Titan Gerry Hardiman 415-924-2555 415-847-0010

Liam Hardiman 415-847-5694

Sean Hardiman 415-847-4925

Plumbing Roy's Sewer Kevin Berry 415-456-2320 415-308-1200

Roto-Rooter 415-898-2700

Stan Stansfield 415-328-9749

Jarrod Stuckenboker 415-559-1175

Leak Detection Pro Mark Mengarelli 415-578-4733 707-364-6896

Pump/Motor Repair Pump Repair Wayne Archer 415-467-2150 415716-5461

Koffler 510-567-0630 510-701-9776

Dahl-Beck Electric Kevin Sams 510-237-2325

Shape Inc. Jim Merritt 925-485-9720 925-699-8865

Tanker Clean Harbors Sandy 707-7476699 707-310-4445

NRC Environmental 510-749-1390

Electrical Fowler Tom Fowler 415-459-3282 707-658-1491 707-696-9959

CalCon Systems Branden Powell 925-277-0665 925-570-4323
WorkSmart 
Automation Dan Jones 916-454-1718 916-240-4782

Joey Tran 530-979-1158

SRSD Emergency Vendor Contact List



Service Vendor Contact Home Number Work Number Cell Number

Truck Towing/Repair Diego Truck Repair 415-924-3335

Misc. Parts
Water Components 
& Building Supply 415-451-1780

Pace Supply 415-454-8282

Bay Area Baracade 925-686-1089

Cal-Steam 415-459-2009

Fuel - Diesel Royal Petroleum 707-540-0054

Flyers 510-741-5456

Tree Service Treemasters 415-455-9933

Crane Service/Cert CraneTech Inc. Jeff Lambeth 866-994-6478 209-244-3877

Page 2 of 2



 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

Insurance Claims and  

Cleaning Services 

  



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



 



 
 

 Updated 4/17/2023 
\\fs3.city.local\wfsd$\14 SRSD\14.19 Agencies & Associations\14.19-CSRMA\SRSD-InsurancePolicyUpdate-3-3-23\CONTACTS 

Cleaning Services Contacts 
For District Personnel only 

 
 

Cleaning Services 

Jon Takata, Owner 

Restoration Management Company 

4142 Point Eaden Way 

Hayward, CA 94545-3703 

(800) 400-5058 (24 hours) 

Email: calcenter@rmc.com 

 

John Moore, Owner/President 

JM Environmental, Inc. 

P.O. Box 2189 

Granite Bay, CA 95746-2189 

(916) 726-0304 (24 hours) 

Email: jmoore@jmenv.com 

 

Charles Hoag, CEO 

ServiceMaster/Service Master Elite 

5451 Industrial Way 

Benicia, CA  94510 

(800) 480-8439 ext 0 (24 hours) 

Email: intake@smrestore.net 

 

Cleaning Contractor 

Doug Thompson, President/ CEO  

Sierra Pacific Loss Management (Cleaning Oversight Co.) 

1210 Cuttings Wharf Road  

Napa, CA 94559  

(800) 413-2999 (24 hours) 

Office Ph. No. (707) 252-5480 option 1 for emergencies 

Cell No. (707) 592-9918 - Doug  

Email: dthompson@splmca.com  

Fee is now $110.00/Hour 

file://///fs3.city.local/wfsd$/14%20SRSD/14.19%20Agencies%20&%20Associations/14.19-CSRMA/SRSD-InsurancePolicyUpdate-3-3-23/CONTACTS
mailto:calcenter@rmc.com
mailto:jmoore@jmenv.com
mailto:intake@smrestore.net
mailto:dthompson@splmca.com


 

 

 

 

Appendix C 

Fats Oils and Grease (FOG) 

Ordinances 

  



 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE CONTROL OF  
FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG)  

INTO THE WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Ordinance No. 2021-1 
 
  

February 2021 
 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  2  O F  2 4  

CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-1  

AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE CONTROL OF FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG)  
INTO THE WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 3 

SECTION 2 - ORDINANCE BACKGROUND ................................................................................ 3 

SECTION 3 - PURPOSE AND POLICY ........................................................................................ 4 

SECTION 4 - JURISDICTION ..................................................................................................... 5 

SECTION 5 - DEFINITIONS ....................................................................................................... 6 

SECTION 6 - GREASE INTERCEPTOR INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS ....................................... 9 

SECTION 7 - REQUIREMENTS AND BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES ...................................... 13 

SECTION 8 – GREASE INTERCEPTOR MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS .................................... 16 

SECTION 9 - PERMIT REQUIREMENTS, FEES, AND ENFORCEMENT ......................................... 18 

SECTION 10 - HEARINGS AND APPEALS ................................................................................ 21 

SECTION 11 - SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................. 22 

SECTION 12 - REVISION ........................................................................................................ 23 

SECTION 13 - EFFECTIVE DATE .............................................................................................. 24 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  3  O F  2 4  

CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-1 

AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE CONTROL OF FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG) INTO THE 
WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM  

SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION 

The Commission of the Central Marin Sanitation Agency of Marin County does adopt as follows: 

This Ordinance shall be known as the “Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Ordinance of the Central 
Marin Sanitation Agency” and may be so cited and pleaded. 

This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to provisions of Section 6400 et. seq. of the Health and 
Safety Code of the State of California. 

SECTION 2 – ORDINANCE BACKGROUND 

The Central Marin Sanitation Agency (CMSA) adopted Ordinance No. 2014-1 (FOG Ordinance) 
on February 6, 2014, combining FOG Ordinances 2006-2 and 2007-1, aligning the CMSA Sewer 
Use Ordinance (SUO) and Uniform Plumbing Code reference, clarifying the installation of 
Grease Interceptors, and updating implementation procedures. This Ordinance replaces 
Ordinance No. 2014-1, and updates definitions, interceptor types, interceptor maintenance 
requirements, and best management practices. 

 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  4  O F  2 4  

SECTION 3 – PURPOSE AND POLICY 

A.  Sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) are a major concern to wastewater agencies 
throughout the state of California. A frequent cause of SSOs is the blockage of 
sewer lines due to discharge of FOG from food preparation and clean-up 
operations. To prevent SSOs in the Wastewater Collection System, CMSA 
developed and implemented a program to reduce the discharge of FOG from 
restaurants and other food service establishments to levels that will not cause 
blockage in sewer lines. This program enables the San Rafael Sanitation District, 
the Ross Valley Sanitary District, and the Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County 
(Member Agencies) to comply with requirements of the California State Water 
Resources Control Board and the San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality 
Control Board. 

B.  CMSA Ordinance No. 2018-2 (Sewer Use Ordinance, SUO), adopted by the CMSA 
Board of Commissioners in 2018, regulates the discharge of wastes into the 
Wastewater Collection System. The SUO prohibits the discharge of viscous 
wastes in amounts which will cause obstruction to the flow in the Wastewater 
Collection System. The SUO gives CMSA authority to require sewer users to 
install pretreatment equipment as necessary to bring their discharges into 
compliance with the SUO. The SUO also provides CMSA staff the authority to 
perform inspections on the premises of sewer users and to review user records 
relevant to sewer discharges. 

C.  All food service establishments (FSEs) subject to this Ordinance, shall be 
designated as “Class III Users,” as defined in the SUO. This designation is based 
on the discharge of FOG as discussed herein.  

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  5  O F  2 4  

SECTION 4 – JURISDICTION 

A.  CMSA has authority to regulate discharges into the Wastewater Collection 
System in the jurisdictions of all Member Agencies. However, the provisions of 
this Ordinance, and the responsibility for implementation and enforcement of 
this Ordinance, shall only be applicable to the service area which encompasses 
the jurisdictional area of any Member Agency of CMSA which has complied with 
the following: 

1) Such Member Agency enters into an agreement with CMSA for cost 
reimbursement and implementation of this Ordinance within its 
jurisdictional boundaries. 

2) Such Member Agency adopts by resolution the provisions of this 
Ordinance as being in force and applicable within its jurisdictional 
boundaries. 

B.  This Ordinance is currently applicable to the service area encompassing the 
jurisdictional boundaries of the San Rafael Sanitation District, and the Ross Valley 
Sanitary District, and Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County. The resolutions 
making this Ordinance effective in the Member Agencies’ service areas are listed 
below: 

1) Resolution No. 06-930 of the Board of Directors of the San Rafael 
Sanitation District, adopted October 4, 2006. 

2) Resolution No. 1284 of the Board of Directors of the Ross Valley Sanitary 
District, adopted April 3, 2007. 

3) Resolution No. 2009-4 of the Board of Directors of the Sanitary District 
No. 2 of Marin County, adopted December 15, 2009.  

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  6  O F  2 4  

SECTION 5 – DEFINITIONS 

Automatic Grease Interceptor – A type of Grease Interceptor with an automatic or active 
mechanism for removing grease from the collection tank and isolating it in a container. 

Best Management Practices (BMPs) – Schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, 
maintenance procedures, and other management practices to implement the requirements of 
this Ordinance. 

Brown Grease – Oil collected from grease interceptors installed in FSE facilities to separate 
grease and oil from wastewater. 

California Plumbing Code (CPC) – “California Plumbing Code” (California Code of Regulations, 
Title 24, Part 5). If there are future revisions that relate to sizing of Grease Interceptors, CMSA 
reserves the right to use either the present or revised code. 

Change of Ownership – When ownership of an FSE changes, as determined by Marin County 
Environmental Health Services, requiring a change of ownership form or restaurant plan check. 

CMSA - Central Marin Sanitation Agency. 

Drainage Fixture Unit (DFU) – A unit of measure for the load-producing effects on a plumbing 
system from different kinds of plumbing fixtures. 

Existing Food Service Establishment – Any Food Service Establishment (FSE) that is not a new 
FSE as of the effective date of this Ordinance. 

Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) – Any substance, such as an animal- or vegetable-product, that is 
used in, or is a byproduct of food preparation, food service, or kitchen clean-up that turns or 
may turn viscous or solidifies with a change in temperature or other conditions. 

Food Grinder (Garbage Disposal) – A device installed underneath a sink drain to grind and/or 
shred food waste into smaller particles. 

Food Service Establishment (FSE) – Includes, but is not limited to, any facility preparing and/or 
serving food for commercial use or sale. This includes restaurants, cafes, lunch counters, 
cafeterias, hotels, hospitals, convalescent homes, factory or school kitchens, coffee 
houses/shops, catering kitchens, bakeries, grocery stores with food preparation (excluding 
stores with only food warming operations), meat cutting and preparation, and other food 
handling facilities not listed above where FOG may be introduced into the Wastewater 
Collection System. 

Gravity Grease Interceptor (GGI) – A type of Grease Interceptor that is installed in a Wastewater 
Collection System to intercept FOG from wastewater discharge and is identified by volume, 30-
minute retention time, baffle(s), not less than two-compartments, a total volume of not less 
than 300 gallons, and gravity separation. 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  7  O F  2 4  

Grease Interceptor (GI) – A device used to remove FOG from kitchen wastes discharged to the 
Wastewater Collection System, i.e., a Gravity Grease Interceptor, Grease Trap, 
Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor, High-Capacity Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor, or 
other mechanical device. 

Grease Trap – See the Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor definition. 

Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor (HGI or Grease Trap) – A type of Grease Interceptor that is 
installed in a Wastewater Collection System to intercept FOG from a wastewater discharge and 
is identified by flow rate, separation, and retention efficiency. The design incorporates air 
entrainment, hydromechanical separation, interior baffling, and/or barriers in combination or 
separately, and one of the following: (a) external flow control, with air intake (vent), directly 
connected; (b) external flow control, without air intake (vent), directly connected; (c) without 
external flow control, directly vented; or (d) without external flow control, indirectly connected. 

High-Capacity Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor – A type of Hydromechanical Grease 
Interceptor (HGI) designed for the storage of FOG and solid food waste in excess of the 25% 
rule, the actual storage capacity of FOG and solid food waste being that specified by the device 
manufacturer. 

Hot Spot – A location in the Wastewater Collection System where one or more FOG-related 
Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) have occurred, or requires significantly increased maintenance 
to prevent FOG-related line blockages, and/or where a significant potential exists for FOG-
related line blockages to occur. The designation of a “hot spot” will be solely at the discretion of 
the Member Agency, based on the history and characteristics of the location.   

Kitchen Remodel – An FSE kitchen remodel that involves significant changes to the kitchen, as 
determined by CMSA, such as removal or addition of walls or changes to drain lines that involve 
invasive work to walls or floors, or any other modifications to an existing FSE requiring a 
restaurant plan check from Marin County Environmental Health Services. 

Member Agency – The cumulative service area of the Member Agencies (Ross Valley Sanitary 
District, San Rafael Sanitation District, and Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County) which 
comprise the CMSA service area. 

New Food Service Establishment – (a) A new building which will contain a Food Service 
Establishment (FSE); or (b) The installation of an FSE in an existing building which has not 
previously contained an FSE requiring a restaurant plan check from Marin County 
Environmental Health Services. 

Ross Valley Sanitary District (RVSD) Service Area – Previously known as Sanitary District No. 1 of 
Marin County. This includes Fairfax, San Anselmo, Larkspur, Ross, Greenbrae, and Kentfield. 

San Rafael Sanitation District (SRSD) Service Area – This includes all parts of the City of San 
Rafael south of the Puerto Suello ridge. (Terra Linda and Civic Center are not in the SRSD service 
area). 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  8  O F  2 4  

Sanitary District No.2 of Marin County (SD2) Service Area – This includes the Town of Corte 
Madera, portions of the Tiburon peninsula, the Greenbrae boardwalk, portions of Larkspur, and 
portions of unincorporated areas of Marin County. 

Sanitary Sewer Overflow (SSO) – A release of untreated or partially treated sewage from a 
Wastewater Collection System into the environment. 

Twenty-Five Percent (25%) Rule – The total depth of the floating grease layer plus the settleable 
solids layer cannot exceed 25% of the design hydraulic depth in any location of the grease 
interceptor. 

Wastewater Collection System – The collection system, all sewers and other facilities, owned or 
operated by the Member Agencies for carrying, collecting, storing, and delivering of sewage to 
the CMSA wastewater treatment facility. 

Working Capacity – The total volume of solids, water, and grease that a grease interceptor 
contains under normal operating conditions. 

Yellow Grease – Spent cooking oil and other fats and oils collected from commercial or 
industrial cooking operations. 

 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  9  O F  2 4  

SECTION 6 – GREASE INTERCEPTOR INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS 

This Ordinance governs all FSEs within the jurisdiction of this Ordinance. All new FSEs, all 
existing FSEs undergoing a kitchen remodel, and all existing FSEs upstream of a “sewer line hot 
spot” (hot spot) shall have at least one Grease Interceptor (GI), as specified below. The 
following table summarizes these requirements.   

Grease Interceptor Installation Requirements Summary 

 NOT  
Upstream of Hot Spot 

 
Upstream of Hot Spot 

New FSE 
 

GI required 
(see Section 6.A) 

GI required 
(see Section 6.A) 

Kitchen Remodel GI required 
(see Section 6.B) 

GI required* 
(see Section 6.B) 

Change of Ownership GI may be required 
(see Section 6.E) 

GI may be required 
(see Section 6.E) 

Existing FSE 
 

No requirement 
(see Section 6.D) 

GI required 
(see Section 6.C) 

*  For remodels, the GI may not need to be connected to all kitchen drains, at the discretion of CMSA. 

All GI installations shall comply with the California Plumbing Code (CPC) and installation criteria 
requirements (including but not limited to flow control devices, vents, etc.) and the FSE criteria 
provided below.  

A.  New Food Service Establishments 

All new FSEs shall install a GI sized in accordance with the current version of the 
CPC. The sizing determination is based on Drainage Fixture Units (DFUs) as 
specified in the CPC. A business will not be considered a “new FSE” solely on the 
basis of a changed menu, name, and/or ownership.  

All fixtures and equipment in the establishment which may receive FOG, 
including but not limited to utensil sinks, food preparation sinks, hand washing 
sinks in kitchen areas, mop sinks, and floor drains and floor sinks in kitchen and 
washing areas shall drain to a GI. The dishwashing machine shall be plumbed to 
the GI, unless specified otherwise by CMSA. Any discharge to the Wastewater 
Collection System from routine cleaning of exhaust hoods and ducts shall be 
plumbed to the GI. No drains from toilets, showers, or other domestic discharges 
shall be connected to the GI. For any kitchen drain not connected to the GI, the 
FSE shall maintain employee training and/or signage adequate to prevent 
discharge of FOG to the drain. 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 0  O F  2 4  

Outside refuse areas and/or washing areas must be covered and bermed to 
prevent discharge to storm drainage, and plumbed to the Wastewater Collection 
System, in accordance with the requirements of the municipality. These areas 
shall drain to a properly sized GI. 

B.  Kitchen Remodel 

Any FSE which is undergoing a kitchen remodel, shall install a GI(s). The 
requirements shall be the same as for a new FSE, except for the following: 

1) A remodeled FSE may be allowed to not connect some minor kitchen 
drains, such as hand washing sinks or floor drains, where connection of 
these drains to the GI would require excessive re-plumbing. The 
determination shall be solely at the discretion of CMSA, on a case-by-case 
basis. For any drain exempted from connection to the GI, the FSE shall 
maintain employee training and/or signage to prevent discharge of FOG 
to the drain. 

2) At CMSA discretion and on a case-by-case basis, a remodeled FSE may be 
exempt from complying with some of the requirements specified in this 
Ordinance regarding outside refuse areas and/or washing areas. At a 
minimum, facilities and operating practices must be adequate at all times 
to prevent illegal discharges to stormwater drainage. 

C.  Existing Food Service Establishments – Upstream of Hot Spot 

A current list of hot spot locations should be defined by each Member Agency. 
The list shall reference the evidence supporting each designation. Such evidence 
may include, but is not limited to, maintenance records, SSO reports, or video. 
The designation of a hot spot shall be solely at the discretion of the Member 
Agency. 

The minimum GI requirement for any FSE upstream of a designated hot spot 
shall be one or more GI(s) draining the food preparation sinks, utensil sinks, and 
dishwasher pre-rinse sink (scrap sink). This minimum GI requirement shall 
include installation of a GI on any device, including a wok stove or a soup kettle 
that has as a drain installed to remove rinse or wash water from cooking 
surfaces. Alternatively, the drain may be taken out of service and disconnected 
from the Wastewater Collection System if such action is acceptable to Marin 
County Environmental Health Services. For any kitchen drain not connected to 
the GI, the FSE shall maintain employee training and/or signage adequate to 
prevent discharge of FOG to the drain. 

 

 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 1  O F  2 4  

The sizing of the GI(s) shall be as follows: 

1) Existing FSEs with one or more GI(s) currently installed shall not be 
required to install a larger GI if the size of the GI is at least 70% of the size 
specified by the most current version of the CPC. Those FSEs with 
installed GI(s) sized at less than 70% of the CPC requirement shall be 
required to install larger or additional GI(s) to meet the appropriate sizing 
requirement of the CPC. 

2) CMSA reserves the right to require installation of a GI if such installation 
is appropriate due to the size, menu, or location of the FSE. 

D.  Existing Food Service Establishments – NOT Upstream of Hot Spot 

Existing FSEs that are not upstream of a hot spot do not have permit or GI 
requirements under this Ordinance. However, owners and operators of such 
establishments should consider that if the FSE should discharge sufficient FOG to 
cause an obstruction in the Wastewater Collection System, they would be in 
violation of this Ordinance and the SUO. Such discharge would also be likely to 
plug the FSE’s drain lines, causing sewage back-ups into the kitchen. 

Upon request, CMSA personnel will provide FSEs with information regarding 
employee training and GI information to minimize FOG discharge to the sewer. 

E.  Change of Ownership 

When an FSE changes ownership, new ownership shall provide new use 
information to CMSA. An evaluation of the facility’s new use shall be completed 
to determine GI installation and/or upgrade requirements. 

F.  Variance Procedure 

A new or remodeled FSE may be allowed to install one or more smaller GI(s), 
instead of a single large GI, if one or both of the following conditions occur: 

1) Adequate slope cannot be provided for gravity flow between kitchen 
plumbing fixtures and the proposed location of the GI or from the GI to 
the Wastewater Collection System. 

2) Adequate space cannot be provided at the site for installation and/or 
maintenance of a GI. 

Granting the variance for smaller GI(s) or which kitchen fixtures are connected 
shall be at the discretion of the CMSA General Manager or designee. The FSE 
shall provide CMSA with documentation adequate to verify at least one of the 
above conditions. 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 2  O F  2 4  

Installation of Automatic GI(s) of proprietary design, such as the “Big Dipper,” 
will be considered by CMSA on a case-by-case basis. Approval shall be contingent 
upon demonstration that the device will reliably perform at least as well as a 
conventional GI meeting the requirements of the CPC. 

 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 3  O F  2 4  

SECTION 7 – REQUIREMENTS AND BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES  

All new FSEs and existing FSEs upstream of a hot spot are subject to this Ordinance and shall 
have a current permit issued by CMSA and at least one GI, as described in this Ordinance. The 
sole exception is any FSE granted a permit waiver. All FSEs that are subject to this Ordinance 
shall comply with requirements below unless they are granted a permit waiver. 

A.   Prohibitions 

1) No FSE shall install, maintain, or use a food grinder (garbage disposal). All 
food waste from preparation and service items must be disposed of 
appropriately by physically removing the food waste into the appropriate 
legal receptacle prior to rinsing. 

2) Automatic grease interceptors are prohibited unless a variance is 
provided. At the discretion of CMSA, on a case-by-case basis, an FSE may 
be allowed to install and operate an automatic GI when circumstances 
preclude installation of an appropriately sized GGI or HGI. 

3) Addition of enzymes, micro-organisms, solvents, or emulsifiers to grease 
interceptors or to drains leading to GI(s) is prohibited. 

4) Disposal of waste cooking oil into drainage pipes is prohibited. All waste 
cooking oils must be collected and stored properly in labeled receptacles 
such as barrels or drums for recycling. 

5) Discharge of any waste including FOG and solid materials removed from 
the GI to the Wastewater Collection System is prohibited. 

6) In no case shall an FSE operate a GI where FOG and solids accumulation 
exceeds the GI maintenance requirements outlined within this Ordinance.  

7) Discharge of FOG and other wastes to stormwater drainage systems is 
prohibited. Discharges to stormwater drainage systems from an FSE will 
be referred to the appropriate authorities for enforcement action. 

B.  Best Management Practices (BMPs) 

All FSEs, at a minimum, must comply with the following BMPs: 

1) Drain screens must be installed in all sinks, drains, floor drains, floor 
sinks, dishwashers, etc. The screens must be frequently inspected and 
cleaned by disposing waste into the appropriate receptacle to prevent 
FOG and food buildup. 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 4  O F  2 4  

2) All FSEs must have an appropriate labeled receptacle for collecting yellow 
grease. The labeled receptacle must have a secondary containment to 
prevent spillage or leaks. The labeled receptacle must be serviced 
(emptied or exchanged) and recycled in a legal manner at an appropriate 
frequency. The FSE must maintain adequate employee training and/or 
kitchen signage to assure that the container is used and maintained in an 
appropriate manner. 

3) FOG and solids (brown grease) cleaned out of GI must be disposed in a 
legal manner. The FSE shall maintain adequate employee training and/or 
kitchen signage to assure compliance. Brown grease removed must be 
disposed in one of the two following methods. 

a)  All brown grease removed from the GI shall be combined in a 
labeled receptacle with adequate amounts of absorbent to 
prevent spillage or leakage, and discarded into the appropriate 
solid waste legal receptacle; or 

b)  All brown grease removed from the GI shall be placed in a labeled 
receptacle with secondary containment and recycled in a legal 
manner. Receipts or other documentation of such service shall be 
retained at the FSE and presented to CMSA staff upon request. 

4) All food waste must be disposed of directly into the appropriate legal 
solid waste container, and not in sinks.  

5) FSE employees must be trained upon hiring and annually thereafter on 
the following: 

a) How to “dry wipe” pots, pans, dishware, and work areas before 
washing to remove grease. 

b) How to properly dispose of food waste and solids into the 
appropriate legal solid waste receptacle to prevent leaking and 
odors. 

c) The location and use of absorption products to clean under fryer 
baskets and other locations where grease may be spilled or 
dripped. 

d) How to properly dispose of grease or oils from cooking equipment 
into a grease receptacle such as a barrel or drum without spilling. 

Training should be documented and retained indicating each employee's 
attendance and understanding of the practices reviewed.  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 5  O F  2 4  

6) Kitchen exhaust filters must be cleaned as frequently as necessary to be 
maintained in good operating condition. The wastewater generated from 
cleaning the exhaust filter must be discharged to the GI. Solids generated 
in this maintenance shall be discarded in accordance with brown grease 
requirements in this Ordinance. 

7) Best management and waste minimization practices must be posted 
conspicuously in the food preparation and dishwashing areas at all times. 

.   

 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 6  O F  2 4  

SECTION 8 – GREASE INTERCEPTOR MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS  

The permit issued to an FSE will specify the required minimum frequency for maintaining 
(pumping or hand cleaning) the GI(s) and how the FSE shall verify this maintenance. These 
requirements are described below. 

A.  Large GI(s) 

FSEs with a GI flow rating greater than or equal to 100-gpm must have the GI 
serviced (i.e., all compartments pumped empty) and the contents legally 
disposed of at a minimum once every three months. CMSA may require more 
frequent servicing if inspections by CMSA staff indicate that pumping every three 
months is not adequate. At the discretion of CMSA, the required frequency may 
be reduced if the FSE provides documentation (e.g., hauler certifications) 
adequate to establish that less frequent pumping would suffice. Such 
documentation shall be based on a minimum of one year of quarterly pumping 
and shall be verified by CMSA inspections. 

B.  Small GI(s) 

FSEs with a HGI flow rating less than 100-gpm must have the GI serviced and the 
contents legally disposed of at a minimum once per month. CMSA may require 
more frequent servicing if inspections by CMSA staff indicate that monthly 
pumping is not adequate. At the discretion of CMSA, the required frequency may 
be reduced if the FSE provides documentation (e.g., hauler certifications) 
adequate to establish that less frequent pumping would suffice. Such 
documentation shall be based on a minimum of one year of monthly pumping 
and shall be verified by CMSA inspections. 

C.  Pumping and Reporting Requirements 

All pumping must be performed by persons who are certified by the California 
Department of Food and Agriculture (DFA) as a “registered transporter of 
inedible kitchen grease.” The pumper shall transport the collected waste to an 
“authorized receiving facility,” as defined by the DFA. DFA regulations require 
the pumper to provide the FSE with a “waste removal receipt” which includes 
the name of the FSE, the service date, the “working capacity” of the interceptor 
pumped, and the total amount of waste pumped from the GI. Copies of each 
waste removal receipt for any calendar month shall be submitted (mail, fax, or 
email) to CMSA by the date specified within the FSEs permit.  

 

 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 7  O F  2 4  

D.  Self-Clean Procedure 

FSEs with a GI flow rating less than or equal to 50-gpm may opt to comply with 
the following GI self-cleaning procedure in lieu of the monthly service 
requirement specified in this Ordinance. 

1) The GI must be serviced by FSE staff and/or a contractor at a minimum once 
every 15 days. CMSA may require more frequent servicing if CMSA 
inspections determine the GI servicing inadequate. 

2) Persons cleaning the GI must assure that all grease and sediment is removed 
from the GI and appropriately disposed. They must also inspect and assure 
that all baffles, flow control devices, and other equipment are properly 
reinstalled after cleaning. 

3) Cleaning of the GI must be documented on a log sheet maintained by the 
FSE. The log sheet must include, at a minimum, the date of the cleaning 
event, the name of the person(s) performing the cleaning, their signature, 
the quantity of waste removed from the GI, and any other relevant 
observations. Copies of each log sheet for any calendar month shall be 
submitted (mail, fax, or email) to CMSA by the date specified within the FSEs 
permit.  

E.  Twenty-Five Percent (25%) Rule 

Regardless of the maintenance frequency of a GI as established in an FSE’s 
permit, in no case shall an FSE operate a GI where FOG and solids accumulation 
exceeds the 25% rule in any chamber of the device, with exception to the 
following: 

1) When an FSE has installed and maintains a High-Capacity HGI 
designed to accumulate FOG and solids in excess of the 25% rule, the 
FSE may be allowed to operate the HGI with FOG and solids 
accumulation in excess of the 25% rule up to the manufacturer’s 
design capacity specifications. 

 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 8  O F  2 4  

SECTION 9 – PERMIT REQUIREMENTS, FEES, AND ENFORCEMENT  

CMSA staff will monitor FSE compliance with this Ordinance and their permit. Below is an 
outline of the routine monitoring and enforcement procedures. CMSA reserves the right to 
modify these procedures, as appropriate. 

A.  Permits  

As specified in this Ordinance, all new FSEs and FSEs upstream of a hot spot must 
have a CMSA permit or a permit waiver. CMSA staff will not issue a permit until 
they have verified that the FSE is in compliance with the GI requirements 
specified in this Ordinance. If an FSE has an existing GI that must be replaced due 
to inadequate sizing or not being in satisfactory working condition, an interim 
permit may be issued to specify maintenance of the existing GI until it can be 
replaced. 

The permit issued to an FSE shall specify the required maintenance (pumping or 
cleaning) frequency for the GI, and the requirements for verifying maintenance, 
in accordance with this Ordinance. 

B.  Permit Waiver 

All FSEs shall have a current permit issued by the CMSA, unless the CMSA grants 
a permit waiver. Waivers will be granted only to those FSEs that can 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of CMSA that they are not a significant source of 
FOG. This will normally be the case only if there is no cooking or clean-up taking 
place at the facility. 

C.  Permit Inspections 

CMSA staff will perform on-site inspections of FSEs to verify compliance with the 
permit. These inspections may be unannounced or scheduled as needed. CMSA 
staff will attempt to conduct inspections so as to minimize the impact on the 
operation of the FSE (e.g., no visiting during the lunch period). However, the FSE 
shall provide CMSA staff, at all times that the FSE is open and/or in operation, 
with access to the FSE in order to inspect the premises, GIs, and maintenance 
records. This specifically includes access to the GI. If the device is inaccessible to 
CMSA staff due to placement of vehicles, mats, utensils, etc., FSE staff shall 
remove such obstacles in a timely fashion. If CMSA staff must re-visit an FSE in 
order to complete an inspection, as a result of adequate access not being 
provided, a re-inspection fee shall be assessed. The re-inspection fee will not be 
assessed only in those cases where the CMSA inspector documents adequate 
extenuating circumstances. 

 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  1 9  O F  2 4  

D.   Permit Fees 

The SUO and CMSA Fee Ordinance provide CMSA the authority to assess and 
collect fees from users of the Wastewater Collection System, in order to recover 
costs incurred by CMSA when regulating discharges into the Wastewater 
Collection System. The fees specified therein are applicable to FSEs as “Class III 
Users” of the Wastewater Collection System. 

At CMSA discretion, the Permit Fee and/or other fees specified in the current 
CMSA Fee Ordinance may be waived to the extent that the Member Agency 
reimburses CMSA for the costs of implementing the FOG requirements set forth 
in this Ordinance. Nothing herein is intended to alter or limit such fees as a 
Member Agency may impose on users that are regulated under this Ordinance. 

As discussed in this Ordinance, if an inspection by CMSA staff determines that a 
permittee is in violation of one or more requirements of this Ordinance, the 
permittee shall be assessed a fee to reimburse the CMSA for the cost of a re-
inspection to determine that the violation has been corrected. Additional fees 
may be assessed if an enforcement order is issued to the permittee, as discussed 
in this Ordinance.  

As specified in the CMSA Fee Ordinance, all fees assessed by the CMSA are due 
and payable upon receipt of such notice.  

E.  Permit Violations 

The following conditions are violations of an FSE permit and shall result in 
enforcement. Enforcement procedures are outlined within the CMSA 
Enforcement Response Plan (ERP). Egregious and/or repeated violations may 
result in escalated enforcement action. A Notice of Violation (NOV) shall state 
the violation(s), the corrective action(s) required, and the date the corrective 
action(s) must be completed. 

1) GI not maintained – The permit shall specify the minimum maintenance 
frequency required, in accordance this Ordinance. If documentation of 
adequate maintenance is not provided to CMSA staff, the FSE shall be in 
violation. Regardless of the frequency of maintenance, any GI with a 
combined level of floating FOG and settled solids in any compartment 
which exceeds GI required liquid depth of that compartment shall be 
considered to be in violation.  

2) GI not in working condition – All vents, baffles, inlet and outlet devices, 
and flow control devices necessary for proper operation of the GI and 
compliance with this Ordinance must be in place and in working 
condition at all times. 



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  2 0  O F  2 4  

3) Grease recycling receptacle not in use – Unless exempted in the permit, 
the FSE shall comply with this Ordinance. 

4) Prohibited compounds discharged to the GI – Unless specific compounds 
are authorized in the permit, the FSE shall comply with this Ordinance. 

5) FOG discharged to drain not connected to the GI – See Sections 6 of this 
Ordinance. Repeated incidents may result in requirement to connect the 
drain to a GI. 

6) Access denied to CMSA staff – failure to provide CMSA staff reasonable 
access to the FSE to inspect the premises, GI(s), and maintenance 
records.  

F.  Re-inspection 

If a NOV is issued for violation of an FSE permit, the FSE shall be assessed an 
inspection fee. The fee shall reimburse CMSA for the cost of inspecting the FSE 
to verify the corrective action required by the NOV. 

Normally the re-inspection fee shall be a standard charge equal to 1.5 times the 
weighted hourly salary for the CMSA staff normally performing FSE inspections, 
plus 60% overhead. In exceptional cases, requiring substantially more than 1.5 
hours staff time for all follow-up to the NOV, the re-inspection fee shall be based 
on actual staff time documented. 

G.  Escalated Enforcement 

Where deemed necessary to achieve compliance with this Ordinance, CMSA will 
take escalated enforcement action beyond or in addition to the NOV. The normal 
intermediate enforcement action is an Administrative Order (AO), as described 
in the SUO and ERP. Fees may be assessed as part of an AO in order to recover 
CMSA costs for the enforcement action. 

 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  2 1  O F  2 4  

SECTION 10 – HEARINGS AND APPEALS 

Applicable sections of the SUO are hereby incorporated by reference into this Ordinance (No. 
2021-1). Any person wishing to appeal a decision, action, or determination of CMSA pursuant to 
this Ordinance shall comply with all relevant provisions of the SUO. 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  2 2  O F  2 4  

SECTION 11 – SEVERABILITY 

If any provision, paragraph, word, section, or article of this Ordinance is invalidated by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions, words, sections, articles, and 
chapters shall not be affected and shall continue in full force and effect. 

 

  



 

 
CMSA Ordinance No. 2021-1  P A G E  2 3  O F  2 4  

SECTION 12 – REVISION 

The CMSA Board of Commissioners reserve the right to update, change, or modify this 
Ordinance when deemed advisable and necessary. 

 

  



EECT}OT$ fi_ EFFEETME SATE

This Oreiinance shafi be effective i3il) days after its parsage. Befcre the expiration of
fifteea {t'Si days after its it sh*ll he p:rblished a*ce, with the names of the rn*mberg
vating for and a6ainst it, in the lxdep*rtde*t l*zsrnal, a new$paFer ef ge*eral cireulatian
published within CMSA

PASSED AND TIDOPTID this by the following wte:

AYE$: Eli Beckman, Michae! in, M*ribeth Bushey. Dean Di6io.uannl, **ug Ketly

S]S.ES,: Nsne

AB.SENT: ltene

CM5,4 Ordinanre l,Jo. 2021-L F-*6r ** sr'g:l

Attest:



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  21-1226 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 

AUTHORIZING THE SIGNING OF AN AGREEMENT 
WITH CMSA TO PARTICIPATE IN THE  

FATS, OILS, & GREASE (FOG) SOURCE CONTROL PROGRAM 
  

 

 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT, 

COUNTY OF MARIN, hereby resolve as follows: 

 The Board Chair is hereby authorized to execute, on behalf of the San Rafael 

Sanitation District, an agreement with CMSA to participate in the Fats, Oils, & Grease 

(FOG) Source Control Program, a copy of which is hereby attached and by this 

reference made a part hereof. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the San Rafael Sanitation 

District Board of Directors held on the 6th day of May 2021 by the following vote, to wit: 

 

AYES:   Director Rice, Chair Kate  

NOES:   None  

ABSENT/ABSTAIN:  Director Bushey 

  
 
   
 
 
 
         
  Kate Colin, Chair 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
   
Katie Rice, Acting Secretary 





Page 1 of 4 

FATS, OILS, & GREASE (FOG) SOURCE CONTROL  
PROGRAM AGREEMENT 

 
Between the San Rafael Sanitation District  

and Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

This Agreement is between the CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY (hereinafter referred to 
as CMSA), and SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT (hereinafter referred to as SRSD). 

WHEREAS, SRSD received a 13267 letter from the San Francisco Regional Water Board in July 
2005 requiring it to develop a Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP), which includes a Fats Oils and 
Grease (FOG) program; and 

WHEREAS, the State Water Resources Control Board issued on May 2, 2006 a Statewide 
General Waste Discharge Requirement, for all collection system agencies within the State, that requires 
each to prepare an SSMP and a source control program for FOG, if FOG is determined by the collection 
system agency to be a contributor to sewer overflows; and 

WHEREAS, SRSD has determined that specific identified areas within its collection system 
; and 

WHEREAS, CMSA employs source control staff to regulate and enforce the pretreatment and 
pollution prevention programs within its service area, and CMSA has a comprehensive FOG Ordinance 
(Ordinance) and related administrative and enforcement documents; and 

 WHEREAS, SRSD and CMSA entered into an agreement in May 2006 for CMSA to develop, 
implement, manage, and administer a FOG source control program (Program) within SRSD
area, under authority of the Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, SRSD the regulated FSEs in its service area 
are in compliance with the Ordinance; and 

 WHEREAS, now SRSD and CMSA desire to update the 2006 Agreement to reflect the current 
state of the Program and its ongoing administration; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows: 
 
1. Definitions: 
 

 Source control - Inspections, permits, education, enforcement and other activities for 
the purpose of reducing or eliminating discharge of pollutants of concern (in this case 
FOG) to the sanitary sewers. 
 



Page 2 of 4 

 Food Service Establishment (FSE) - Includes any facility preparing and/or serving food 
for commercial use or sale. This includes restaurants, cafes, lunch counters, cafeterias, 
hotels, hospitals, convalescent homes, factory or school kitchens, catering kitchens, 
bakeries, grocery stores with food preparation (excluding stores with only food 
warming operations), meat cutting and preparation, and other food handling facilities. 

 Grease Removal Device (GRD) - A grease trap (smaller, in kitchen) or grease 
interceptor (larger, outside) installed on FSE kitchen drains. 
 

 - A location in the sanitary sewer system that requires 
significantly increased maintenance to prevent FOG-related line blockages and/or 
where FOG-related sewer overflows have occurred. 

 "Blanket" FOG program - A FOG source control program where all identified FSEs are 
regulated. 
 

 "Targeted" FOG program - A FOG source control program where the FSEs regulated 
are only those that are upstream of a documented sanitary sewer system "hot spot." 

 Hauling manifest - A form documenting maintenance (grease pumping) of a grease 
interceptor or trap.   

 
2. FOG Program:  The Program will regulate, through source control activities, the FSEs that 

P Program that 
would require regulation of all FSEs in the SRSD service area. 

3. Scope of Services:  CMSA hereby agrees to provide the following services: 

 Maintaining a current database of the FSE information in the SRSD service area.  
  
 As needed, conduct FSE plan review in coordination with Marin County 

Environmental Health Services for GRD installation compliance with the Ordinance.  
 
 Notify new and remodeled FSEs of the Program requirements in Ordinance 

 Maintain the Program. Tasks will include issuing FSE FOG permits, performing field 
inspections to verify that appropriate GRDs are installed, and that FSEs are in 
compliance with the Ordinance provisions. 

 Implement accelerated monitoring to address chronic non-compliant FSEs. 
Accelerated monitoring may involve up to monthly FSE inspection to facilitate 
compliance with the Ordinance provisions. 



Page 3 of 4 

 Provide on-going administration of the Program. This will include on-going 
coordination with SRSD staff to maintain current FSE information, perform periodic 
inspections of FSEs, and perform follow-up inspections and enforcement actions as 
needed. 

4. Quarterly Report:  CMSA shall keep and maintain records of expenditures, FSE inspection 
reports, FOG hauling manifests, and other pertinent program documentation. CMSA shall 
provide SRSD with a quarterly report of the FOG program activities.   

5. Compensation: SRSD shall reimburse CMSA quarterly for work performed under this 
agreement. Reimbursement shall be based on the current weighted hourly rates of the 
CMSA staff performing the work, plus a 10% overhead rate.  Rates will be included in the 
annual budget. 

In the event it is necessary for CMSA personnel to work overtime, as authorized by SRSD, 
the overtime hours shall be reimbursed at one and one-half times the weighted hourly rate 
plus overhead. 

CMSA personnel shall use CMSA vehicles for all work performed under this agreement. 
SRSD shall reimburse CMSA monthly for actual mileage on CMSA vehicles for work under 
this agreement. The mileage will be reimbursed at the IRS mileage rate for the current 
calendar year. 

CMSA will adjust weighted hourly rates within a budget year to account for CMSA cost of 
living (COLA) and equity salary adjustments.   

6. Budget Estimate: CMSA shall develop an estimated annual budget for the Program. The 
budget is an estimate and may vary depending on enforcement measures needed as a result 
of discharger violations, scope of work desired by SRSD, and other requested services. The 
draft budget will be submitted by May 1st. 

7. Liability: Both parties agree to hold the other free and harmless from all claims arising from 
this Agreement for damage to persons or property except those resulting from negligence 
on the part of either party. 

8. Reporting: SRSD shall be responsible for meeting regulatory FOG reporting requirements. At 
SRSD  

9. Term: This Agreement shall take effect the day after it is signed by the last signatory and 
shall remain in full force and effect from year to year unless the Agreement is terminated by 
either party by providing the other party a 90 days written notice of the intention to 
terminate the Agreement. In the event either party delivers to the other a 90 day written 

  notice, this Agreement shall terminate 90 days after the date of the written notice unless 
the parties agree to a longer or shorter termination period. 





 

 

 

 

Appendix D 

SSMP Audit Forms 

  



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



  Page 1 of 5 
 

 San Rafael Sanitation District 
Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP) 

Audit Report  
 
The purpose of the Annual SSMP Audit is to evaluate the effectiveness of the San Rafael 
Sanitation District’s SSMP and to identify deficiencies, if any, and steps to correct them.  
The audit is submitted pursuant to the San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality 
Control Board’s Sewer System Management Plan Development Guide, July 2005.   
          
Directions: Please check YES or NO for each question.  If NO is answered for any 
question, describe the updates/changes needed and the timeline to complete those 
changes in the “Description of Scheduled Updates/Changes to the SSMP” section on 
Page 5 of this form.   
 YES NO 
ELEMENT 1 – GOALS 
A. Are the goals stated in the SSMP still appropriate and accurate? □ □ 

 
ELEMENT 2 -- ORGANIZATION 

A. Is the District Services Key Staff Telephone List current? □ □ 

B. Is the Sanitary Sewer Overflow Responder Telephone List current? □ □ 

C. Is the chart in the SSMP, entitled “SRSD Organizational Chart,” current? □ □ 

D. Are the position descriptions and accurate portrayal of staff 
responsibilities? □ □ 

E. Is the table in the SSMP, titled “Chain of Communication for Reporting 
and Responding to SSOs,” accurate and up-to-date? □ □ 

 
ELEMENT 3 – LEGAL AUTHORITY 
Does the SSMP contain excerpts from the current San Rafael Sanitation District Resolutions, 

Ordinances, and Standards documenting the District’s legal authority to: 

A. Prevent illicit discharges? □ □ 

B. Require proper design and construction of sewers and connections? □ □ 

C. 
Ensure access for maintenance, inspection, or repairs for portions of the 
lateral owned or maintained by the District?  Not Applicable.  Laterals 
are owned by the property owner. 

□ □ 

D. Limit discharges of fats, oil and grease? □ □ 

E. Enforce any violation of its sewer ordinances? □ □ 
 



  Page 2 of 5 
 

 YES NO 
ELEMENT 4 – OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE  
 Collection System Maps 
A. Does the SSMP reference the current process and procedures for 

maintaining the District’s wastewater collection system maps? □ □ 

B. Are the District’s wastewater collection system maps complete, current, 
and sufficiently detailed? □ □ 

 Resources and Budget 

C. 
Does the District allocate sufficient funds for the effective operation, 
maintenance and repair of the wastewater collection system and is the 
current budget structure documented in the SSMP? 

□ □ 

 Prioritized Preventive Maintenance 
D. Does the SSMP describe current preventive maintenance activities and the 

system for prioritizing the cleaning of sewer lines? □ □ 

E. 
Based upon information in the Annual SSO Report, are the District’s 
preventive maintenance activities sufficient and effective in minimizing 
SSOs and blockages? 

□ □ 

 Scheduled Inspections and Condition Assessments 

F. 

Is there an ongoing condition assessment program sufficient to develop a 
capital improvement plan addressing the proper management and 
protection of infrastructure assets? Are the current components of this 
program documented in the SSMP? 

□ □ 

 Contingency Equipment and Replacement Inventory 

G. 
Does the SSMP list the major equipment currently used in the operation 
and maintenance of the collection system and document the procedures of 
inventory management? 

□ □ 

H. Are contingency equipment and replacement parts sufficient to respond to 
emergencies and properly conduct regular maintenance? □ □ 

 Training 
I. Is the training calendar current? □ □ 

J. Does the SSMP document current training expectations and programs 
within the District? □ □ 

 Outreach to Plumbers and Building Contractors 
K. Does the SSMP document current outreach efforts to plumbers and 

building contractors? □ □ 
 



  Page 3 of 5 
 

 
 YES NO 
ELEMENT 5 – DESIGN AND PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

A. 

Does the SSMP contain current design and construction standards for the 
installation of new sanitary sewer systems, pump stations and other 
appurtenances and for the rehabilitation and repair of existing sanitary 
sewer systems? 

□ □ 

B. 
Does the SSMP document current procedures and standards for inspecting 
and testing the installation of new sewers, pumps, and other 
appurtenances and the rehabilitation and repair of existing sewer lines? 

□ □ 

 
ELEMENT 6 – OVERFLOW AND EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 

A. 
Does the District’s Sanitary Sewer Overflow and Backup Response Plan 
establish procedures for the emergency response, notification, and 
reporting of sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs)? 

□ □ 

B. Are staff and contractor personnel appropriately trained on the procedures 
of the Sanitary Sewer Overflow and Backup Response Plan? □ □ 

C. 
Considering performance indicator data in the Annual SSO Report, is the 
Sanitary Sewer Overflow and Backup Response Plan effective in handling 
SSOs in order to safeguard public health and the environment? 

□ □ 

 
ELEMENT 7 – FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG) CONTROL PROGRAM 
A. Does the Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Control Program include efforts to 

educate the public on the proper handling and disposal of FOG? □ □ 

B. 
Does the District’s FOG Control Program identify sections of the 
collection system subject to FOG blockages, establish a cleaning schedule 
and address source control measures to minimize these blockages? 

□ □ 

C. 
Are requirements for grease removal devices, best management practices 
(BMP), record keeping and reporting established in the District’s FOG 
Control Program? 

□ □ 

D. Does the District have sufficient legal authority to implement and enforce 
the FOG Control Program? □ □ 

E. Is the current FOG program effective in minimizing blockages of sewer 
lines resulting from discharges of FOG to the system □ □ 

 
ELEMENT 8 – SYSTEM EVALUATION AND CAPACITY ASSURANCE PLAN 

A. 

Does the District’s Sanitary Sewer Master Plan evaluate hydraulic 
deficiencies in the system, establish sufficient design criteria and 
recommend both short and long term capacity enhancement and 
improvement projects? 

□ □ 

B. 

Does the District’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) establish a schedule 
of approximate completion dates for both short and long-term 
improvements and is the schedule reviewed and updated to reflect current 
budgetary capabilities and activity accomplishment? 

□ □ 



  Page 4 of 5 
 

 
 YES NO 
ELEMENT 9 – MONITORING, MEASUREMENT, AND PROGRAM 

MODIFICATIONS 
A. Does the SSMP accurately portray the methods of tracking and reporting 

selected performance indicators? □ □ 

B. Is the District able to sufficiently evaluate the effectiveness of SSMP 
elements based on relevant information? □ □ 

ELEMENT 10 – SSMP AUDITS 

A. 
Will the SSMP Audit be submitted with the SSO Annual Report to the 
Regional Water Board by March 15th of the year following the end of the 
calendar year being audited? 

□ □ 

 
ELEMENT 11 – COMMUNICATION PROGRAM 

A. 
Does the District effectively communicate with the public and other 
agencies about the development and implementation of the SSMP and 
continue to address any feedback? 

□ □ 

 



  Page 5 of 5 
 

Description of Scheduled Updates/Changes to the SSMP 
 
Directions:  For each NO answer, please describe the planned revision and indicate the 
date the revision will be completed.  Reference the SSMP element and question number 
with each explanation. 
 
________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________ 



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



 

 

 

 

Appendix E 

Capital Improvements  

Program Schedule 

  



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

  



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
80-YEAR LIFE-CYCLE PROGRAM (GRAVITY SEWERS)
PROPOSED SCHEDULE TO FY 2023-24

Est. Cost 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

Sewer Televising 2018 $200,000 $200,000
2018 Sewer Pipe Repair $300,000 $300,000
Forbes Sewer Improvement $925,000 $925,000
Sewer Televising 2019 $300,000 $1,000 $299,000
Francisco Blvd East at Medway & Vivan $750,000 $50,000 $700,000
Francisco Blvd East at Grange $540,000 $40,000 $500,000

Rehabilitation of Beach Sewers-Bayside Acres $2,760,366 $83,000 $140,000 $500,000 $2,000,000
Woodland Pl/Ave & Octavia $2,780,000 $80,000 $200,000 $2,500,000
Third St Rehabilitation $2,020,000 $15,000 $120,000 $1,900,000
Miramar and Miraflores $1,065,566 $45,000 $20,000 $1,000,000
2020 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl, Ph 1/2/3 $4,700,000 $700,000 $4,000,000
#70-96 Bret Harte Easement $3,088,000 $88,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000
Sewer Televising 2020 $400,000 $400,000
Second St, Ida to E Streets $1,300,000 $100,000 $1,200,000
Fifth Ave, Ray Ct to Sirard Ln $2,000,000 $300,000 $1,700,000
2021 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl $4,500,000 $1,500,000 $3,000,000
Sewer Televising 2021 $400,000 $400,000
2022 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl $4,600,000 $1,500,000 $3,100,000
Sewer Televising 2022 $400,000 $400,000
2023 Sewer Pipe Repair/Repl $4,700,000 $1,500,000

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $60,322,720 $1,787,000 $2,219,000 $13,300,000 $8,300,000 $8,900,000

Project
Fiscal Year



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
PUMP STATION & FORCE MAIN CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
PROPOSED SCHEDULE TO FY 2023-24

Project Est. Cost 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS

N. Francisco Force Main Sleeve $200,000 $175,000

South Francisco Pump Station $2,520,000 $925,000 $1,465,000

Third St PS & Fiberglass PS $3,400,000 $60,000 $2,540,000 $800,000

ARV at Harbor $280,000 $80,000 $200,000

Isolation Valve Replacement $600,000 $125,000 $475,000

Force Main Condition Assessment $470,000 $120,000 $50,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000

N Fran PS & WRR PS $2,500,000 $2,500,000

Projects to be identified $1,000,000 $1,000,000

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES $8,470,000 $1,220,000 $1,780,000 $3,315,000 $3,400,000 $3,600,000

Fiscal Year



 

 

 

 

Appendix F 

Summary of SSOs  

From 2017 to 2022 

  



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

 

 

  



SUMMARY OF SANITARY SEWER OVERFLOWS FROM 2015 to 2020

Table 1.  Number of SSOs
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Size of SSO (gallons) Number Number Number Number Number Number

Less than 10 gallons 5 5 4 2 8 1
From 10 to 99 gallons 7 5 9 3 13 3
From 100 to 999 gallons 5 11 6 13 8 3
Greater than or equal to 1,000 
gallons

0 2 4 4 5

Total Number of SSO's 17 23 23 22 34 7

Table 2.  Volume of SSOs
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Volume of SSO's Volume 
(gallons)

Volume 
(gallons)

Volume 
(gallons)

Volume 
(gallons)

Volume 
(gallons)

Volume 
(gallons)

1,971 1,528 1,057 5,099 12,708 650

0 38,894 7,266 3,223 9,021 249

1,289 3,162 2,955 5,471 1,508 1,022
Total Volume of SSO's 3,260 43,584 11,278 13,793 23,237 1,921

Total volume contained and returned 
to sewer system for treatment
Total volume reaching waters of the 
State
Total volume not contained but not 
reaching waters of the State 
(everything else)

Page 1 of 2



SUMMARY OF SANITARY SEWER OVERFLOWS FROM 2015 TO 2020

 Table 3.  Causes of SSOs
2015 2015 2016 2016 2017 2017 2018 2018 2019 2019 2020 2020

Cause of SSO Number
Percent 
of Total Number

Percent 
of Total Number

Percent 
of Total Number

Percent 
of Total Number

Percent 
of Total Number

Percent 
of Total

Blockage:
    Roots 7 41.2 13 54.2 1 4.3 6 27.3 8 23.5 0 0.0
    Grease 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 5 14.7 1 14.3
    Debris 1 5.9 3 12.5 1 4.3 1 4.5 2 5.9 0 0.0
    Debris from Laterals 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 8.7 3 13.6 0 0.0 1 14.3
    Rags/Wipes 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 5.9 3 42.9
    CS Maintenance cause spill 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 4.5 0 0.0 0 0.0
    Pipe Structural Problem/ Failure 1 5.9 2 8.3 0 0.0 2 9.1 6 17.6 1 14.3
    Vandalism 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 4.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
    Pump Station - others 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 8.8 0 0.0
    Operation Error 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 2.9 0 0.0
    Animal Carcass 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
    Comstuction Failure 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 4.3 0 0.0 1 2.9 0 0.0
    Construction Debris 1 5.9 0 0.0 1 4.3 1 4.5 0 0.0 0 0.0
    Multiple Causes 7 41.2 5 20.8 14 60.9 8 36.4 5 14.7 1 14.3
    Subtotal for Blockage 17 100.0 23 95.8 21 91.3 22 100.0 33 97.1 7 100.0
Infrastructure Failure 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Inflow & Infiltration 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Electrical Power Failure 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Flow Capacity Deficiency 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Natural Disaster 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 4.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Bypass 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 2.9 0 0.0
Cause Unknown 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 4.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Total 17 100 23 96 23 100 22 100 34 100 7 100

Page 2 of 2



 

 

 

 

Appendix G 

Mutual Aid & Assistance Agreement 
between Marin County       
Wastewater Agencies 

  



 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

 

 

 

















Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Novato Sanitary District  Page 2 of 2 

Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies 

Emergency Equipment Resources 
Agency:  Novato Sanitary District 
Contact Name:  Sandeep Karkal  Contact Phone Number: 415-892-1694 
Last Updated: 8/30/21    
     

Item Specifics ID# Qty Location/Assigned to 

Escape 
Breathing Air 

EBA rescue air packs  3 Pump Station Service 
Truck (1) Collections 
Department Office (2) 

Gas Detectors RKI Instruments 4-gas meters  8 Collections 
Department Office 

Portable 
Pumps 

Trailer mounted 4” Screwsucker pump 3409 1 NSD Treatment Plant 

 4-inch pump trailer, Gorman Rupp w/ 
Deutz diesel engine 

 1 Reclamation Sludge 
Lagoons 

Air 
Compressor 

Trailer-mounted Ingersoll-Rand air 
compressor 

Veolia 1 NSD Treatment Plant  

Generators Trailer mounted Kohler MQ 20 kW 
generator 

3306 1 NSD Treatment Plant 

 Trailer mounted Kohler 20 kW generator 3302 1 NSD Treatment Plant 

 Trailer mounted Kohler 30 kW generator 
Trailer mounted Kohler 30 kW generator 
Trailer mounted Kohler 30 kW generator 

3303 
3312 
3313 

1 
1 
1 

NSD Treatment Plant 
NSD Treatment Plant 
NSD Treatment Plant 

 Trailer mounted MQ power 45 kW 
generator 
Trailer mounted Kohler 45kW generator 
Trailer mounted Kohler 45kW generator 

3307 
 

3311 
3310 

1 
 

1 
1 

NSD Treatment Plant 
 
NSD Treatment Plant 
NSD Treatment Plant 

 Honda EM3500X generator  1 NSD Treatment Plant 

 Honda E2000i generator 
Honda EU3000i generator 
Honda E1000i generator 
Trailer mounted Kohler 200 kW generator 

 2 
1 
1 
1 

NSD Treatment Plant 
NSD Treatment Plant 
NSD Treatment Plant 
Olive Street Pump Sta. 

Pickup Trucks 2002 Dodge Dakota Veolia 1 Laboratory 

 2005 Chevrolet ½ ton 3122 1 Collections 

 2007 Ford 4X4 Extra Cab 3129 1 Field Services Manager 

 2007 Dodge Dakota 3130 1 Inspection 



Novato Sanitary District  Page 2 of 2 

Item Specifics ID# Qty Location/Assigned to 

 Ford F-250 ¾ ton w/fuel transfer tank 
2018 Ford Supercab F150 
2019 Ford Supercab F250 w/fuel trans tank 
2019 Ford Supercab F250 w/fuel trans tank 
2019 Nissan Frontier  

3133 
3136 
3137 
3138 
3139 

1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

Collections 
Collections Supt. 
Collections 
Collections 
E/I Tech 

Passenger 2007 Chevrolet Blazer 3128 1 General Manager 

Vehicles 2008 Toyota Prius 
2017 Ford Fusion hybrid 

3131 
3134 

1 
1 

Administration 
Deputy General Mgr 

Utility Truck 2011 Ford F550 service truck 3207 1 Collections 

Sewer 
Maintenance 
Vehicles 

2014 International Terrastar rodder 
2017 Ford F-550 flusher 
2005 Peterbilt Camel flusher/vac. cleaner 
2006 Sterling Camel flusher/vac. cleaner 
Kenworth vactor 
Godwin 6” portable pump 

3208 
3209 
3207 
3206 
3210 
3414 

1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

Collections 
Collections 
Collections 
Collections 
Collections 
Collections 

CCTV Camera 
Van 

2018 Ford 350 Transit 3135 1 Collections 

Portable 2-
Way Radios 

Motorola   12 
 

Collections Dept. 
Office 

Confined 
Space 
Equipment 

DBI/SALA davit style hoist and winches 
3 fall arrest/hoist + 2 winch/hoist only 

 5 Pump Station Service 
Truck and Confined 
Space Conex Box 

Miscellaneous Davit arm lift w/winch (equipment lift)  1 Ignacio 

 



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 

Between Marin County Wastewater  Agencies 

Emergency  Equipment Resources 

Agency:   Ross Valley Sanitary District 

Contact Name: -Manuel Vigil--------- 

Last Updated: _August 31, 2021 _ 

Contact  Phone Number:   415 259 2949 

E.g.,  Generator E.g.,   Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer-mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station 

 

 

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 
Dump Truck 2013 DuroStar 4400 2 Landing 

Combo 2008 Peterbilt VacCon 1 Landing 

SUV 2016 Explorer 1 Kerner 

Tractor Kubota KX121 1 Landing 

Tractor John Deere D50 1 Landing 

Jetter 2012 Vactor Ramjet 2 Landing 

Jetter 2015 F-550 Harben 18 GPM at 4000 PSI 2 Landing and Kerner 

SUV 2018 Ford Escape 1 Landing 

Truck 2011 F-250 5 Landing and Kerner 

Truck 2016 F-150 3 Landing and Kerner 

Jetter 2021 Vactor RamJet 2 Landing 

Condition Assessment Vehicle 2019 Freightliner Sprinter 1 Kerner 

Truck 2018 Silverado 1500 4 Landing and Kerner 

Rodder OK Champion Mechanical Rodder 1 Landing 

Trailer Tractor Trailer 2 Landing 

Air Compressor Ingersoll Rand 185 1 Landing 

Cargo Trailer Emergency Bypass Trailer 1 Landing 

Cargo Trailer Grout Trailer 1 Landing 

Condition Assessment Vehicle 2011 Aries 1 Landing 

Cured in Place Point Repair 2014 lzusu NOR 1 Landing 

Crane Truck F-750 1 Landing 

Truck Silverado 3500HD 1 Landing 

Pump 1" to 3" Submersibles 8 TR06 Landing 

Generator Towable Generac 1 Landing 

Portable Generators Honda 1 Kerner 

Hose 4" Flex Hose 100 ft 3 Landing 

Radios Hectera 8 Landing 

Radios Motorola 8 Landing 



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 

Between Marin County Wastewater  Agencies 

Emergency  Equipment Resources 

Agency:   Ross Valley Sanitary District 

 

 

Contact Name:-Manuel Vigil                                                Contact Phone Number:  415 259 2949 

Last Updated:  August 31, 2021  _ 

 
E.g., Generator E.g.,   Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer-mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station 

 

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

3" suction hose 3" cam lock suction hose 25' 3 Landing 

Multiquip 3" pump 3" automatic trash pump 3 Landing 

Multiquip generator 6kw mobile generator 3 Landing 

3" discharge hose Cam lock discharge hose 25' 10 Landing 

3" discharge hose Cam lock discharge hose 50' 10 Landing 

3" discharge hose Cam lock discharge hose 100' 10 Landing 

2" discharge hose Cam lock discharge hose 50' 5 Landing 

Driveway ramps Ramps for 3" hose 10 Landing 

Sump pump Multiquip 1hp 2" sump pump 2 Landing 

Sump pump 1/2 hp 2" sump pump 2 Landing 

Plugs High flow/no flow 6" 3 Landing 

Plugs High flow/no flow 8" 3 Landing 

Plugs 6" plug 6 Landing 

Plugs 8" plug 4 Landing 

Plugs 4" plug 6 Landing 

Wye manifold 3" wye manifold with check valves 2 Landing 

Generator 2kw Honda 4 Landing 

Generator 3kw Honda 3 Landing 

Generator 5kw Honda 1 Landing 

Swedge Piranha  Hose Only 2 Landing 

Fuel Diesel 5 Gallon 4 Landing 

Fuel Gas 5 Gallon 3 Landing 

Camera Push Camera 7 Landing and Kerner 

Camera 5 "-24" Mainline Camera 4 Landing and Kerner 

Gas Monitor RKI 10 Landing 

Cones 24" 100+ Landing and Kerner 



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 

Between Marin County Wastewater  Agencies 

Emergency  Equipment Resources 

Agency:   Ross Valley Sanitary District 

Contact Name: -Manuel Vigil--------- 

Last Updated: _August 31, 2021  _ 

Contact  Phone Number:   415 259 2949 

E.g.,  Generator E.g.,   Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer-mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station 

 

 

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 
Storm Drain Protection Various PIG drain inlet covers 14 Landing 

Welder Gas 1 Anderson 

Welder Mig 1 Anderson 

Welder Mig 1 Landing 

Pump Venturi Jetter Pump 2 Landing 

Pump Electric Hands Free Pump 4 Landing 

Excavation Trench Plates 10 Landing 

Excavation Shoring 16 Landing 

 



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies

Emergency Equipment Resources

Agency: ____________________________________

Contact Name: ______________________________ Contact Phone Number: ___________________

Last Updated: ________________________

E.g., Generator E.g., Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 
Between Marin County Wastewater Agencies 

Emergency Equipment Resources 
 

Agency:   Sewerage Agency of Southern Marin (SASM WWTP)   
 

Contact Name: Mark Grushayev Contact Phone Number:  415-388-2402   

 

Last Updated:  January 3, 2019   
 

E.g., Generator E.g.,   Kohler, 10 kW, diesel, trailer‐mounted 1 Olive Street Pump Station 
 

Item Specifics Qty Location/Assigned to 
6" Hose Flat M/F 20' long 2 Trestle Glen 
6" Hose Suction Hose 20' long 2 Trestle Glen 

6" Hose Suction Hose 25' long 1 Trestle Glen 
6" Hose Suction Hose 30' long 1 Trestle Glen 
6" Hose Suction Hose 10' long 10 Trestle Glen 
4" Hose Suction Hose 20' long 7 Plant 
4" Hose Suction Hose 10' long 7 Plant 
3" Hose Suction Hose 20' long 4 Plant 
3" Hose Suction Hose 10' long 4 Plant 
2" Hose Suction Hose 20' long 8 Plant 
2" Hose Suction Hose 10' long 2 Plant 
2" Hose Suction Hose 25' long 1 Plant 
2" Hose Suction Hose 25' long 1 Trestle Glen 

2" Hose Flat Hose 10" 2 Safety Room - Shop 
2" Hose Flat Hose 20' 2 Safety Room - Shop 
2" Hose Flat Hose 30' 2 Safety Room - Shop 

Arc Welder 150 amp AC/DC Lincoln Kohler Gas 1 Safety Room - Shop 
Air Compressor 17 CFM, 100 PSI, 8 HP, Honda Gas 1 Safety Room - Shop 
Air Compressor Emglo Electric 1 Safety Room - Shop 
6" Water Pump Trailer, Diesel 1 Trestle Glen 
4" Water Pump Honda, Gas 2 Storage - Plant 
3" Water Pump Honda, Gas 1 Storage - Plant 

Generator 4000 Watt 120/240V, Dayton Gas 10 Gal Tank 1 Storage - Plant 
Sump Pumps 2" Submersible 120V 8 Safety Room - Shop 

Full Circle band clamps                         21.52 to 22.27 X 20       2                     Trestle Glen 
 Full Circle Band Clamp                       11.04 to 11.44 X12.5        1                      Trestle Glen 
Full Circle Band Clamp                             8.54 to 8.94 X 12.5        7                      Trestle Glen 
Full Circle Band Clamp                        6.56 to 6.96 X 12.5        2                      Trestle Glen 
Full Circle Band Clamp                       14.85 to16.05 X 30        1                     Trestle Glen 
Full Circle Band Clamp                      13.65 to 14.85 X 30        1                     Trestle Glen 



Full Circle Band Clamp                      15.92 to 17.12 X 30        1                     Trestle Glen 
Full Circle Band Clamp                     12.62 to 13.02 X 12.5       1                 Trestle Glen 
Full Circle Band Clamp                      18.46 to 19.66 X 30       1                 Trestle Glen 
4 Bolt Coupling                          6.28 to 6.63        1                  Warehouse 
4 Bolt Coupling                          3.96 to 5.60       2                  Warehouse 
4 Bolt Coupling                         10.72 to 12.12       2                  Warehouse 
4 Bolt Coupling                           6.23 to 7.60        2                          Warehouse 
    
    
    
    
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SASM            Page 2 of 2 














































































































	Agenda-Jun_16_2023
	3a Minutes-5-26-2023dt
	3b SRSD Payment Summary - May 1, 2023
	3c
	3c-Memo-Prop-4-2023-24
	3c Res.#23-1268-Estab_FY23-24_Appropriations_prop4
	3c-Approp-Limit-Calc_FY23-24
	24 Gann WS

	3c-Dept-Finance-Ltr-Board
	PricePop23CoverPage
	Subject:  Price Factor and Population Information



	3d_2023 Sewer Impmt-KH_with_all_attach
	3d-Memo-2023_SewerImpt
	3d-Res.#23-1269-PSA-KH_2023 D&C_2023SI-Various_Locals_Proj
	3d PSA-KH-2023
	3d-SRSD_2023 Sewer Impmt-KH Scope_2023.06.14 (003)

	3e-PipeAssmt-RHBorden_with_all_attach
	3e-Memo-PipeAssmt-RHBorden
	3e-PSA-PipeAssmt-RHBorden-Final
	3e-Exhibit A-PipeAssmt-RHBorden-Draft-dt
	3e-Exhibit A-PipeAssmt-RHBorden-Draft-dt
	3e-SLRat Quote RH Borden-ExhibitA


	4a-Budget 2023-24_2024-25
	4b with attach POST
	4b-Memo-Eng-Inspect-Park
	4b Res.#23-1271-PSA-Park-Eng_InspSer-draft
	3e PSA-Park-Eng-Inspection 2023
	4b-Park-CM ExhibitA
	June 13, 2023
	Cost Proposal for CM & Inspection Services - 2023-24.pdf
	Cost Proposal



	4c-Memo-SSMP-Final_ with_ attach
	4c-Memo-SSMP-Final
	4c-SRSD_SSMP_6-5-23-Post_Redacted
	Appendices.pdf
	1FOG-packet.pdf
	CMSA Ord 2021-1_FOG.pdf
	AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE CONTROL OF  FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG)  INTO THE WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM
	Ordinance No. 2021-1
	AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE CONTROL OF FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG)  INTO THE WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM
	CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY
	ORDINANCE NO. 2021-1
	AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE control OF FATS, OILS, AND GREASE (FOG) INTO THE WASTEWATER COLLECTION SYSTEM
	SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION
	SECTION 2 – ORDINANCE Background
	SECTION 3 – PURPOSE AND POLICY
	SECTION 4 – JURISDICTION
	SECTION 5 – DEFINITIONS
	SECTION 6 – GREASE INTERCEPTOR INSTALLATION Requirements
	Grease Interceptor Installation Requirements Summary
	SECTION 7 – Requirements AND BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES
	SECTION 8 – GREASE INTERCEPTOR Maintenance Requirements
	SECTION 9 – Permit REQUIREMENTS, fEES, AND eNFORCEMENT
	SECTION 10 – Hearings and Appeals
	SECTION 11 – Severability
	SECTION 12 – Revision


	I-SSO-Summary.pdf
	Table 1 & 2

	1G-MutualAidAgrmt-Signed.pdf
	Marin County Mutual Aid Equip List 2021.pdf
	CMSA
	Las Gallinas Valley SD
	Novato SD
	San Dist #2
	San Dist #5
	San Rafael SD
	SASM




	2239_001




